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SUOMINEN CORPORATION 

Offering of maximum 7 913 154 shares 

Subscription price 2.70 euros per share 

 

Suominen Corporation (the “Company” or “Suominen”) is offering for subscription to its shareholders a maximum of         
7 913 154 new shares (the “Shares”) for a price of EUR 2.70 per Share as set forth in the terms and conditions contained 
herein (the “Offering”).  

A shareholder, who on the record date of October 31, 2003 is registered in the Company’s shareholder register maintained 
by the Finnish Central Securities Depositary (the “FCSD”), will receive one freely transferable subscription right (the 
“Subscription Right”) per each share held on the record date. A shareholder, or a person or an entity to whom such 
shareholder’s Subscription Right has been transferred, is entitled to subscribe for one (1) new Share for each two (2) 
Subscription Rights.  

The Subscription period commences on November 5, 2003 and expires on November 28, 2003 at 4 p.m. The Subscription 
Rights will be publicly traded on the main list of Helsinki Securities and Derivatives Exchange, Clearing House Ltd. (the 
“Helsinki Exchanges”) from November 5, 2003 until November 21, 2003, 6 p.m.  

Suominen shares are traded on the main list of the Helsinki Exchanges under the symbol “SUO1V”. Ne w Shares will be 
traded on the main list of the Helsinki Exchanges as a separate book-entry, Suominen New Shares, under the symbol 
“SUO1VN0103” as from the first trading day following the expiration of the subscription period, i.e. December 1, 2003. 
The interim shares will be combined with the existing class of shares when the increase of the share capital has been 
registered with the Finnish Trade Register. Such combination is expected to occur on or around December 8, 2003. 

Custodians and account operators will send their clients instructions regarding the Offering. A holder of Subscription Rights 
must observe the deadlines given by each custodian or account operator for giving instructions concerning the Offering. The 
custodian or account operator may require the investors participating in the Offering to give instructions before the end of 
the trading of the Subscription Rights on November 21, 2003. Subscription Rights that have not been used on November 28, 
2003 at the latest will expire without compensation. 

 

   

Lead Manager 

Corporate Finance 
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION 

In this offering memorandum, references to “the Company” and “Suominen” are to Suominen Corporation and its 
subsidiaries (group) or to Suominen Corporation (parent company) as the context requires. References to “Codi” and 
“Suominen Wet Wipes” are to Codi International B.V. 

This offering memorandum has been prepared in accordance with the Finnish Securities Market Act (495/26.5.1989), as 
amended, the decree by the Finnish Ministry of Finance on Listing Particulars (539/19.6.2002), the position statements by 
the Financial Supervision Authority (K/41/2002/PMO, K/44/2002/PMO and K/45/2002/PMO), as well as the exemption 
granted by the Financial Supervision Authority. This offering memorandum and the Offering shall be governed by Finnish 
law, and all disputes arising in connection with them shall be resolved solely in a Finnish court. The Financial Supervision 
Authority has approved the Finnish version of the offering memorandum but is not responsible for the accuracy of the 
information presented in it. The journal number of the Financial Supervision Authority’s decision of exemption is 
105/271/2003. 

The Finnish language version of this offering memorandum is available as from November 3, 2003 at the latest from the 
asset management branches of Nordea Bank Finland Oyj (“Nordea Bank”), the offices of Nordea Securities Corporate 
Finance Oy (“Nordea Securities”) at the address Pohjoisesplanadi 33 A, He lsinki, HEX Gate at the address Fabianinkatu 14, 
Helsinki as well as in the Internet at addresses www.suominen.fi, www.nordea.fi/sijoita and www.nordeasecurities.com. 
The English language version of this offering memorandum is available at the Internet addresses mentioned above. If there 
are discrepancies between the language versions, the Finnish language version shall prevail. 

In certain jurisdictions, the distribution of this offering memorandum, as well as offering of the Shares may be restricted by 
law. This offering memorandum does not constitute an offer or request to purchase or subscribe for Shares in a jurisdiction 
in which the Offering would be unlawful. Such jurisdictions include e.g. Australia, Hong Kong, Japan and South Africa and 
with certain exemptions, the United Kingdom or the United States. Persons into whose possession this offering 
memorandum passes should inform themselves about and observe any such restrictions. Suominen or Nordea Securities will 
not assume responsibility for the actions of any natural or legal person in contravention of such restrictions.  

This offering memorandum, or any other document relating to the Offering or to the issue of Shares, may not be distributed 
directly or indirectly in the United States or to the United States. The Shares have not been and will not be registered under 
the US Securities Act of 1933 and the Shares may not be offered or sold in the United States to US persons, as defined in 
Regulation S, except pursuant to an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the registration requirements of the 
Securities Act of 1933.  

This offering memorandum or any other document concerning the Offering or a document concerning the issuance or 
offering of the Shares must not be passed on in the United Kingdom to any other persons than those falling within Article 
49 (a) - (d) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2001, to whom this offering 
memorandum or another document mentioned above can lawfully be passed on or delivered. 
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STATEMENT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Suominen is responsible for the information contained in this offering memorandum. The members of Suominen’s Board of 
Directors represent and warrant that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information presented in this offering 
memorandum is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything that could be expected to affect such information.  

Tampere, October 28, 2003 

Board of Directors of Suominen Corporation 

  

 

COMPANY AND ITS ADVISORS 

Company: 
Suominen Corporation 
Hämeenkatu 7 B 
P.O. Box 380 
33101 Tampere, Finland 
tel. +358 10 214 300 
 
Lead Manager of the Offering: 
Nordea Securities Corporate Finance Oy  
Pohjoisesplanadi 33 A 
00100 Helsinki, Finland 
tel. +358 9 478 5031 
 
Legal Advisor to the Company: 
Merilampi Marttila Laitasalo, Attorneys at Law Ltd. 
Eteläesplanadi 22 A 
00130 Helsinki, Finland 
tel. +358 9 686 481 
 
Auditor of the Company: 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy, Authorised Public Accountants 
Itämerentori 2 
P.O. Box 1015 
00101 Helsinki, Finland 
tel. +358 9 22 800 
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FINANCIAL AND CERTAIN OTHER INFORMATION 

Suominen’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the generally accepted accounting 
principles in Finland (“Finnish GAAP”). In accordance with the regulation concerning the introduction of international 
financial reporting standards (“IAS/IFRS”), which was approved by the European Commission in June 2002, Suominen will 
prepare its consolidated financial statements in accordance with IAS/IFRS no later than as from the financial year 2005. 
Finnish GAAP differs in certain important respects from IAS/IFRS regulations. Codi’s financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the generally accepted accounting principles in the Netherlands. Codi’s financial statements 
presented in this offering memorandum are unofficial translations from original material in Dutch language.  

This offering memorandum contains unaudited pro forma information presenting pro forma financial statements of 
Suominen for the years 2000 - 2001 as if Suominen has been an independent company during that period. Suominen was 
established on September 30, 2001 as a consequence of demerger of Lassila & Tikanoja plc.  

In addition, this offering memorandum contains unaudited pro forma information presenting the effect of the acquisition of 
Codi on the results and balance sheet of Suominen. The consolidated pro forma balance sheet as of June 30, 2003 has been 
prepared as if the acquisition had taken place on June 30, 2003, while the consolidated pro forma income statements for the 
six-month period ended June 30, 2003 and the full year ended December 31, 2002 have been prepared as if the acquisition 
had taken place at the beginning of the pro forma period, i.e. on January 1, 2002.  

The unaudited pro forma information is presented solely for the purpose of illustration and, due to its nature, it does not 
convey a true view of the financial results of the Company during the periods in question or give indications of the 
Company’s operating results or financial position in the future.  

The financial statements and other information presented in the tables included in this offering memorandum have been 
rounded off. Accordingly, the sum of the figures in the column or line does not always correspond exactly to the figure 
presented as the grand total of a column or line. In addition, certain percentages, including percentages concerning changes 
between the periods, have been calculated from precise figures before rounding off and thus do not necessarily correspond 
to the percentages which would have been obtained if calculation of the figures had been based on figures that had been 
rounded off. 

As a consequence of the introduction of the European Union’s single currency, Suominen and its domestic subsidiaries 
began to use euros as an accounting, reporting and payment transaction currency from the financial year commencing on 
January 1, 1999.  

Suominen publishes its annual report and financial statements each year. In addition, Suominen publishes an unaudited 
consolidated quarterly interim report for the first three quarters of each year. The financial statements are published in both 
Finnish and English. 

The principal executive office of the Company is located at Hämeenkatu 7 B, 33100 Tampere, Finland and its telephone 
number is +358 10 214 300. 
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1. SUMMARY 

1.1 Background of the Offering 

Suominen acquired Codi, a Netherlands-based company that manufactures wet wipes, in a transaction concluded on   
October 2, 2003. Codi will be consolidated into Suominen as of October 1, 2003. Through this acquisition, Suominen will 
expand into the manufacture of wet wipes as outlined in its strategy, having previously supplied nonwovens and packagings 
to the industry. The total value of the acquisition (including the interest bearing debts of Codi) was about EUR 62 million 
(see the section “Information on Codi and the acquisition – Terms of the acquisition”). The transaction was financed by a 
temporary bank loan, with the intention of converting it partly into equity through the Offering described in this offering 
memorandum. 

Codi is presented as a Suominen business area with the name Suominen Wet Wipes as of October 1, 2003. Where Codi is 
mentioned as a part of Suominen in this  offering memorandum, it will be referred to as Suominen Wet Wipes. For more 
information on Codi see the sections  ”Information on Codi and the acquisition” and ”Information on Suominen”. 

1.2 General information on Suominen 

Suominen is a company serving the consumer goods industry and retail trade chains. Suominen's business areas are wet 
wipes ("Suominen Wet Wipes"), nonwovens ("Suominen Nonwovens") and flexible packaging ("Suominen Flexible 
Packaging"). In addition, Suominen manufactures webbing products for materials handling ("Suominen Webbing 
Products").  Customers are leading manufacturers of hygiene and food products, and retail trade chains. 

Suominen Corporation's net sales in 2002 amounted to EUR 174.8 million, operating profit EUR 17.4 million and profit for 
the period EUR 10.8 million. During the first nine months of 2003, Suominen recorded net sales of EUR 120.3 million, 
operating profit of EUR 11.0 million and a profit for the period of EUR 6.8 million. In 2002, the distribution of the net sales 
by business area was the following: Suominen Nonwovens EUR 89.4 million, Suominen Flexible Packaging EUR 72.1 
million, and other business operations, including Suominen Webbing Products, EUR 13.3 million.    

In 2002, Codi's net sales amounted to EUR 85.2 million, operating profit to EUR 6.7 million and profit for the period to 
EUR 4.1 million. During the first six months of 2003, Codi's net sales amounted to EUR 50.0 million, operating profit to 
EUR 4.0 million and  profit for the period to EUR 2.5 million. 

Besides in Finland, Suominen has production facilities in the Netherlands, Sweden, Poland and Estonia. Exports and 
international operations (including Codi) represented about 83 per cent of the pro forma net sales for 2002. In 2002, the 
average number of employees was 1 104 for Suominen and 346 for Codi. 

Suominen Wet Wipes is the third largest manufacturer of wet wipes in Europe, and the second largest contract 
manufacturer. Suominen Nonwovens holds a leading position in its product areas on the European market. Flexible 
Packaging has a strong market position in the Baltic areas - especially in Finland, Sweden, Russia and Poland. Other 
important market areas are Norway, Denmark, Germany and the Netherlands. The principal markets for Webbing Products 
are the Nordic countries and Central Europe.  

1.3 Acquisition of Codi  

1.3.1  Background and benefits of the acquisition 

Suominen is a leading supplier of hydroentangled nonwoven fabrics for wet wipes in Europe. The supply of hydroentangled 
nonwoven fabrics has increased more rapidly than demand, as a result of added capacity in the field. The concentration of 
retail markets in Europe, the strengthening of leading international brands and increased outsourcing of the manufacture by 
these are factors that have led to the expansion into the manufacture of wet wipes, by either in-house production or 
corporate acquisition, being included in the Suominen strategy. The acquisition of Codi implements this strategy. 

The benefits of the merger stem mainly from the resulting comprehensive range of services and products as well as 
improved sales and product development organisation. Suominen has market and product know-how in nonwoven fabrics 
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and flexible packagings, while Codi is strong in the areas of lotions and processing. Combining thes e strengths constitutes a 
clear competitive advantage. The merger will also yield financial benefits through increased internal deliveries, linking of 
product and process development expertise among the business areas, and cost savings in administration and marketing. 

1.3.2 General information on Codi  

Codi was founded in 1978 and formed a part of the OPG Group N.V. until autumn 2001, at which point the private equity 
investor Gilde Participaties (“Gilde”) became the principal owner. Under Gilde ownership, Codi management has been 
replaced, the business improved — particularly in sales — and extensive production modernisation launched. Codi is the 
third largest manufacturer of wet wipes in Europe and the second largest contract manufacturer. Its customers include 
leading brands and retail trade chains. The Codi production facilities are located in Veenendaal in the Netherlands. 

The net sales and profitability of Codi have improved over the past years. Net sales in 2000 amounted to EUR 74 million 
and net sales for 2003 are estimated at about EUR 100 million. Half of the net sales are generated by baby wipes, the rest 
mainly by personal care wipes and household cleaning wipes. Industrial wipes and wiping products for the public sector 
complement the product range. 

1.3.3 Merging of operations 

Codi will form a new business area in the Suominen organization — Suominen Wet Wipes — from the date of the 
acquisition. The current management of Codi will continue to run the Codi business. Finnish personnel will be posted to the 
Netherlands on a project basis. 

1.3.4 Purchase price and financing 

The initial payment of the purchase price for the entire share capital of Codi was about EUR 51 million, in addition to which 
Suominen assumed the interest bearing liabilities of Codi, amounting to about EUR 11 million. The transaction includes a 
condition under which the purchase price may increase or decrease, depending on the Codi earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortisation (“EBITDA”). See also the section ”Information on Codi and the acquisition — Terms of the 
acquisition”. 

To finance the acquisition of the Codi’s shares and to refinance Codi’s debt, Suominen has agreed on a 12-month bridge 
financing. The creditor has committed to extend credit facilities totalling EUR 70 million for the financing of the 
acquisition. 

Suominen aims to replace the bridge financing with long-term loans, equity and capital loans. An agreement is in place with 
two investors for a total of EUR 10 million in capital loans according to the Companies Act. The loans are to be repaid in 
equal instalments over five years. The principal terms of the loans are given in the section ”Ownership, shares and share 
capital — Capital loans”. Through the Offering, Suominen expects to raise about EUR 21 million in equity. About EUR 40 
million of the bridge financing will be converted into normal long-term bank loans. The ultimate need for debt financing 
will depend on the amount raised through the Offering, and any addition to or decrease in the purchase price under the terms 
of the share purchase agreement. 

1.4 Summary of the terms and conditions of the Offering 

Subscription ratio one new Share for two existing Shares 
Subscription price EUR 2.70 per Share 
Record date for the Offering October 31,2003 
Trading of Subscription Rights November 5 through November 21, 2003 
Subscription period November 5 through November 28, 2003 
Trading of new Shares commences (as a separate book entry) December 1, 2003 
New Shares combined with the existing class of shares  December 8, 2003 (on or about) 
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2. KEY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

2.1 Consolidated financial information (Suominen excluding Codi) 

The following summary of Suominen’s consolidated financial statements is based on unaudited pro forma figures for 2000 - 
2001, Suominen’s audited consolidated financial statements for 2002, and unaudited interim reports. 

Suominen was formed in the demerger of Lassila & Tikanoja plc on September 30, 2001. Consequently, no official  
financial statement information concerning the Company for periods preceding September 30, 2001 is available. In this 
offering memorandum, Suominen's financial information for the financial years 2000 - 2001 is given as pro forma financial 
information, prepared as if Suominen had been an independent company during those periods. The principles used in 
calculating the pro forma figures are explained in the section "Financial statement information". The pro forma calculations 
in this offering memorandum give an essentially true and fair view of Suominen when the matters mentioned in the pro 
forma accounting principles are taken into account. 

This information should be read in conjunction with Suominen’s consolidated financial statements, which are included in 
this offering memorandum. 

 
Financial period 

ended December 31 
 Nine-month period    

ended September 30 

(EUR thousand) 2000 2001 2002 2002 2003
  (pro forma) (pro forma)   

DATA ON INCOME STATEMENTS        
Net sales 181 253 174 115 174 810 128 974 120 288
Operating profit  16 330 12 158 17 396 12 267 11 022
Profit before extraordinary items 14 099 9 272 15 061 10 384 9 379
Profit before taxes 16 005 9 272 15 061 10 384 9 379
Direct taxes -4 142 -2 801 -4 242 -3 038 -2 552
Profit for the period 11 863 6 471 10 819 7 346 6 827
      
DATA ON CASH FLOW STATEMENTS   
Cash flow from operations 15 120 26 212 21 756 17 040 16 028
Cash flow from investing activities -3 589 -10 480 -7 987 -6 059 -964
Cash flow from financing activities -9 113 -18 300 -11 793 -8 758 -13 859
Decrease (-) or increase (+) in financial assets as per 
balance sheet  2 555 -2 192 1 539 1 786 1 218
  
BALANCE SHEET DATA  
Fixed assets 103 090 98 674 90 309 92 087 82 465
Current assets 51 160 41 774 46 698 45 144 47 244
Total assets 154 250 140 448 137 007 137 231 129 709
Shareholders equity 61 986 61 038 64 530 60 975 59 186
Deferred tax liability 12 581 11 829 10 153 10 285 9 212
Non-current liabilities 42 143 33 668 30 734 26 190 27 755
Current liabilities 37 540 33 913 31 590 39 781 33 556
Total shareholders'  equity and liabilities 154 250 140 448 137 007 137 231 129 709
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Financial period                             

ended December 31 
Nine-month period          

ended September 30 
 2000 2001 2002 2002 2003 
 (pro forma) (pro forma)   
KEY FIGURES         
        
Exports and international operations,  € million 129.9 125.6 129.4 - - 
%  of net sales 71.7 72.1 74.0 - - 
Operating profit, %  of net sales 9.0 7.0 10.0 9.5 9,2 
Profit before extraordinary items , %  of net sales 7.8 5.3 8.6 8.0 7,8 
Profit before taxes, %  of net sales 8.8 5.3 8.6 8.1 7,8 
Profit for the period, %  of net sales 6.5 3.7 6.2 5.7 5,7 
Return on equity (ROE), % 16.3 10.9 17.9 16.5 15,5 
Return on invested capital (ROI), % 14.0 10.3 15.6 14.7 13,8 
Equity ratio, % 40.2 43.5 47.1 44.4 45,5 
Gearing, % 93.6 81.5 66.5 74.7 65,7 
Interest -bearing net liabilities,  € million 62.2 51.8 46.4 49.4 43,5 
Gross investments,  € million 11.1 10.7 8.0 6.5 5,3 
% of net sales 6.1 6.1 4.6 5.1 4,4 
Expenditure on research and development,  € million 3.4 2.9 2.6 - - 
%  of net sales 1.9 1.7 1.5 - - 
Average personnel employed 1 156 1 135 1 104 1 108 1 053 
    
Earnings/share(EPS), € 0.63 0.41 0.68 0.46 0,43 
Cash flow from operations/share, € 0.96 1.66 1.38 1.08 1,02 
Equity/share, € 3.92 3.86 4.07 3.85 3,74 
Dividend/share, € - 0.40 0.70 

1) 
- - 

Dividend/earnings, % - 97.6 102.4 
1) - - 

Dividend/cash flow from operations, % - 24.1 50.7 
1) - - 

Dividend yield, % - 6.7 11.7 
1) - - 

P/E ratio, (P/E) - 14.6 8.7 - - 
Market capitalisation, € million 2) - 95.0 94.7 81.8 122,4 
Number of shares traded - 1 874 111 6 724 598 5 347 872 2 228 792 
Number of shares traded as percentage of the average 
during the year - 11.8 42.5 33.8 14,1 
Average number of shares 2) 15 826 308 15 826 308 15 815 624 15 826 286 15 786 457 
Number of shares at the end of the period 2) 15 826 308 15 826 308 15 782 108 15 820 208 15 788 015 
             
 
1) Dividend decided by the Annual General Meeting on March 12, 2003, in addition to which the Extraordinary 
General Meeting on October 22, 2003 decided on payment of an extra dividend of  EUR 0.70 per share.   
2) Excluding own shares held by Suominen  
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Calculation of the key figures: 

Interest -bearing net debt  Interest -bearing liabilities - cash at bank and in hand 
 
Gearing, %      Interest -bearing net debt x 100    
   Shareholders’ equity + minority interest - own shares 
 
Equity ratio, %   Shareholders’ equity - own shares + minority interest x 100   
   Balance sheet total - advances received - own shares 
 
Return on invested capital (ROI), % Profit before extraordinary items + interest and other financial expenses x 100   
   Balance sheet total - non-interest bearing liabilities - own shares (quarterly average) 
 
Return on equity (ROE), %  Profit before extraordinary items- income taxes including change in deferred tax liability x  100 
    Shareholders’ equity - own shares + minority interest  (quarterly average) 
 
Earnings/share  Profit before extraordinary items- income taxes including change in deferred tax liability +/- minority interest  
   Adjusted number of shares held outside the group (average)  
 
Cash flow from operations/share Cash flow from operations as in the statement of changes in financial position 
   Adjusted number of shares held outside the group (average) 
 
Equity/share     Shareholders’ equity - own shares    
   Adjusted number of shares held outside the group at year end 
 
Dividend/share    Dividend/share for the financial year    
   Adjustment coefficient for share issues after the financial year 
 
Dividend/earnings, %   Dividend/share x 100   
   Earnings/share 
 
Dividend/cash flow  Dividend/share x 100   
from operations, %  Cash flow from operations/share 
 
Dividend yield, %   Dividend/share x 100   
   Adjusted share price at year end 
 
P/E ratio   Adjusted share price at year end  
   Earnings per share 
 
Market capitalisation   Number of shares held outside the group at year end multiplied by adjusted share price at year end 
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2.2 Consolidated pro forma financial information (Suominen including Codi) 

The unaudited pro forma figures included herein present the effect of the acquisition of Codi on the results and balance 
sheet of Suominen. The unaudited pro forma figures are presented solely for the purpose of illustration and, due to their 
nature, they do not convey a true view of the financial performance during the periods in question, or give indications of 
Suominen’s operating results and financial position in the future. 

The pro forma figures have been prepared in accordance with the principles set forth in the instructions on pro forma 
financial information issued by the Finnish Institute of Authorised Public Accountants; that is to say, the pro forma balance 
sheet as of June 30, 2003 has been prepared as if the acquisition had taken place on June 30, 2003, while the income 
statements for the periods from January 1, 2003 to June 30, 2003 and from January 1, 2002 to December 31, 2002 have 
been prepared as if the acquisition had taken place at the beginning of the pro forma period, i.e. January 1, 2002. Therefore, 
the income statements and balance sheet presented herein do not correspond with each other. 

The unaudited pro forma figures for 2002 are based on Suominen’s audited consolidated financial statements for the 
financial year ending on December 31, 2002 and on Codi’s audited financial statements for the same period. The unaudited 
pro forma figures for the period from January 1, 2003 to June 30, 2003 are based on Suominen’s unaudited interim reports 
and Codi’s unaudited financial statements for the same period. The purpose of the adjustments shown in the unaudited pro 
forma figures is to reflect both the adjustment of the accounting principles of the acquired Codi to correspond with 
Suominen’s accounting principles and the effect of the acquisition on the income statement and balance sheet of the group 
as a whole, including the costs arising from the acquisition. The adjustments do not take into account any possible future 
synergy benefits, savings or costs. 

In 2002 and 2003, the most notable differences in the accounting principles between Suominen and Codi concerned the 
depreciation periods for fixed assets and the valuation of inventories. The shorter depreciation periods used by Codi — 
which are also tax depreciation in the Netherlands — have been adjusted in the pro forma figures to correspond to the 
periods used by Suominen for depreciation according to plan, and the difference has also been entered under depreciation 
difference. The accumulated depreciation difference thus generated in Codi’s balance sheet as of June 30, 2003 has been 
calculated from the moment the fixed assets in question were acquired. Inventories in Codi’s balance sheet also comprise a 
proportion of fixed production expenses, which has been adjusted in the pro forma figures by subtracting it from the 
inventories, in order to correspond with Suominen’s present practice. 

The consolidated unaudited adjustments to the pro forma figures reflect the effect of financing elements relating to the 
acquisition, such as the Offering (assuming that the Offering is fully subscribed for), the capital loans and other loans, 
consolidated goodwill generated by the acquisition of Codi, the depreciation of the consolidated goodwill and growth in 
interest expenditure. The pro forma figures also take into account the effect of the payment of a dividend decided by an 
extraordinary general meeting of shareholders on October 22, 2003 on the group’s shareholders’ equity (see the section 
“Stock market information and dividend policy — Dividends and dividend policy”). Furthermore, trading between 
Suominen and Codi during the pro forma periods has been taken into account in the pro forma income statements as intra-
group transactions, so that the items in question have been eliminated from net sales and purchases. Similarly, the intra-
group margins on inventories generated through internal business transactions have been eliminated from the pro forma 
figures. The tax effects of all adjustments have been taken into account. 

In the share purchase agreement, the price of Codi’s shares has been conditionally defined so that the final purchase price 
will be determined based on Codi’s EBITDA in 2003 and 2004. Observing the prudence principle, the purchase price used 
for the pro forma calculations is the defined probable purchase price of EUR 51.3 million. The figures do not take into 
account possible adjustments to the purchase price, which would, if materialised, have an effect e.g. on the consolidated 
goodwill. See the section “Information on Codi and the acquisition — Terms of the acquisition”. 
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Unaudited pro forma income statement information January 1, 2002 – December 31, 2002 
     
(EUR million) Suominen Codi Adjustments Combined company
 
Net sales1) 174.8 85.2 -2.4 257.6
Operating profit 2) 17.4 6.7 -1.5 22.6
Profit before taxes 3) 15.1 6.3 -3.3 18.0
Direct taxes -4.2 -2.2 0.4 -6.0
Profit for the period 10.8 4.1 -2.9 12.0
     
     
     
Unaudited pro forma income statement information January 1, 2003 – June 30, 2003 
     
(EUR million) Suominen Codi Adjustments Combined company 
 
Net sales 1) 80.7 50.0 -2.8 127.9
Operating profit 4) 5.4 4.0 -0.8 8.6
Profit before taxes 5) 4.3 3.7 -1.6 6.4
Direct taxes -1.1 -1.3 0.2 -2.2
Profit for the period 3.2 2.5 -1.5 4.2
 
     
 
Unaudited pro forma balance sheet information as of June 30, 2003 
     
(EUR million) Suominen Codi Adjustments Combined company
 
Consolidated goodwill 6) 0.0 0.0 38.1 38.1
Other intangible assets 0.4 1.9 0.0 2.3
Tangible assets 7) 84.6 11.6 6.2 102.4
Own shares 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.2
Other financial assets 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.5
Total fixed assets 85.7 13.5 44.3 143.4
 
Inventories 8) 19.2 12.5 -0.5 31.2
Receivables 9) 24.9 14.4 0.2 39.4
Cash at bank and in hand 1.2 0.0 0.0 1.2
Total current assets 45.4 26.9 -0.3 71.9
 
Total assets 131.0 40.3 44.0 215.3
 
Shareholders' equity 10) 56.1 9.9 0.1 66.1
 
Capital loans 11) 0.0 0.0 10.0 10.0
 
Deferred tax liability 12) 9.5 0.4 2.1 12.0
Non-current liabilities 13) 27.9 0.0 31.8 59.6
Current liabilities 37.5 30.1 0.0 67.6
Total liabilities 74.9 30.4 33.9 139.3
 
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 131.0 40.3 44.0 215.3
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1) Pro forma adjustment consists of elimination of intra-group net sales 
2) Pro forma adjustment consists of depreciation on consolidated goodwill of EUR –1.9 million (over a depreciation period of 

20 years) and an adjustment of EUR +0.4 million to Codi’s depreciation to correspond with Suominen’s accounting 
principles 

3) In addition to the adjustments on depreciation, the pro forma adjustment consists of interest expenses of EUR -1.8 million 
arising from the increase in net debt (EUR 41.8 million including the capital loans) due to the acquisition of Codi 

4) Pro forma adjustment consists of depreciation on consolidated goodwill of EUR –1.0 million (over a depreciation period of 
20 years) and an adjustment of EUR +0.2 million to Codi’s depreciation to correspond with Suominen’s accounting 
principles 

5) In addition to adjustments on depreciation, pro forma adjustment consists of interest expenses of EUR -0.9 million arising 
from the increase in net debt (EUR 41.8 million including the capital loans) due to the acquisition of Codi 

6) Pro forma adjustment consists of consolidated goodwill generated by the acquisition of Codi (acquisition price EUR 51.3 
million plus consulting expenses of EUR 0.5 million less Codi’s shareholders’ equity of EUR 13.7 million on June 30, 2003, 
adjusted according to the pro forma principles)  

7) Pro forma adjustment consists of an adjustment to the depreciation periods for Codi’s fixed assets to correspond with 
Suominen’s accounting principles 

8) Pro forma adjustment consists of the elimination of intra-group margins and the subtraction of a proportion of fixed 
production expenses from the inventories. The effect of intra-group margins on inventories on the pro forma income 
statements is zero 

9) Pro forma adjustment consists of tax receivables generated by the other adjustments 
10) Pro forma adjustment consists of estimated net proceeds of EUR 21.1 million from the Offering, an elimination of 

Codi’s shareholders’ equity of EUR –13.7 million as of June 30, 2003 adjusted according to the pro forma calculation 
principles, a dividend payment of EUR -11.1 million decided on October 22, 2003, the amount of shareholders’ equity EUR 
+4.1 million in the accumulated depreciation difference (EUR 6.2 million), and an adjustment to intra-group margins and 
depreciation of EUR –0.3 million 

11) Pro forma adjustment consists of the capital loans to be taken for the partial financing of the acquisition of Codi 
12) Pro forma adjustment consists of deferred tax liability arising from the other adjustments 
13) Pro forma adjustment consists of long-term bank funding for the acquisition of Codi, assuming that the proceeds from the 

Offering are EUR 21.1 million after costs 
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3. USE OF PROCEEDS AND CAPITALISATION 

Assuming all the Shares offered in the Offering are subscribed for, Suominen estimates that the proceeds from the Offering 
will be about EUR 21.1 million after the deduction of costs. The costs incurred by Suominen from the Offering are 
estimated at about EUR 0.3 million. Suominen intends to use all the proceeds of the Offering to partial repayment of the 
short-term interest-bearing loan used to fund the acquisition of Codi. 

The following table shows the pro forma capital structure of Suominen as of June 30, 2003 excluding the Offering, and after 
the Offering, based on the assumption that all Shares offered in the Offering will be subscribed for and that the proceeds of 
the Offering will be used to repay interest-bearing liabilities (concerning the pro forma accounting principles, see the 
section “Key financial information - Consolidated pro forma financial information”). The capital loans of EUR 10 million 
shown in the table are part of the funding for the Codi acquisition (see the section “Ownership, shares and share capital — 
Capital loans”). 

The management of Suominen believes that the Offering and the capital loans will enable the Company to reach the targeted 
equity ratio of about 40 per cent by the end of 2003, if the capital loans are calculated as shareholders’ equity and assuming 
that all the Shares offered in the Offering are subscribed for. These estimates also take into account the payment of a 
dividend decided by the Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders and the impact of the estimated financial results for 
the whole year on shareholders’ equity.  

The following table should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements, unaudited interim report data 
and notes thereto which are included in this offering memorandum. 

   Pro forma June 30, 2003 1) 

(EUR million) 
 

Without the Offering
Adjusted 

by the Offering
   

Cash at bank and in hand and marketable securities  1.2 1.2
  
Non-interest bearing liabilities  43.5 43.5
Interest bearing liabilities  116.9 95.7
Capital loans  10.0 10.0
Shareholders' equity  

Share capital  7.9 11.9
Share premium account  7.5 24.7
Revaluation reserve  3.1 3.1
Own shares  0.2 0.2
Retained earnings  23.0 23.0
Profit for the period  3.2 3.2

Total shareholders' equity  44.9 66.1
   
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity  215.3 215.3
  
Equity ratio  (the capital loans as interest-bearing debt)  20.9 % 30.7 %
     

 

1) Pro forma capital structure takes into account the payment of an extra dividend decided on October 22, 2003 

 

Information on Suominen’s distributable funds is found in the section “Stock market information and dividend policy”. 
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4. TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE OFFERING 

On October 22, 2003, the extraordinary general meeting of Suominen Corporation (the “Company”) resolved to authorize 
the Company’s Board of Directors to decide on an increase of the share capital of the Company by a maximum of EUR       
3 956 577 by offering for subscription to the shareholders a maximum of 7 913 154 new shares (the “Shares”) with an 
account equivalent value of EUR 0.50 each.  

On October 28, 2003, the Board of Directors of the Company decided, based on the authorization of the extraordinary 
general meeting, to increase the Company’s share capital by a maximum of EUR 3 956 577 by offering for subscription to 
its shareholders a maximum of 7 913 154 Shares as set forth in the terms and conditions contained herein (the “Offering”). 
The final amount of the increase depends on whether all the Shares offered will be subscribed for. Any unsubscribed Shares 
will not be offered further. As a result of the Offering, the share capital of the Company may increase from EUR 7 913 154 
to a maximum of  EUR 11 869 731 and the number of shares accordingly from 15 826 308 shares to a maximum of           
23 739 462 shares. The Shares to be issued in the Offering represent a maximum of 50 per cent of the total amount of the 
shares and voting rights of the Company prior to the Offering.  

4.1 Right to subscribe  

The Shares are offered to the shareholders of the Company in proportion to their existing shareholding in the Company. 

A shareholder, who on the record date of October 31, 2003 is registered in the Company’s shareholder register maintained 
by the Finnish Central Securities Depositary (the “FCSD”), will receive one freely transferable subscription right (the 
“Subscription Right”) for each share held on the record date. A shareholder, or a person or an entity to whom such 
Subscription Right has been transferred, is entit led to subscribe for one (1) new Share for each two (2) Subscription Rights.  

No fractions of Shares will be allotted. The Board of Directors of the Company will approve all subscriptions made in 
accordance with the terms and conditions described herein.  

4.2 Subscription price  

The subscription price is EUR 2.70 per Share.  

4.3 Record date of the Offering  

The record date for the Offering entitling to Share subscription is October 31, 2003. Shares purchased on the Helsinki 
Securities and Derivatives Exchange, Clearing House Ltd. (the “Helsinki Exchanges”) on October 28, 2003 at the latest, 
will entitle to Subscription Rights.  

4.4 Subscription period and places of subscription  

The Subscription period commences on November 5, 2003 and expires on November 28, 2003 at 4 p.m. The subscription 
places will accept subscription assignments during their normal business hours.  

The subscription places are the asset management branches of Nordea Bank Finland Plc (“Nordea Bank”), the offices of 
Nordea Private Banking, the Nordea Private Wealth Management units as well as Nordea Customer Service based upon the 
Solo codes, tel. +358 200 3000 (Finnish) and tel. +358 200 5000 (Swedish).  

A valid Solo agreement is required in order to give a subscription assignment via telephone through Nordea Customer 
Service. Only private persons may give subscription assignments via telephone through Nordea Customer Service. Giving a 
subscription assignment through Nordea Customer Service requires that the Subscription Rights are held on a book-entry 
account in Nordea Bank. The telephone conversations with Nordea Customer Service will be recorded.  

Subscription assignments will also be accepted by other account operators and custodians who have made an agreement 
with Nordea Bank on the routing of subscriptions.  



 

 
16 

4.5 Submission of the subscription assignment 

A shareholder who on the record date of October 31, 2003 is registered in the Company’s shareholder register maintained 
by the FCSD will receive a subscription form together with instructions from his/her custodian or account operator. 
Subscription forms are also available at the offices of custodians or account operators. 

A holder of Subscription Rights participates in the Offering by subscribing Shares with the Subscription Rights on his/her 
book-entry account and by paying the subscription price. In order to carry out the subscription, a holder of Subscription 
Rights must submit the subscription assignment according to the instructions of his/her custodian or account operator. 
Holders of Subscription Rights, whose Subscription Rights are held on a nominee registered account, must submit their 
subscription assignment according to the instructions of their asset manager. 

Any exercise of Subscription Rights is irrevocable and may not be modified or cancelled. 

A holder of Subscription Rights must observe the deadlines given by each custodian or account operator for giv ing 
instructions concerning the Offering. The custodian or account operator may require the investors participating in the 
Offering to give instructions before the end of the trading of the Subscription Rights on November 21, 2003. Many 
custodians or account operators try to sell unused Subscription Rights on behalf of their clients in accordance with their 
asset management contracts and, therefore, instruct their clients to give subscription assignments well before the expiry of 
the trading of the Subscription Rights. Subscription Rights that have not been used on November 28, 2003 at the latest will 
expire without compensation. 

4.6 Payment for the subscriptions  

The subscription price of the Shares subscribed for shall be paid in full at the time of making the subscription in accordance 
with the instructions given by the investor’s own custodian or account operator or the subscription place.  

4.7 Registration in the book-entry accounts   

Subscription Rights will be recorded on November 3, 2003 into the book-entry accounts of shareholders who on the record 
date of October 31, 2003 are registered in the Company’s shareholder register maintained by the FCSD. 

The Shares issued in the Offering will be recorded into book-entry accounts after the registration of the subscription as 
interim shares (“Suominen New Shares”) representing the Shares. The interim shares will be combined with the existing 
class of shares when the increase of the share capital has been registered with the Finnish Trade Register. Such combination 
is expected to occur on or around December 8, 2003.  

4.8 Trading of the Subscription Rights  

The Subscription Rights are freely transferable and will be publicly traded on the main list of the Helsinki Exchanges from 
November 5, 2003 until November 21, 2003, 6 p.m.  

The trading lot of the Subscription Rights is 100 and the trading symbol is “SUO1VU0103”.  

In connection with submitting the subscription assignment, holders of Subscription Rights may also sell or purchase over 
the counter (OTC-trading) the part of subscription rights exceeding or falling short of the subscription ratio, i.e. one (1) 
Subscription Right. Such OTC-trading may continue at most until the end of the subscription period but it may be 
discontinued before the end of the subscription period. 

4.9 Trading of the new Shares  

New Shares will be traded on the main list of the Helsinki Exchanges as a separate book-entry, Suominen New Shares, 
under the symbol “SUO1VN0103” as from the first trading day following the expiration of the subscription period, i.e. 
December 1, 2003. The interim shares will be combined with the existing class of shares when the increase of the share 
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capital has been registered with the Finnish Trade Register. Such combination is expected to occur on or around December 
8, 2003. 

4.10 Restrictions concerning the right of certain shareholders to participate in the Offering   

A person or an entity with domicile or registered address in the United Kingdom or the United States, may participate in the 
Offering only if the exemptions under the securities market regulation of the United Kingdom or the United States apply 
(the so called private placement to institutional investors). 

A person or an entity in a jurisdiction in which the Offering or distribution this offering memorandum is restricted by law, is 
not allowed to participate in the Offering. Such jurisdictions include e.g. Australia, Hong Kong, Japan and South Africa. 
Persons into whose possession this offering memorandum passes should inform themselves about and observe any such 
restrictions. The Company will not assume responsibility for the actions of any person or an entity in contravention of such 
restrictions 

4.11 Fees and expenses  

Subscribers will not be charged any fees or expenses for making the subscription or for the OTC-trading of Subscription 
Rights in order to meet the subscription ratio. 

The subscription place, custodian or account operator will charge a fee according to their normal service charges for public 
trading with the Subscription Rights. The custodian or account operator may also charge a fee for e.g. sending subscriptions 
forms and instructions according to their agreements with their clients.  

4.12 Shareholder rights   

The Shares will entitle their holder to full dividends declared by the Company, if any, as from the financial year that 
commenced on January 1, 2003. All other shareholder rights in the Company attached to the Shares will accrue to the 
subscriber after the increase in share capital has been registered with the Finnish Trade Register.  

4.13 Information  

The documents referred to in Chapter 4, Section 7, Subparagraph 1 of the Finnish Companies Act, are available for review 
at the head office of the Company, Hämeenkatu 7 B, FIN-33100 Tampere, Finland.  

4.14 Other issues   

Other issues and practical matters relating to the increase of share capital and the Offering will be resolved by the Board of 
Directors of the Company. 
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5. INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS  

5.1 Risks related to the acquisition 

Suominen acquired Codi, a Netherlands-based company that manufactures wet wipes, in a transaction signed on        
October 2, 2003. Codi will be consolidated into Suominen as of October 1, 2003. Codi is a company of substantial size 
compared with Suominen, and therefore the acquisition will have a considerable impact on the Company’s business as a 
whole and its risks. This section outlines some of the main risks involved in the Codi acquisition. 

The wet wipes market and Codi’s business do not develop as expected 

An acquisition normally involves a risk for the purchasing company i.e. whether the profit goals and cost savings that the 
acquisition is expected to generate will be achieved within the expected timetable. Codi’s business is dependent on general 
trends in the wet wipes market, and it is possible that the market in which Codi operates will not develop in the way 
expected by Suominen. In such a case there is a risk that Codi’s business will not achieve the goals set for it. It is also 
possible that Codi will lose market share to its competitors. The terms of the acquisition specify a possible increase or 
decrease in the purchase price contingent on the financial performance of Codi during 2003 and 2004 (see the section 
“Information on Codi and the acquisition — Terms of the acquisition”). 

Integration 

The integration of Codi’s business with Suominen’s existing business may prove more challenging than expected, in which 
case the projected synergy benefits and cost savings may remain partly unachieved or may be delayed. Successful 
integration is vitally dependent amongst others on key personnel at Codi. There is an incentive system in place to make 
these employees committed to the development of Codi’s business and ensure a successful integration process. Suominen 
cannot, however, guarantee that integration will proceed as expected. 

Codi does not match the information given to Suominen in the acquisition 

Suominen has conducted a thorough due diligence inspection at Codi with expert assistance. The Company management has 
not learned, in this inspection or in any other context, of any risk factors involved in Codi or the acquisition that would have 
a negative bearing on the business development of either Codi or Suominen. It is possible, however, that factors in Codi 
with a negative effect on Suominen’s financial position not known at the time of publication of this offering memorandum 
will emerge. The seller has entered the appropriate representations and warranties regarding Codi in the share purchase 
agreement. 

Financing of the Codi acquisition 

Suominen financed the acquisition of Codi with a short-term bank loan, which it intends to convert into long-term bank 
loans, capital loans and equity. Equity will be acquired through the Offering described in this offering memorandum. 
Should the Offering fail in part or in whole, the Company’s indebtedness would be higher than expected. This would add to 
the Company’s interest costs and undermine the Company’s future development potential. 

5.2 Risks related to Suominen’s business 

General economic trends 

Suominen’s business is quite stable in nature, but its development does depend on the economy in general. A lengthy 
economic downturn, especially one in Europe, would have a negative effect on the Company’s business. 

Change in consumer habits 

Suominen is benefiting from current consumer trends, which favour wet wipes over dry wipes and flexible packagings over 
hard packagings. Any change in consumer habits could have a negative effect on Suominen’s business. 
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Raw material effects 

The main raw materials used by Suominen for its products are polyethene and polypropene granulate and viscose, polyester 
and cellulose fibres. Substantial disruptions in their delivery could cause production stoppages and thus affect the 
Company’s business adversely. However, Suominen relies on several raw material suppliers that are major international 
players, and for this reason substantial disruptions in delivery are unlikely.  

The prices of the raw materials used by Suominen are largely determined on the international raw material market, and thus 
raw material costs are rather difficult to predict. This makes it difficult to predict the Company’s financial performance. 

Enlargement of the European Union 

The cost pressures caused by the enlargement of the European Union eastwards constitute a major challenge for the future. 
Eastern European countries have low costs and can provide more competitive production locations than Finland, Sweden 
and the Netherlands, especially once they join the European Union. Most of Suominen’s products are today manufactured in 
Finland and the Netherlands, although a portion of the production has been moved to lower-cost countries. Although 
increased competition is to be expected from companies operating in lower-cost countries, the capital-intensive nature of 
production and the low percentage of labour costs in the overall cost structure form a disincentive for relocating production 
to eastern European countries on a considerable scale. 

Dependence on key personnel 

The termination of the employment of a senior manager or other key employee could have a detrimental effect on the 
performance of Suominen and its potential to implement its strategy. Furthermore, Suominen’s success is dependent on its 
ability to recruit, train and motivate skilled personnel and retain them in the Company’s service. 

Concentration of clientele 

Consolidation has taken place in Suominen’s clientele in recent years, and this has an impact on Suominen’s business. 
There are increasingly fewer and larger customers, who concentrate their purchases with large suppliers that have a broad 
range of products. Suominen believes that it can benefit from this trend, but, on the other hand, the concentration of 
clientele increases customer-specific ris ks. 

Exchange rate and interest rate risks 

Because Suominen has both production and sales outside the EMU area, exchange rate fluctuations have a direct impact on 
the Company’s financial performance and balance sheet. Appropriate hedging of the Company’s currency exposures has 
been undertaken, and in the past, exchange rate fluctuations have had only a negligible effect on the Company’s financial 
performance. 

The interest rate risk in the Company’s loan portfolio has been spread by having the portfolio consist of both fixed-rate and 
floating rate loans, with different interest periods. The Company’s Board of Directors has determined the interest rate 
structure of the loan portfolio and the range in which it can vary. The average interest duration may fluctuate between 18 
and 30 months; it was 26 months at the end of 2002 and 23 months on September 30, 2003. 

Environmental issues 

Suominen is an industrial company and various chemicals are used in its production processes. There exists therefore, the 
risk that harmful substances will be released into the environment from its production facilities. Overall quality and 
environmental matters are important in all Suominen’s business areas. Suominen Nonwovens holds the ISO 9001 and ISO 
14001 quality and environmental certificates. Codi has a quality certificate and is working towards obtaining an 
environmental certificate. Suominen Flexible Packaging also has a quality system and an environmental system, but these 
have not been certified. 

Suominen's business may involve risks of environmental damage and liability.  The Company management are not aware of 
any indemnity liability resulting from environmental damage, but it is not possible to completely eliminate the risk of such 
liability in future either.  



 

 
20 

Product liability 

Suominen products may involve product liability risks. Suominen aims to guard against product liability risks through 
systematic quality control processes and product liability insurance. The Company management cannot with certainty 
declare that the product liability insurance would cover any such liability in full. However, the management considers major 
product liability claims to be unlikely and it is not aware of any such outstanding claims. 

5.3 Risks related to forward-looking statements 

This offering memorandum contains forward-looking statements that do not describe historical facts. By their very nature, 
forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainty. Suominen will not update or change its forward-looking 
statements published in this offering memorandum on the basis of new information, or in the light of subsequent events, or 
for any other reason other than normal duty of disclosure. 
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6. INFORMATION ON CODI AND THE ACQUISITION 

Suominen acquired Codi, a Netherlands-based company that manufactures wet wipes, in a transaction concluded on October 
2, 2003. Codi will be consolidated into Suominen as of October 1, 2003. Through this acquisition, Suominen will expand 
into the manufacture of wet wipes as outlined in its strategy, having previously supplied nonwoven fabrics and packagings 
to the industry. Through the transaction, Codi became an independent business area of Suominen, called Suominen Wet 
Wipes. 

6.1 Codi business  

In terms of net sales, Codi is the third largest manufacturer of wet wipes in Europe and the second largest contract 
manufacturer,  whose customers among others include leading brand houses and retail trade chains. The Codi production 
facilities are located in Veenendaal, the Netherlands.  

In 2002, Codi recorded net sales of EUR 85.2 million, operating profit of EUR 6.7 million, and a post-tax profit of EUR 4.1 
million. It had an average of 346 employees. In the first six months of 2003, net sales amounted to EUR 50.0 million, 
operating profit to EUR 4.0 million and post-tax profit to EUR 2.5 million. In the same period, an average of 387 people 
were employed. 

Codi's net sales and profitability have developed favourably during the recent years.  Net sales for 2000 amounted to EUR 
75 million and net sales for 2003 are estimated at about EUR 100 million. Half of the net sales derive from baby wipes and 
the remainder is divided mainly between personal care wipes and household cleaning wipes. Wiping products for industry 
and the public sector supplement the product range. 

For further information on Codi, see the section ”Information on Suominen — Description of business”. 

6.2 History of Codi  

Codi was founded in 1978 and became part of the OPG Group N.V., which engages in retail sales and distribution of 
pharmaceutical and medical supplies, between 1984 and 1989. Codi was part of the OPG Group N.V. until autumn 2001, 
when the private equity investor Gilde Participaties became the principal owner. At the same time, the management of Codi 
acquired a 17 per cent holding in the parent investment company. 

6.3 Background and benefits of the acquisition 

Suominen is a leading supplier of hydroentangled nonwoven fabrics for wet wipes in Europe. The supply of hydroentangled 
nonwoven fabrics has increased more rapidly than demand, as a result of added capacity in the field. The concentration of 
retail markets in Europe, the strengthening of leading international brands and increased outsourcing of the manufacture by 
these are factors that have led to the expansion into the manufacture of wet wipes, by either in-house production or 
corporate acquisition, being included in the Suominen strategy. The acquisition of Codi implements this strategy.  

The benefits of the merger stem mainly from the resulting more comprehensive range of products and services as well as 
improved sales and product development organisation. Suominen has market and product know-how in nonwoven fabrics 
and flexible packagings, while Codi is strong in the areas of lotions and processing. Combining these strengths constitutes a 
clear competitive advantage. The merger will also yield financial benefits through increased internal deliveries, linking of 
product and process development expertise among the business areas, and cost savings in administration and marketing.  

6.4 The merged company 

The acquisition of Codi represents a considerable increase in Suominen’s net sales and capital employed. The pro forma net 
sales of the merged company for 2002 were about EUR 258 million (Suominen’s actual net sales for 2002 being about EUR 
175 million). The pro forma balance sheet total of the merged company on June 30, 2003 is about EUR 215 million 
(Suominen’s actual balance sheet total on June 30, 2003 being about EUR 131 million). The personnel increase is about 370 
employees. With the acquisition of Codi, Suominen is expanding from the manufacture of nonwoven fabrics into the 
manufacture of wet wipes as well. Codi constitutes a separate business area, Suominen Wet Wipes, with the current Codi 
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management continuing to manage the business area. After this transaction, Suominen Webbing Products, previously an 
independent business area, will be reported under other business operations of the group in the future, as its contribution to 
consolidated net sales will fall below five per cent. 

The acquisition of Codi will strengthen Suominen’s position on the European wet wipes market. The product supply will 
cover the product chain better, from roll goods and printed packagings to finished product. The improved range of products 
and services together with market growth will enable growth of the Company’s sales and profits. 

6.5 Terms of the acquisition 

The initial payment of the purchase price for the entire share capital of Codi was about EUR 51 million, in addition to which 
Suominen assumed the interest bearing liabilities of Codi, amo unting to about EUR 11 million. The transaction includes a 
condition under which the purchase price may decrease if the EBITDA for 2003 does not reach the target level specified in 
the share purchase agreement, or increase if the EBITDA for 2004 exceeds the target level specified in the agreement. 

The consolidated goodwill, based on the initial payment of the purchase price, is about EUR 38 million (pro forma June 30, 
2003), the annual depreciation of which is about EUR 1.9 million (over 20 years). If the maximum additional purchase price 
of EUR 8.7 million is to be paid, the consolidated pro forma goodwill will increase to about EUR 47 million, in which case 
the annual depreciation will be about EUR 2.3 million, or EUR 0.4 million higher. 

6.6 Financing of the acquisition  

To finance the acquisition of Codi’s shares and to refinance Codi’s debt, Suominen has agreed on a 12-month bridge 
financing. The creditor has committed to extend credit facilities totalling EUR 70 million for the financing of the 
acquisition. 

Suominen aims to replace the bridge financing with long-term loans, equity and capital loans. An agreement is in place with 
two investors for a total of EUR 10 million in capital loans according to the Companies Act. The principal terms of the 
loans are described in the section ”Ownership, shares and share capital — Capital loans”. Through the Offering, Suominen 
expects to raise about EUR 21 million in equity. About EUR 40 million of the bridge financing will be converted into 
normal long-term bank loans. The ultimate need for debt financing will depend on the amount raised through the offering, 
and any addition to or decrease in the purchase price under the terms of the share purchase agreement. 
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7. INFORMATION ON SUOMINEN 

7.1 Suominen in brief 

Suominen was founded  in the demerger of Lassila & Tikanoja plc and entered on September 30, 2001 in the Trade Register 
maintained by the National Board of Patents and Registration of Finland. The Company is subject to Finnish Law.  The 
Company's Business Identification Code is 1680141-9, and its registered addresses are: mailing address P.O. Box 380, 
33101 Tampere, Finland, and visiting address Hämeenkatu 7 B, 33100 Tampere, Finland. 

According to Suominen's Articles of Association its field of operations is to practise, either directly or through subsidiaries 
or partnership companies, industrial activity and trade related to nonwoven materials, heavy webbings and narrow fabrics 
and packaging as well as other corresponding industrial activity and trade. The Company's field of operations is also the 
management and financing services of the Group. The Company may trade in securities and practise other investment 
activity. 

The Suominen shares are traded publicly on the main list of the Helsinki Exchanges since October 1, 2001. 

7.2 General description  

Suominen is a company serving the consumer goods industry and retail trade. Suominen's business areas are Suominen Wet 
Wipes, Suominen Nonwovens and  Suominen Flexible Packaging. In addition, Suominen Webbing Products manufactures 
webbing products for materials handling. Suominen’s customers are leading manufacturers of hygiene and food products 
and  retail  trade  chains. 

Besides in Finland, Suominen has production plants in the Netherlands, Sweden, Poland and Estonia. Exports and 
international operations (including Codi) represented about 83 per cent of the pro forma net sales for 2002. In 2002, the 
average number of employees  (including Codi) was 1 450. 

Suominen Wet Wipes is the third largest manufacturer of wet wipes in Euorpe and the second largest contract manufacturer. 
Suominen Nonwovens holds a leading position in its product areas on the European market. Flexible Packaging has a strong 
market position in the Baltic areas - especially in Finland, Sweden, Russia and Poland. Other imp ortant market areas are 
Norway, Denmark, Germany and the Netherlands. The principal markets for Webbing Products are the Nordic countries and 
Central Europe. 

NET SALES 1)    
(EUR thousand) 2000  2001   2002  1.1.-30.6.2003 
Suominen:   
Nonwovens 90 356 85 264  89 416 39 365 
Flexible Packaging 72 618 72 370  72 118 34 756 
Other business operations 18 279  16 481   13 276  6 531 
Total 181 253 174 115  174 810 80 652 

   
Codi 2) 74 490 75 168  85 230 50 029 
 
OPERATING PROFIT1)  
(EUR thousand) 2000 % 2001 % 2002 %  1.1.-30.6.2003 %
Suominen:   

Nonwovens 11 947 13.2 7 811 9.2 13 022 14.6 3 597 9.1
Flexible Packaging 3 359 4.6 5 682 7.9 5 616 7.8 1 789 5.1
Other business operations 1 024 5.6 -1 335 -8.1 -1 242 -9.4 35 0.5
Total 16 330 9.0 12 158 7.0 17 396 10.0 5 421 6.7
   
Codi 2) 4 907 6.6 3 415 4.5 6 726 19.9 3 981 8.0

1) Pro forma  for the years 2000-2001 (before Suominen was formed)   
2) Accounting principles of Codi deviate from that of Suominen and therefore, the figures are not directly comparable 
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7.3 History 

The Company was formed through the demerger of  Lassila & Tikanoja plc on September 30, 2001. The aim of the 
demerger was to form two independent companies, each operating with its own busines s logics. In the demerger of Lassila 
& Tikanoja plc, the new company was named J.W. Suominen Group plc. Since 2002, the name of the Company is 
Suominen Corporation.  

Suominen formed an industrial entity comprising the operations of the former J. W. Suominen Oy (founded in 1898), the 
former Amerplast Group (founded in 1952), and the former Inka Group (founded as P.G. Holm Oy in 1898). The former 
Lassila & Tikanoja plc owned J.W. Suominen Oy since 1982, the Amerplast Group in 69 per cent since 1988 and 100 per 
cent since 1992, and the Inka Group since 1964. After the demerger, the names of the subsidiaries were changed  to 
correspond to the business areas: J.W. Suominen Oy into Suominen Nonwovens Ltd, Amerplast Oy into Suominen Flexible 
Packaging Ltd, and Inka  Oy into Suominen Webbing Products Ltd. 

In October 2003, Suominen Corporation acquired the Dutch wet wipes manufacturer Codi International B.V., founded in 
1978. Codi is the third largest manufacturer of wet wipes in Europe and second largest contract manufacturer, and so the 
acquisition implemented Suominen's strategy of expansion  into the manufacture of wet wipes. 

7.4 Group structure and main subsidiaries  

The business areas – Suominen Wet Wipes, Suominen Nonwovens, Suominen Flexible Packaging, and other business 
operations including Webbing Products – are each responsible for their own operations and financial performance. They are 
supported by common product and process development, procurement and logistics, and finance. 

The parent company of the group is a holding company which owns the operating subsidiaries. The following table lists the 
companies incorporated in the consolidated accounts. The group has no other significant holdings. 

Company Domicile Suominen  holdings (%) Business area 
Codi International B.V. Veenendaal, the Netherlands 100,0 Suominen Wet Wipes 
Suominen Nonwovens Ltd Nakkila, Finland 100,0 Suominen Nonwovens 
Suominen Flexible Packaging Ltd Tampere, Finland 100,0 Suominen Flexible Packaging 
Suominen Webbing Products Ltd Turku, Finland 100,0 Other business operations 
    
Owned through subsidiaries:     
    
Suominen Flexible Packaging AB Norrköping, Sweden 100,0 Suominen Flexible Packaging 
Suominen Polska Sp. z o.o. Grodzisk Mazowiecki, Poland 100,0 Suominen Flexible Packaging 
ZAO Suominen St. Petersburg, Russia 100,0 Suominen Flexible Packaging 
Suominen GmbH Munich, Germany 100,0 Other business operations 
Suominen Sverige AB Norrköping, Sweden 100,0 Suominen Flexible Packaging 
Inka-Norsafe AS Tallinn, Estonia 100,0 Other business operations 
    

7.5 Strategy 

Suominen operates in areas where markets are continuing to expand and consolidate. A decreasing number of growing and 
more expert customers are operating in an ever-larger geographical area. They are also concentrating their purchasing with a 
smaller number of suppliers, which are in turn the best and most competent in the sector. The best suppliers are those whose 
products and operations are of a high standard, who maintain competitive cost structures, and who cater sufficiently to 
customer needs. Suominen is focusing on customer cooperation and on product and process development, with the objective 
of being a development supplier for customers. 

Suominen’s objective is to grow faster than the market in all its business areas, by increasing its market shares. The aim set 
in 2002 is to double Suominen’s net sales by 2010. The acquisition of Codi implements this strategy. 

The Suominen Wet Wipes objective is to achieve growth in baby wipes and particularly in personal care wipes and 
household wipes, focusing on known brands and high-quality store brands. 
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Suominen Nonwovens is seeking growth in wiping, wound care and incontinence product materials. All these are growth 
areas in which Suominen already holds a strong market position in Europe. 

The aim of Suominen Flexible Packaging is to increase sales, especially of hygiene product and food packaging. The rapid 
growth in demand for packaging in eastern Europe and Russia will be exploited. 

Of other business operations, Webbing Products is seeking growth particularly in one-way lashing products.  

Suominen has modern and competitive production capacity in all its business and product areas. The quality and cost-
efficiency of production and products will continue to be improved by concentrating production at the most efficient and 
cost-effective units and by simplifying and standardising practices through the quality system. The objective is to improve 
structural effectiveness so as to boost productivity substantially, lower unit costs and rais e competitiveness and relative 
profitability. 

7.6  Description of business 

7.6.1 Suominen Wet Wipes  

Suominen Wet Wipes (Codi), founded in 1978, is the third largest manufacturer of wet wipes in Europe and the second 
largest contract manufacturer, whose customers include leading brands and retail trade chains. Products of Suominen Wet 
Wipes can be found under many leading brand names on shop shelves. Other significant manufacturers of wet wipes in 
Europe are Procter & Gamble, Nice-Pack, Albaad,  CIP4 and Cosmetique. 

Products, customers and production 

Suominen Wet Wipes processes nonwoven fabric into wet wipes. The product groups are: 

- baby wipes 
- personal care wipes 
- household cleaning wipes 
- industrial wipes 

Half of the net sales derive from baby care and the remainder is divided mainly between personal care wipes and household 
cleaning wipes. The product range is complemented by wiping products for industry and the public sector. In 2002, 
Suominen Wet Wipes produced over 80 million packages delivered to shops. Major customers of Suominen Wet Wipes 
include Beiersdorf, Procter & Gamble, Unilever, Colgate, Palmolive and Sara Lee. 

About 15 000 tonnes of nonwoven fabrics are used per annum. Suominen Wet Wipes mainly uses spunlaced nonwoven 
fabrics, which also Suominen Nonwovens produces. Other types of nonwoven fabrics are also used. The objective is to 
increase internal deliveries of nonwoven fabrics when it is to the customer’s overall benefit. 

The Suominen Wet Wipes production plant is located in Veenendaal in the Netherlands. Suominen Wet Wipes launched a 
substantial production modernisation programme in 2002 to update and expand production capacity, renovate production 
premises and improve logistics services to meet customer needs better. Under the programme, Suominen Wet Wipes 
inaugurated a logistics centre of 9 000 sq.m. at the beginning of October 2003 and signed a long-term lease agreement on a 
new production hall of 13 000 sq.m. which will be built in connection to the current facilities.  

Objectives and market outlook 

In order to thrive on a growing yet increasingly consolidating market, Suominen Wet Wipes must focus on being large 
enough to fill the needs even of large customers. According to its strategy, Suominen Wet Wipes aims to be a development 
supplier for its key customers. The Suominen product and process development system offers the means for this, being 
based on a high standard of quality requiring the entire business to meet the demands of the leading brand companies. An 
increasingly complex logistics system must also be managed, and all this within an efficient cost structure. 
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The aim of the Wet Wipes business area is to achieve growth in baby wipes and particularly in personal care wipes. These 
product groups are well suited to Suominen Wet Wipes’ quality capacity and production structure. Further growth is sought 
in household cleaning wipes. 

Suominen’s management estimates the market for wet wipes in Europe to continue growing at a rate higher than the growth 
of GDP. In new product areas making life easier for consumers, growth is anticipated at about ten per cent per year. 
Personal care wipes and household cleaning wipes are expected to enjoy the greatest market growth in Europe, at over ten 
per cent per year. The estimated growth for baby wipes in Europe is slightly under five per cent per year. The volumes for 
industrial wipes in Europe are much lower than those in the product areas mentioned above, but the growth rate is expected 
to be similar. 

7.6.2 Suominen Nonwovens 

Suominen Nonwovens started in 1898 as a leather workshop, and since 1908 operated as a leather and fibre leather factory.  
It started to make nonwovens in the 1960s, and currently these are its sole line of business. The Company's management  
estimates Suominen Nonwovens'  market standing in Europe strong in wiping applications. It also has special technological 
know-how and market expertise with multinational customers.  

The mission of Suominen Nonwovens is to make everyday living easier for people throughout life and to increase comfort 
and cleanliness.  Suominen develops and manufactures nonwovens for the world's leading manufacturers of hygiene, health 
care and wiping products. 

Suominen Nonwovens' competitors in Europe include Orlandi, Jacob Holm, PGI and Spuntech. 

Products, customers and production 

Suominen Nonwovens develops and manufactures nonwoven roll goods for further processing. Its business sectors are 
hydroentangled wiping and wound care materials, and thermally bonded materials mainly for hygiene products, primarily in 
Europe. Another important market area is North America. The most significant customers of Suominen Nonwovens are 
Procter & Gamble, Johnson & Johnson, SCA and Mölnlycke Healthcare. 

The business area is divided into three product groups: 

-  wiping materials for personal hygiene wipes, baby care and industrial wiping 
-  hygiene product materials for incontinence products and women's hygiene products  
-  health care materials, mainly for manufacturers of wound care products. 

Suominen Nonwovens' output comprises the polypropylene fibre (PP) used as raw material for nonwovens and both 
hydroentangled and thermally bonded nonwovens. The main raw materials are polypropylene granulate and viscose, 
polyester and pulp fibres. The annual capacity of Suominen Nonwovens is currently 26 000 tonnes for PP fibre and 45 000 
tonnes for nonwovens. The production and product development facilities are all in Nakkila. 

The operational system of Suominen Nonwovens is backed by the international ISO 9001 quality standard and the ISO 
14001 environmental standard. The operational system covers three areas (quality, occupational safety and environmental 
protection) and it ensures that the quality, cleanliness and safety of all products live up to customers’ high demands. 

Objectives and market outlook  

Close product development cooperation with key customers is crucial for the future development, and the aim is to be a 
development supplier to these customers. The main strategic objective of Suominen Nonwovens is to continue growing in 
certain market segments, which show faster than average growth. Operations in the sectors of Suominen Nonwovens are 
guided by close monitoring of customer processes and constant improvement of quality and cost effectiveness. Purchasing 
and production are efficient and logistics well managed. Product development is innovative and operates in close 
collaboration with customers to ensure fast response to market needs. The company considers that its growth targets will be 
achieved by operating as a part of the leading supply chain in each area. 

The Company’s management believes that volumes for selected nonwoven applications will continue to rise at around five 
to ten per cent a year and that new uses and products will be developed constantly.  Products sometimes get outdated very 
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rapidly, which introduces an element of risk. Therefore, market knowledge and close cooperation with customers are very 
important. New capacity has been and will be coming into the sector, and partly as a result there is growing price 
competition in certain product groups. The industry is also becoming more concentrated in terms of its customer base, 
distribution routes and further processors. International cooperation will increase in both product offering and production.  

The Suominen management estimates annual market growth in wiping product materials (baby wipes, personal care wipes, 
household cleaning wipes, industrial wipes) in Europe to be between five and ten per cent. The expected growth in hygiene 
product materials (incontinence products, women’s hygiene products) is also five to ten per cent in the Suominen 
Nonwovens primary market in Europe. The expected growth in wound care products in Europe is two to three per cent. 

7.6.3 Suominen Flexible Packaging 

Suominen Flexible Packaging started up in 1952. It makes flexible plastic packaging for industry and trade and is 
specialised in printed plastic film packagings. Its product groups are packaging for hygiene products and the bakery 
industry, printed packaging films for the food industry, retail service packaging, and special products.  

Suominen Flexible Packaging's mission is to ensure hygienic handling of products, increase their shelf-life, facilitate their 
transport and help consumers to recognise them. According to the Company's management, Suominen Flexible Packaging 
has a strong position in the Baltic area, especially in Finland, Sweden, Russia and Poland. Important market areas are also 
Norway, Denmark, Germany and the Netherlands. Recently the growth in sales has especially stemmed from the eas tern 
European market, and growth potential in this area remains solid. Competitive strengths include cost-effectiveness, high 
quality particularly in printing, and close cooperation with customers. 

Suominen Flexible Packaging’s major competitors are the Nordenia Group, Schur, Trioplast and Stenqvist. 

Products, customers and production 

Suominen Flexible Packaging's product groups are: 

-  packaging for hygiene products, including packaging for household rolls, women's hygiene products and wet wipes 
-  packaging  for bakery industry and printed packaging films for food industry 
-  retail service packaging, including a variety of bags and carrier bags 
-  special products such as tamper-evident security bags, sealable bags and reclosable bags 

In hygiene product packaging, the most important product applications are packagings for tissue paper, women’s hygiene 
products and incontinence products. In Finland and Sweden, Suominen Flexible Packaging has a strong position in tissue 
packaging. In central Europe, it is seeking a position as one of the leading hygiene packaging suppliers. Its main customers 
in this field are Procter & Gamble, SCA, Georgia Pacific and Metsä Tissue. 

There are two main product lines in food packaging: packagings for the bakery industry and printed packaging films used 
by the rest of the food industry. Suominen Flexible Packaging has a strong standing in Finland and Sweden in bakery 
industry packaging. The most important customers in Finland are Vaasan & Vaasan and Fazer Bakeries, in other  Nordic 
countries Schulstad and Polarbröd. Additional volumes are sought on the growing markets of eastern Europe, especially in 
Poland and Russia. The printed packaging films that are supplied to the food industry are used to pack items such as frozen 
foods,  dry food products (such as pasta, rice and macaroni), and milk and other liquids.  Growth looks likely in Finland and 
other Nordic countries, Germany, Poland and Russia, as use of frozen and ready foods becomes more common. The main 
food industry customers of Suominen Flexible Packaging are Lännen Tehtaat, Raisio, GRO Industries, Hortex and Unifrost. 

The product groups in service packagings for retailers are plastic bags, bags on the roll and waste sacks. Suominen Flexible 
Packaging is the Finnish market leader here, but no great increase in sales is expected by the Company’s management. It 
also sells to Russia and Sweden. In Finland, the bag business offers Suominen  Flexible Packaging  a sensible way of 
recycling plastic waste generated elsewhere in the production system.  

Special products comprise security bags, sealable bags, Minigrip®, and System bags. The Company’s management expects 
substantial growth in the near future in the market for tamper-evident bags used to transport money and other valuables.  

Most of Suominen Flexible Packaging's annual production capacity of 26,000 tonnes  is in Finland.  The factories, mainly 
specialised in a particular product area,  are placed in four localities in Finland (Tampere, Nastola, Kauhava and Ikaalinen), 



 

 
28 

in Norrköping in Sweden and in Grodzisk Mazowiecki in Poland. Poland is accounting for an increasing percentage in 
production, and a larger percentage of products will be manufactured there in the future for delivery to central Europe. The 
quality system is in place at all plants to ensure that all products maintain the same high quality and fulfil the demands of 
both customers and the authorities.  Suominen Flexible Packaging also has a sales unit in St Petersburg, Russia. 

Objectives and market outlook 

Suominen Flexible Packaging will concentrate more on the most profitable product groups in each market area and narrow 
market segments. The aim is to gain market leadership in the selected product groups. Collaboration with the most 
important customers is viewed as particularly important in, for instance, product development and logistics. Profitability 
will be boosted, e.g. by using present capacity more efficiently, concentrating production at the most cost-effective units and 
focusing on the most profitable products.  

The Company’s management is of the opinion that with the exception of the plastic bag market in Sweden, in  terms of net 
sales Suominen Flexible Packaging is the market leader in its product areas in Finland and Sweden. Generally speaking, the 
markets for these goods in the Nordic countries and in central Europe are not growing much.  By contrast, demand is rising 
fast in Poland, the Baltic countries and Russia, where penetration is as yet low.  Growth investments relating to the present 
and new products will also concentrate on central Europe. In the Nordic countries, growth will come via new product 
applications.  

7.6.4 Other business operations 

Group functions 

Product and process development, procurement and logistics, and financial administration support the functions of the 
business areas. In 2002, product and process development employed an average of 36 people, while 13 worked in the group 
administration. 

Suominen Webbing Products 

Suominen Webbing Products was formed in 1967 when P.G. Holm Oy (founded 1898) was merged with Kutomo & 
Punomo Oy.  

Suominen Webbing Products makes lifting and lashing equipment and heavy webbings for materials handling for various 
industrial and transport needs. Its product range also includes technical and other lightweight narrow fabrics. Its main 
market areas are the Nordic countries and central Europe. Suominen Webbing Products'  factories are  in Turku, Virrat and 
Tallinn. 

Suominen Webbing Products' aim is to grow in the area of materials handling products made out of its own PP yarn. 
Growth in the main market areas – the Nordic countries and other parts of Europe – will derive from rising market volumes 
and a larger market share. 
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7.7 Main facilities 

Company Address Own/rented Space in m2 No. of staff* 
     
Suominen  Co rporation Hämeenkatu 7 B 

33100 Tampere, Finland 
 

Rented 466 14 

Codi International B.V. Turbinestraat 13-19 
3903 LV Veenendaal,  
The Netherlands 
 

Rented 33 690 346 

Suominen Nonwovens Ltd  Suomisentie 11 
29250 Nakkila, Finland 
 

Own 61 333 288 

Suominen  Flexible Packaging Ltd Vestonkatu 24 
33730 Tampere, Finland  
 

Own 19 690 310 

 Flextie 3 
15550 Nastola, Finland 
 

Own 6 885 88 

 Pilvilinnankatu 2 
39500 Ikaalinen, Finland 
 

Own 3 255 67 

 Kehätie 5 
62200 Kauhava, Finland 
 

Own 4 324 69 

Suominen Flexible Packaging AB Röda Stugans gata 
60114 Norrköping, Sweden 
 

Rented 4 850 64 

Suominen Polska Sp. z o.o 57 Graniczna Str. 
05-825 Grodzisk  
Mazowiecki,   Poland 
 

Own 3 180 41 

Suominen Webbing Products Ltd 
 

Urusvuorenkatu 2  
20360 Turku, Finland 
 

Rented 7 500 43 

 Inkantie 62 
34980 Killinkoski, Finland 
 

Own 9 300 77 

Inka-Norsafe AS Kopli 40a 
0004 Tallinn,  Estonia 
 

Own 1 410 33 

* All data on the facilities is based on the situation on September 30, 2003. The number of staff is given as the average of 2002. 

7.8 Factors affecting the financial position 

7.8.1 Investments  

Gross investments in production at Suominen in 2000 (excluding Codi) were EUR 11.1 million. Depreciation according to 
plan was EUR 15.2 million. The investments in Suominen Nonwovens focused on expanding fibre capacity, modernising 
the hydroentanglement lines and acquiring product development equipment. At Suominen Flexible Packaging, half of the 
investments were used to complete the first stage of the plant investment in Poland. At the end of 2000, a printing press and 
four welding units were in operation in Poland. 

Investments in production at Codi in 2000 totalled EUR 6.5 million. Depreciation was EUR 3.4 million. The investments 
involved acquiring an efficient new manufacturing and packaging line for interfold wet wipes. 

In 2001, gross investments in production at the Company (excluding Codi) were EUR 10.7 million. Depreciation according 
to plan was EUR 15.2 million. Suominen Nonwovens completed expansion of its fibre capacity and modernised 
hydroentanglement lines. The investment increased production line capacity by ten per cent. Suominen Flexible Packaging 
modernised its converting capacity. 

Investments in production at Codi in 2001 totalled EUR 1.0 million. Depreciation was EUR 3.4 million. The investments 
involved repair and replacement of old production machinery. 
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Gross investments in production at Suominen in 2002 (excluding Codi) were EUR 8.0 million. Depreciation according to 
plan was EUR 15.6 million. The Nonwovens investments involved modernising hydroentanglement lines to improve 
product quality and production efficiency. The Flexible Packaging investments involved increasing printing capacity at the 
Poland plant and increasing and modernising film production capacity in Finland. 

Investments in production at Codi in 2002 totalled EUR 4.0 million. Depreciation was EUR 3.0 million. Investments in a 
new wet wipes production line began in 2003. 

In the period January 1 - September 30, 2003, Suominen’s gross investments in production (excluding Codi) were EUR 5.3 
million (EUR 6.5 million over the same period in 2002). Depreciation according to plan was EUR 10.8 million (11.8). Of 
the investments, Suominen Nonwovens accounted for EUR 2.1 million and Suominen Flexible Packaging for EUR 2.8 
million. Modernisation of the fourth hydroentanglement line was completed in the Nonwovens business area. The 
modernisation will improve the product quality and the efficiency of production. In Flexible Packaging, expansion of the 
plant in Poland began. Printing and converting capacity will be doubled. The total investment amounts to a good EUR 7 
million, of which approximately one million have been used to date. The investment is scheduled for completion in May 
2004 and it will be financed out of cash flow. 

Codi has continued the production capacity modernisation programme begun the previous year. The investments involve a 
new wet wipes production line, a lotion mixing unit, a logistics system for the new warehouse and technical building work, 
totalling EUR 6.2 million over the first nine months of 2003. 

Suominen’s annual investments in 2001 - 2003 have remained below depreciation according to plan, and the investments 
have been completely financed out of cash flow. Codi’s investments have exceeded depreciation according to plan but have 
nevertheless been completely cash flow financed. 

INVESTMENTS      

(EUR million) 2000 2001 2002 1-9/2003 
     
Suominen:     
Nonwovens 6.2 7.9 2.6 2.1 
Flexible Packaging 4.3 2.3 5.1 2.8 
Other 0.6 0.5 0.3 0.4 
Total 11.1 10.7 8.0 5.3 
     
Codi 6.5 1.0 4.0 6.2 
     

 
7.8.2 Patents, licences, permits and other agreements 

Suominen Nonwovens and Suominen Flexible Packaging  hold several patents in Finland and abroad, in addition to many 
trademarks and utility models. Suominen Webbing Products holds no patents but it has a few trademarks. The companies 
also have a number of applications related to intellectual property rights pending. However, patents or other intellectual 
property rights do not have any material effect on the Company’s financial position and the Company is not dependent on 
any single trademark or intellectual property right. 

The operations of the business areas involve a few licences, but they do not have a material effect on the financial position 
of the business areas. 

Suominen Wet Wipes', Suominen Nonwovens' and Suominen Flexible Packaging's operations require environmental 
permits as well as official authorisations for handling, using and storing certain substances. Suominen Wet Wipes, 
Suominen Nonwovens and Suominen Flexible Packaging hold the required environmental permits and official 
authorisations.  

The operations of each business area involve standard customer and supply contracts. 
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7.8.3 Information on product and process development 

Group business areas have engaged in joint product and process development activities at the production facilities of 
Suominen Nonwovens in Nakkila since 1997. Suominen Nonwovens focuses mainly on the development of wet wipe 
materials, industrial wiping materials and pulp-containing products. Suominen Flexible Packaging has concentrated its 
development activities on improving the properties of plastic film, making it thinner, improving its runnability, and reducing 
the number of film recipes and types of raw material needed. Suominen Webbing Products' main focus is on increasing the 
strength of the PP fibre, improving the finished quality of narrow fabrics and optimising dyeing costs.  

In 2003, product and process development has employed an average of 36.5 people. In 2003, expenses are estimated at EUR 
2.9 million. In addition to the above, the product development of  Suominen Wet Wipes (Codi) employs 10 people. 

7.8.4 Order backlog 

None of the Suominen’s business areas has what could be called a binding order backlog. The prospective specific order 
backlog extends no further than one month ahead at most. Customers and the business areas of Suominen have long-term 
commercial contracts. However, Suominen's management does not consider that these contracts comprise an actual order 
backlog. 

7.8.5 Interruptions in operations or production 

There have been no significant interruptions  in business or production recently. 

7.8.6 Lawsuits and arbitration proceedings 

The management of Suominen is not aware of any current lawsuits or arbitration proceedings that would materially affect 
the financial position of  the Company. 

7.8.7 Environmental issues 

The major environmental impact in the production of Suominen Wet Wipes consists of the waste water generated in lotion 
production. The environmental load is continuously monitored, and has remained within the limits set by the environmental 
permits. Construction of an environmental system has begun, aiming at an ISO 14001 environmental certificate in 2005. 

With the help of an environmental system, Suominen Nonwovens strive to manage and develop their operations so as to 
reduce the load on the environment. In 2000, Suominen Nonwovens was granted an ISO 14001 environmental certificate 
and a new environmental permit application in compliance with the new Environmental Protection Act was lodged in 
autumn 2000.  

Suominen Flexible Packaging has an environmental system, which is in principle compatible with ISO 14001, and whose 
operational components have been integrated with the quality system. The main environmental impacts of production are 
caused by the use of printing ink solvents and waste treatment. Suominen Flexible Packaging aims to burden the 
environment as little as possible and to increase the recycling of material.  

The polypropylene yarn manufactured by Suominen Webbing Products and the narrow fabrics made from this material were 
granted the Öko-Tex Standard 100 environmental certificate.  

The Company’s management is of the opinion that the operations of  Suominen comply with the relevant national and EU 
environmental legislation, regulations and permits in all the countries where it operates. The management are not aware of 
any regulations pertaining to legislation or permit conditions that might cause costs of Suominen to increase materially in 
the future and have an adverse impact on its financial position. 
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7.9 Recent developments and outlook 

Information on recent developments and outlook can be found in the interim report for the period January 1 to September 
30, 2003 (see the section “Financial statement information”). After publication of the interim report, there have been no 
important events that would affect the Company's business operations.  
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8. BOARD OF DIRECTORS, MANAGEMENT AND PERSONNEL 

8.1 Suominen administration 

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors of Suominen Corporation comprises a minimum of 
three members and a maximum of seven. The members of the Board of Directors are elected by the Annual General 
Meeting, which is held annually before the end of April. The term of the members of the Board ends on conclusion of the 
second Annual General Meeting after the election. Half of the members of the Board of Directors, or a smaller or higher 
amount nearest corresponding it, resigns annually. Should the fulfilment of the rotation in resigning require that one or some 
members of the Board of Directors resign before the end of their term, that General Meeting of Shareholders, which elects 
the members of the Board of Directors, shall simultaneously decide whose term of the members of Board of Directors is 
shorter than regularly.  The Board of Directors elects a chairman and a deputy chairman from among its members. 

The President and CEO of Suominen Corporation is chosen by the Board of Directors. The President and CEO is 
responsible for day-to-day operations in keeping with the instructions of the Board of Directors. 

The group's Management Group comprises the President and CEO as chairman, the Senior Vice President, the Vice 
Presidents responsible for the business areas, the Vice President in charge of  product and process development, the Vice 
President in charge of procurement and logistics,  and the Vice President and CFO. Financially accountable vice presidents 
in charge of each business area report to the corporate President and CEO. The Senior Vice President is responsible for the 
corporation's key customers and business development. Product and process development, procurement and logistics, and 
financial management support the functions of the entire corporation. 

As of October 1, 2001 Suominen Corporation observes the guidelines for insiders issued by the Helsinki Exchanges.  The 
Company's statutory insiders comprise the members of the Board of Directors, the President and CEO and the principal 
auditor. The Company's Management Group and named members of the administrative staff are also defined as insiders. 
According to the Finnish Securities Market Act, the share ownership of persons regarded as insiders is public. The insider 
register of Suominen Corporation can be inspected at the Finnish Central Securities Depository. 

8.2 Board of Directors of Suominen 

On the date of this offering memorandum, the members of the Board of Directors were as follows:   

Member of the Board Position in the Board Elected for the term  
Matti Kavetvuo, b. 1944 
     M.Sc.(Eng.) B.Sc.(Econ.) 
 

Chairman until the AGM in 2005 

Kari Haavisto, b. 1941 
    Licentiate of Science in Economics and 
    Business Administration 
 

Member of the Board 
Deputy Chairman 

until the AGM in 2004 

Heikki Bergholm, b. 1956 
    M.Sc.(Eng.), President and CEO of Suominen Corporation  
 

Member of the Board until the AGM in 2005 

Pekka Laaksonen, b. 1956  
    M.Sc.(Econ.), Senior Executive Vice President, Stora Enso Oyj 
 

Member of the Board until the AGM in 2004 

Heikki Mairinoja, b. 1947  
    M.Sc.(Eng.), B.Sc.(Econ.), CEO of G.W. Sohlberg Corporation 
 

Member of the Board until the AGM in 2004 
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8.3 Management Group of Suominen 

On the date of this offering memorandum Suominen's Management Group comprised the following persons: 

Name Position in the Company Joined a Suominen unit  
Heikki Bergholm President and CEO 1985 
Harri Myllylä Senior Vice President 1999 
Juha Henttonen Vice President (Flexible Packaging, Webbing Products) 1976 
Margareta Huldén Vice President, Product and Process Development 1993 
Arto Kiiskinen Vice President, CFO 2001 
Boudewijn Lindner Vice President (Wet Wipes) 2001 
Esa Palttala Vice President (Nonwovens) 1972 
Sakari Santa-Paavola Vice President, Procurement and Logistics 1983 
   

 

8.4 Emoluments and shareholding in Suominen by Board and Management Group members 

The Annual General Meeting determines the emoluments paid to the members of Suominen’s Board of Directors in 
advance, for one year at a time. The Board of Directors determines the salary, emoluments and other benefits of the 
President and CEO. The amount of salaries, emoluments and other benefits paid to the members of the Board of  Directors 
and the President and CEO in 2002 totalled EUR 284 000. 

Separate emoluments are not paid to the members of the Boards of Directors of the subsidiaries. The Board of Directors 
determines the salaries, emoluments and other benefits of the Management Group serving under the President and CEO.  

As of October 24, 2003, the members of the Board of Directors of Suominen had the following shareholdings in Suominen: 

 Board members' shareholdings*   Number of shares Shareholding, %  
   
Matti Kavetvuo 104 631 0.7 
Kari Haavisto 14 857 0.1 
Heikki Bergholm 1 176 614 7.5 
Pekka Laaksonen 31 214 0.2 
Heikki Mairinoja 8 376 0.1 
   

 

As of October 24, 2003, the members of the Management Group of Suominen had the following shareholdings in 
Suominen: 

Management Group members' shareholdings*  Number of shares Shareholding, %  
   
Heikki Bergholm 1 176 614 7.5 
Harri Myllylä 1 413 0.0 
Juha Henttonen 5 000 0.0 
Margareta Huldén 3 362 0.0 
Arto Kiiskinen 5 770 0.0 
Boudewijn Lindner  0 0.0 
Esa Palttala 5 500 0.0 
Sakari Santa-Paavola 0 0.0 
   

* Including holdings by children under age and controlled corporations. 
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Members of the Board of Directors and the President and CEO held a total of 1 335 692 shares as of October 24, 2003. 
These shares accounted for 8.4 per cent of the total share capital and  8.5 per cent of voting powers afforded by all the 
shares, excluding the votes represented by the 38 293 own shares held by Suominen. 

8.5 Employees and incentive schemes 

For key personnel, the company provides an incentive scheme based on EVA (Economic Value Added).  The use of 
company shares to reward personnel is an essential element of this scheme for the part of members of the Management 
Group.  The criteria for the incentive scheme are approved annually by the Board of Directors. There is an incentive system 
in place for Codi key personnel for the purpose of making these employees committed to the development of Codi’s 
business and ensuring a successful integration process. 

 
Average personnel 2001 2002 September 30,  2003 
    
Suominen:    
Nonwovens 275 248 229 
Flexible Packaging 640 652 628 
Other 220 204 196 
Total 1 135 1 104 1 053 
    
Codi 306 346 384 
    

8.6 Auditors 

In accordance with the Articles of Association the Company has a minimum of one  auditor and a maximum of two  
auditors and one deputy auditor. At least one of the ordinary auditors shall be entities of Certified Public Accountants or 
individuals approved by the Finnish Central Chamber of Commerce. Should an entity approved by the Central Chamber of 
Commerce become elected as auditor, no deputy auditor is elected. The term of the auditors shall be the financial year of the 
Company and the duties of the auditors expire at the end of the first Annual General Meeting of Shareholders following the 
election. 

Suominen's auditors are PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy, with Mr. Heikki Lassila, APA, serving as responsible auditor. The 
auditors' address  is PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy, P.O. Box 1015, Itämerentori 2, FIN-00101 Helsinki. 
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9. STOCK MARKET INFORMATION AND DIVIDEND POLICY 

9.1 Stock market information 

Suominen shares have been publicly traded on the main list of the Helsinki Exchanges since October 1, 2001. The trading 
symbol is SUO1V. The ISIN code is FI0009010862, and the trading lot is 100 shares. The following table shows the highest 
and lowest prices quoted for Suominen shares on the Helsinki Exchanges during the periods indicated. 

 Share price 
 High Low
  EUR EUR
2001    

Fourth quarter 7.20 3.90
2002    

First quarter 6.01 4.81
Second quarter 5.50 4.52
Third quarter 5.50 4.95
Fourth quarter 6.25 5.15

2003    
First quarter 6.99 5.35
Second quarter 6.35 5.65
Third quarter 7.90 6.05
Fourth quarter (through October 24, 2003) 9.98 7.59
  

 

9.2 Dividends and dividend policy 

According to the Companies Act, a limited company may pay dividends only on the basis of annual accounts approved by 
the annual general meeting and in accordance with a decision taken by that meeting. Current practice is that, as a rule, 
Finnish companies pay dividends only once a year. Thus, payment of dividends by Suominen requires a decision by 
majority of votes cast as per the Companies Act at the annual general meeting, which according to the Articles of 
Association of Suominen must be held by the end of April, or at an extraordinary general meeting convened after the 
accounts for the previous year have been approved. 

Shareholders not resident in Finland are in principle liable for tax withheld at source on dividend income. The tax rate is 29 
per cent in 2003, although it may be less under any relevant tax treaties. See the section ”Taxation”. 

The Suominen Board of Directors has decided regarding dividend policy that the dividends paid by the Company shall be 
dependent on the profit for the financial year: the portion of the profit which is not required for ensuring sound development 
of the Company will be distributed to shareholders. 

The Suominen shares offered for subscription in this Offering shall have the same rights to dividends as existing Suominen 
shares, i.e. they will be entitled to any dividends from the 2003 financial year and thereafter. 

The following table shows the dividend per share paid by Suominen and dividends in relation to profit for the financial 
years shown. 



 

 
37 

 

Financial period ended on December 31  Dividend/share Dividend/earnings
  EUR (%)
  
2001  0.40     97.6*
2002 (The dividend paid was divided into a dividend of EUR 0.70 per share 

paid on March 25, 2003, and a dividend of EUR 0.70 per share to be 
paid on November 3, 2003.) 

 

1.40 205.9
* Pro forma    

 

Under the Companies Act, Suominen can pay dividends, with certain restrictions, to a maximum equal to the distributable 
funds shown in the approved annual accounts for the previous financial year of either the parent company, Suominen 
Corporation, or the Suominen Group, depending on which is the lower. The distributable funds of Suominen Corporation 
and the Suominen Group on December 31, 2002 amounted to EUR 38.3 million and EUR 25.4 million, respectively. On 
March 12, 2003, the Suominen Annual General Meeting decided, on a proposal by the Board of Directors, to pay a dividend 
of EUR 0.70 per share for the 2002 financial year, totalling a maximum of EUR 11 051 610.50. Furthermore, a Suominen 
Extraordinary General Meeting on October 22, 2003 decided, on a proposal by the Board of Directors, to pay an extra 
dividend of EUR 0.70 per share, totalling a maximum of EUR 11 051 610.50. Dividends are not paid to own shares held by 
the Company on the record date of the dividend payment. 
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10. OWNERSHIP, SHARES AND SHARE CAPITAL 

10.1 Information on shares 

Under the Articles of Association, the Company's minimum share capital is EUR 5 000 000 and the maximum share capital 
EUR 20 000 000, within which limits the share capital can be increased or decreased without amending the Articles of 
Association. 

The registered share capital of  Suominen on the date of this offering memorandum was EUR 7 913 154, divided into        
15 826 308 shares. The book countervalue of a share is EUR 0.50. Each share carries one vote at the General Meeting of 
Shareholders. According to the Articles of Association, no shareholder may cast more than one fifth of the total number of 
votes represented at the General Meeting of Shareholders. The Company's shares are incorporated in the book-entry system 
since October 1, 2001. 

10.2 Ownership structure 

The following table sets forth the shareholdings of the Company's ten largest directly registered shareholders as of    
October 24, 2003. Total number of shareholders as of that date was 2 759. 

 
Shareholder  Number of shares  Shareholding, %
   
Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company  1 415 301 8.9
Evald and Hilda Nissi Foundation  1 305 660 8.2
Heikki Bergholm  1 176 614 7.4
Sampo Life Insurance Company Ltd.  974 083 6.2
Tapiola Mutual Pension Insurance Company   855 900 5.4
Juhani Maijala  694 240 4.4
Pohjola Non-Life Insurance Company Ltd.  432 900 2.7
Suomi Group  418 900 2.6
     Suomi Mutual Life Assurance Company  235 200 1.5
     Suomi Insurance Company Ltd.  183 700 1.2
Chemec Oy Ab  371 700 2.3
Mikko Maijala  360 660 2.3
   
Ten largest, total    8 005 958 50.6
Nominee registered shareholders    179 660 1.1
Treasury shares held by the Company  38 293 0.2
Other shareholders    7 602 397 48.0
   
Total    15 826 308 100.0.
   

 

10.2.1 Development in share capital   

The share capital has remained unchanged since the Company was registered on September 30, 2001.   

10.2.2 Treasury shares of the Company   

On the date of this offering memorandum, the Company holds 38 293 treasury shares, representing 0.2 per cent of the shares 
and of the voting rights. The treasury shares do not entitle the Company to subscribe for Shares in the Offering. 
Accordingly, the Company will sell all its Subscription Rights on the Helsinki Exchanges. The Company has engaged the 
lead manager of the Offering or its affiliate to organise the sale of Subscription Rights derived from the Company’s treasury 
shares. 
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10.2.3 Company law authorisations  

Repurchase of the Company's own shares  

On March 12, 2003, the Annual General Meeting authorised the Company's Board of Directors to decide on the repurchase 
of the Company's own shares using funds available for distribution of profits, provided that the book countervalue of the 
shares of the Company and it's subsidiaries thus acquired, combined with the book countervalue of own shares repurchased 
previously by the Company and its subsidiaries, does not exceed five per cent of the Company’s total share capital at the 
moment of acquisition. The authorisation is in effect until March 12, 2004. 

Conveyance of the Company's own shares  

On March 12, 2003, the annual general meeting authorised the Company’s Board of Directors to convey  the Company’s 
own shares held by the Company. The Board of Directors is entitled to convey  a number of shares whose combined par 
value together with the combined par value of shares held by the Company’s subsidiaries does not exceed 5% of the 
Company’s share capital. The board of directors can decide on such a conveyance of shares without reference to the pre-
emptive subscription right of shareholders. This authorisation is valid until March 12, 2004. The Company has not exercised 
this authorisation by the date of publication of this offering memorandum. 

 Authorisation of the Offering  

An Extraordinary General Meeting on October 22, 2003 authorised the Company’s Board of Directors to increase the 
Company’s share capital through a new issue, taking into account the pre-emptive subscription right of shareholders. This 
authorisation allows for the increase of the share capital by a maximum of EUR 3 956 577. 

On October 28, 2003, the Board of Directors, acting on authorisation from the General Meeting, decided to increase the 
Company’s share capital through a new issue under the right of pre-emption of shareholders by a maximum of EUR 3 956 
577 by issuing a maximum of  7 913 154 Shares under the terms of the Offering. The Shares to be issued in the Offering 
account for a maximum of about 50 per cent of the number of shares issued by the Company and the votes represented by 
them before the Offering. 

10.3 Capital loans 

As part of the arrangements to finance the Codi acquisition, Suominen has reached an agreement with two investors about  
capital loans of EUR 10 million under the Companies Act. The loans have been drawn on October 31, 2003. The capital 
loans shall be paid back in five equal instalments annually beginning June 30, 2004.  The amortisation or the repayment will 
only be made if the restricted equity and other non-distributable items in the balance sheets to be adopted for the corporation 
and the group for the previous financial year remain fully covered. Under this payment restriction, the loan  repayment or 
outstanding instalment would be deferred for payment in future financial years on the due dates agreed in the loan 
agreement until the loans have been fully paid. 

The interest payable is fixed 5.0 per cent p.a. Interest may be paid on the loans only when the amount payable could 
otherwise be distributed as profit in accordance with the balance sheets to be adopted for the Company and the group for the 
previous financial year. If this condition for payment of accrued interest is not met, the interest payable will be deferred for 
payment in future financial years on the due dates agreed in the loan agreement. 
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11. SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS 

11.1 Pre-emptive rights  

Under Finnish law, existing shareholders of Finnish companies have pre-emptive rights to subscribe, in proportion to their 
shareholdings, for new shares of such companies as well as for issues of option warrants or convertible bonds, unless the 
corporate resolution approving such issue provides otherwise. Under the Companies Act, a resolution waiving pre-emptive 
rights must be approved by at least two-thirds of all votes cast and all shares represented at a General Meeting of 
shareholders.  

Certain holders of shares and the Subscription Rights resident in, or with registered address in, certain jurisdictions other 
than Finland, may not be able to exercise any pre-emptive rights and preferential rights in respect of their shares unless a 
registration statement, or an equivalent thereof, under the applicable laws of their respective jurisdictions is effective with 
respect to such rights or an exemption from any registration or similar requirements under the applicable laws of their 
respective jurisdictions is available.  

11.2 General Meetings of shareholders  

Under the Finnish Companies Act, shareholders exercise their power to decide on corporate matters at General Meetings of 
shareholders. Suominen’s Articles of Association require that a General Meeting of shareholders be held annually by April 
30, and where financial statements, consolidated financial statements as well as auditor’s report need to be presented. In the 
General Meeting of shareholders needs to be decided upon approval of income statement and balance sheet as well as 
consolidated income statement and consolidated balance sheet, measures warranted by profit or loss, discharges from 
liability for the members of the Board of Directors and for the CEO, remuneration of auditors and the members of the Board 
of Directors and number of members of the Board of Directors. The General Meeting of shareholders need also to elect 
members of the Board of Directors and auditors as well as vice auditor if necessary. Extraordinary General Meetings of 
shareholders in respect of specific matters are held when considered necessary by the Board of Directors, or when requested 
in writing by an auditor of the Company or by shareholders representing at least one-tenth of all the issued shares of the 
Company.  

Under Suominen’s Articles of Association, notices of General Meetings of shareholders must be published in one local 
daily newspaper not earlier than two months before the General Meeting of shareholders nor later than date specified in 
Chapter 3a section 11 of the Finnish Companies Act.  Under the Company’s Articles of Association, a shareholder must 
give notice to the Company of his or her intention to attend a General Meeting no later than the date and time specified by 
the Board of Directors in the notice of the General Meeting, which may not be earlier than ten days before the General 
Meeting.  

In order to have the right to attend and vote at a Genera l Meeting of shareholders, a shareholder must be registered not later 
than ten days prior to the relevant General Meeting in the register of shareholders kept by the FCSD in accordance with the 
Finnish Companies Act and the Act on the Book-Entry Securities System. See “The Finnish securities market — The 
Finnish Book-Entry Securities System.” A beneficial owner wishing to attend and vote at the General Meeting of 
shareholders should seek a temporary registration in the register of shareholders no later than ten days prior to the relevant 
General Meeting of shareholders. There are no quorum requirements for General Meetings of shareholders in the Finnish 
Companies Act or the Company’s Articles of Association.  

11.3 Voting rights  

A shareholder may attend and vote at a General Meeting of shareholders in person or through an authorized representative. 
Each share of the Company entitles to one vote. According to Suominen’s Articles of Association, no shareholder can vote 
in the General Meeting of shareholders with more than one fifth (1/5) of the shares representative in the General Meeting of 
shareholders. In order to attend and vote at a General Meeting, a shareholder must generally be registered in the register of 
shareholders kept by the FCSD. See “General Meetings of shareholders” above. At a General Meeting, most resolutions are 
passed by a majority of the votes cast. However, certain resolutions, such as a resolution to amend the Company’s Articles 
of Association, a resolution to issue shares in deviation from shareholders’ pre-emptive subscription rights and, in certain 
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cases, a resolution regarding a possible merger or liquidation of the Company, require two-thirds of the votes cast and 
shares represented at the General Meeting.  

11.4 Dividends and other distributions   

Under the Finnish Companies Act and in accordance with prevailing practice in Finland, dividends on shares of a Finnish 
company are generally only paid annually and may only be paid after shareholder approval of the company’s financial 
statements and of the amount of the dividend proposed by the Board of Directors. Accordingly, the payment by the 
Company of a dividend in respect of the shares of the Company will require the approval of the majority of the votes cast at 
a General Meeting of shareholders.   

Under the Finnish Companies Act, shareholders’ equity is divided into restricted and unrestricted equity. Restricted equity 
consists of the share capital, the share premium fund, the reserve fund and the revaluation fund. Other reserves are included 
in unrestricted equity. The amount of any dividend is limited to the amount of distributable funds. Distributable funds 
include the profit for the preceding financial year, retained earnings from previous years and other unrestricted equity less 
the reported losses, capitalized incorporation, research and certain development costs, the acquisition cost of the company’s 
own or parent company’s shares, and the amount that the Articles of Association of the company requires to be transferred 
to the reserve fund or is otherwise to be left undistributed. A parent company of a consolidated group of companies may not 
distribute more than the amount of distributable funds shown in the parent company’s financial statements or the 
consolidated financial statements, whichever is lower. When calculating the distributable equity for dividend purposes, the 
distributable funds shown in the consolidated financial statements are also reduced by the amount of untaxed reserves 
included in retained earnings (voluntary reserves and the difference between actual depreciation and depreciation according 
to plan). The dividend may not exceed the amount proposed by the Board of Directors unless so requested at the Annual 
General Meeting by the holders of not less than ten per cent of all shares of the company, in which case the dividend, if so 
requested, shall amount to the lower of (i) at least one-half of the profit for the last preceding financial period less (A) the 
amount that the Articles of Association of the company require to be transferred to the reserve fund or otherwise left 
undistributed and (B) the amount, if any, with which the capitalized incorporation, research and certain development costs 
and acquisition costs of the company’s own or parent company’s shares exceed the total of the unrestricted reserves, the 
share premium fund and the reserve fund, and (ii) the amount of distributable funds as defined above. However, in such case 
the dividend may not exceed eight per cent of the total shareholders’ equity of the company. The company may not, under 
the Finnish Companies Act, pay interim dividends based on the current financial year’s earnings.  

Dividends and other distributions are paid to shareholders or their nominees entered in the register of shareholders on the 
relevant record date. Such register is maintained by the FCSD through the relevant book-entry account operators. Under the 
Finnish Book-Entry Securities System, dividends are paid by account transfers to the accounts of the shareholders appearing 
in the registry. No dividends are payable to shareholders not entered in the register of shareholders. All of the shares of the 
Company, including the Shares offered through the Offering, carry equal rights to dividends and other distributions by the 
Company (including distributions of assets in the event of the liquidation of the Company).   

Under the Finnish Companies Act, a company may repurchase its own shares using distributable funds. Decisions on the 
acquisition of a company’s own shares must be taken by a General Meeting of shareholders, unless the General Meeting of 
shareholders has authorized the Board of Directors to decide upon share repurchases. Any such authorization to the Board 
of Directors of a company may remain in effect for a period not exceeding one year. A public limited company may neither 
directly nor through a subsidiary hold its own shares in an amount in excess of five per cent of the company’s share capital 
or voting rights.  

11.5 Transfers   

Upon a sale of shares through the Finnish Book-Entry Securities System, the relevant shares are transferred from the seller’s 
book-entry account to the buyer’s book-entry account as an account transfer. The sale is registered as an advance transaction 
until the settlement thereof and the payment for the shares, after which the buyer will automatically be registered in the 
register of shareholders of the relevant company. In the case of registration in the name of a nominee, a sale of shares does 
not require any entries into the Finnish Book-Entry Securities System unless the nominee changes pursuant to the sale.  
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11.6 Redemption obligation  

The Company’s Articles of Association contain a redemption clause according to which a shareholder whose shareholding 
or aggregate voting rights, either alone or jointly with certain other shareholders, equals or exceeds 33 1/3 per cent or 50 per 
cent, respectively, of all issued shares of the Company or the voting rights carried by such shares, shall upon request by 
other shareholders purchase their shares, and other securities entitling the holder thereof under the Companies Act to 
subscribe for or receive shares, held by such shareholders. The Articles of Association provide for an exemption to the 
redemption obligation and accordingly the obligation does not apply to a shareholder whose proportion of shares or voting 
rights had reached or exceeded any of the said thresholds prior to the registration of this redemption obligation with the 
Finnish Trade Register and the proportion continues to exceed such a threshold.  

The purchase price shall be the higher of the following:  

(a) the weighted average trading price of the shares on the Helsinki Exchanges during the ten business days immediately 
preceding the date on which the Company has been notified by the shareholder subject to redemption liability that such 
shareholder’s ownership has reached or exceeded the ownership or voting right ceiling referred to above or, in the 
absence of such notification or its failure to arrive within the specified period, the date on which the Board of Directors 
otherwise learns of this; or  

(b) the average price, weighted by the number of shares, which the shareholder subject to redemption liability has paid for 
shares purchased or otherwise acquired during the 12 months immediately preceding the date referred to in subclause 
(i) above.  

Pursuant to the Finnish Securities Market Act (the “Securities Market Act”), a shareholder who acquires in excess of two-
thirds of the total voting rights after the commencement of a public quotation of the shares must offer to purchase the 
remaining shares of the company and other securities entitling the holder thereof under the Finnish Companies Act to 
subscribe for or receive shares of the company.  

11.7 Restrictions on foreign ownership  

Restrictions on foreign ownership of Finnish companies were abolished as of January 1, 1993. However, under the Act on 
the Control of Foreigners’ Acquisition of Finnish Companies of 1992 (the “Control Act”), clearance by the Finnish Ministry 
of Trade and Industry would be required in certain circumstances if a foreign person or entity, other than a person or entity 
from another member state of the European Economic Area (the “EEA”) or the OECD, or a Finnish entity controlled by one 
or more such foreign persons or entities, were to acquire a holding of one-third or more of the voting rights of the company. 
The Control Act is applicable for acquisitions of companies (i) with more than one thousand employees during the 
preceding or current financial year; (ii) with a turnover exceeding €168.2 million at the end of the last financial year; or (iii) 
with total assets exceeding €168.2 million as of the date of the latest financial statements. The Ministry of Trade and 
Industry could refuse clearance where the acquisition would jeopardize important national interests, in which case the 
matter would be referred to the Finnish Council of State.  

11.8 Foreign exchange control   

Other than as described above, shares of a Finnish company may be purchased by non-residents of Finland without any 
separate Finnish exchange control consent. Non-residents may receive dividends without separate Finnish exchange control 
consent, the transfer out of Finland being subject to payment by the company of withholding taxes. Non-residents having 
acquired shares may receive shares pursuant to a bonus issue or through participation in a rights issue without a separate 
Finnish exchange control consent. Shares of a Finnish company may be sold in Finland by non-residents, and the proceeds 
of such sale may be transferred out of Finland in any convertible currency. There are no Finnish exchange control 
regulations applying to the sale of shares of a Finnish company by non-residents to other non-residents. 
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12. THE FINNISH SECURITIES MARKET 

  

12.1 Trading and settlement on the Helsinki Exchanges   

  
Trading in, and clearing of, securities on the Helsinki Exchanges takes place in euro, with the minimum tick size for trading 
quotations being one euro cent. All price information is produced and published only in euro.  
  
The trading system of the Helsinki Exchanges, the Helsinki Exchanges Automated Trading and Information System, is a 
decentralized and fully automated order-driven system. Trading is conducted on the basis of trading lots, which are fixed 
separately for each share series.  
  
Official share trading takes place from 10:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. and evening trading from 6:03 p.m. to 8:00 p.m. Helsinki 
time on each trading day. The official closing prices are confirmed at the end of the official share trading at 6:00 p.m. Offers 
may be placed in the system beginning at 9:00 a.m. during a pre-trading period. Offers are matched from 9:40 a.m. to 10:00 
a.m. to determine the opening quotations of the day. Contract transactions may continue to be registered from 6:03 p.m. to 
6:30 p.m. and from 8:30 a.m. to 9:00 a.m. the following morning within the price limits arrived at during the official share 
trading and the evening trading.  
  
Trades are normally cleared in the FCSD’s automated clearing and settlement system on the third banking day after the 
trade date unless otherwise agreed by the parties.  
  

12.2 Regulation of the Finnish securities market  

  
The securities market in Finland is supervised by the Finnish Financial Supervision Authority. The principal statute 
governing the securities market is the Securities Market Act, which contains regulations with respect to company and 
shareholder disclosure obligations, admission to listing and trading of listed securities, public tender offers and insider 
obligations, among other things. The Finnish Financial Supervision Authority monitors compliance with these regulations.  
  
The Securities Market Act specifies minimum disclosure requirements for Finnish companies applying for listing on the 
Helsinki Exchanges or making a public offering of securities in Finland. The information provided must be sufficient to 
enable investors to make a sound evaluation of the security being offered and the issuing company. Finnish listed companies 
have a continuing obligation to publish regular financial information, and to inform the market of any matters likely to have 
a material impact on the value of their securities.  
  
A shareholder is required, without undue delay, to notify a Finnish listed company and the Finnish Financial Supervision 
Authority when its voting interest in, or its percentage ownership of, the issued share capital of such Finnish listed company 
reaches, exceeds or falls below five per cent, ten per cent, 15 per cent, 20 per cent, 25 per cent, 33 1/3 per cent, 50 per cent 
or 66 2/3 per cent, calculated in accordance with the Securities Market Act, or when it enters into an agreement or other 
arrangement that, when affected, has such effect. If a Finnish listed company receives information indicating that a voting 
interest or ownership interest has reached, exceeded or fallen below these thresholds, it must disclose such information to 
the Helsinki Exchanges and to the public.  
  
Pursuant to the Securities Market Act, a shareholder whose holding in a listed company increases above two-thirds of the 
total voting rights attached to the shares of the company, calculated in accordance with the Securities Market Act, after the 
commencement of a public quotation of such shares must offer to purchase the remaining shares and other securities 
entitling its holder to shares of such company for fair market value. Under the Finnish Companies Act, a shareholder 
holding shares representing more than 90 per cent of the share capital in a company and more than 90 per cent of the votes 
entitled to be cast at a General Meeting of shareholders has the right to require the minority shareholders to sell the 
remaining shares of such company to such shareholder for fair market value. In addition, any minority shareholder that 
possesses shares that may be so purchased by a majority shareholder is entitled to require such majority shareholder to 
purchase its shares.  
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The Finnish Criminal Code contains provisions relating to breach of disclosure requirements, the misuse of privileged or 
inside information and market manipulation. Breach of these provisions constitutes a criminal offense.  
  

12.3 The Finnish Book-Entry Securities System  

  
General  
  
Finland has made a gradual changeover from a certificated securities system to a book-entry securities system since August 
1, 1991, when the relevant legislation came into effect. Use of the Finnish Book-Entry Securities System is mandatory for 
shares listed on the Helsinki Exchanges. Suominen’s shares were entered into the Finnish Book-Entry Securities System on 
October 1, 2001.  
  
The Finnish Book-Entry Securities System is centralized at the FCSD which provides national clearing and registration 
services for securities. The FCSD maintains a central book-entry securities system for both equity and debt securities.  
  
The FCSD maintains a register of the shareholders of listed companies and book-entry accounts for shareholders that do not 
wish to utilize the services of a commercial account operator. The expenses incurred by the FCSD in connection with 
maintaining the central book-entry securities system are borne by the issuers participating in the Finnish Book-Entry 
Securities System and the account operators. The Account Operators are entitled to make entries in the book-entry register 
and administer the book-entry accounts.  
  
Registration  
  
In order to effect entries in the Finnish Book-Entry Securities System, a security holder or such holder’s nominee must 
establish a book-entry account with an Account Operator or with the FCSD or register its securities through nominee 
registration. Finnish shareholders may not register their securities through nominee registration. For shareholders who have 
not transferred their shares into book-entries, a joint book-entry account shall be opened with the FCSD, the registered 
holder of which shall be the issuer. All transactions in securities registered with the Finnish Book-Entry Securities System 
are executed as computerized book-entry transfers. The Account Operator confirms book-entry transfers by sending 
notifications of transactions to the holder of the respective book-entry account. The account holders also receive an annual 
statement of their holdings as of the end of each calendar year.  
  
Each book-entry account is required to contain specified information with respect to the account holder and any other record 
holder of rights or the custodian administering the assets of a nominee account. Such information includes the type and 
number of book-entry securities registered and the rights and restrictions pertaining to the account and to the book-entry 
securities registered in the account. A possible nominee account is identified as such on the entry. The FCSD and the 
Account Operators are required to observe strict confidentiality, although certain information (e.g., the name, nationality 
and address of each account holder) contained in the register of shareholders maintained by the FCSD must be made 
available to the public by the FCSD and the company, save in the case of nominee registration.  
  
Each Account Operator is strictly liable for errors and omissions on the registers maintained by it and for any unauthorized 
disclosure of information. However, if an account holder has suffered a loss as a result of a faulty registration or an 
amendment to, or deletion of, rights in respect of registered securities and the Account Operator is unable to compensate 
such loss, such account holder is entitled to receive compensation from the FCSD. To cover this contingency, the FCSD 
maintains a statutory registration fund. The capital of the registration fund must be at least 0.000048 per cent of the average 
of the total market value of the book-entries kept in the book-entry system during the last five calendar years and it must not 
be less than EUR 20 million. The compensation to be paid to one injured party shall be equal to the amount of damages 
suffered by such injured party from a single Account Operator subject to a maximum amount of EUR 25,000. The liability 
of the registration fund to pay damages in relation to each incident is limited to EUR 10 million.  
  
Custody of the shares and nominees  
  
A non-Finnish shareholder may appoint an asset manager (or certain non-Finnish organizations approved by the FCSD) to 
act as a custodial nominee account holder on its behalf. A nominee shareholder is entitled to receive dividends and to 
exercise all share subscription rights and other financial and administrative rights attaching to the shares such as the right to 
attend and vote at meetings of shareholders. A beneficial owner wishing to attend and vote at meetings of shareholders must 
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seek a temporary registration in the register of shareholders not later than ten days prior to the relevant General Meeting. A 
custodial nominee account holder is required to disclose to the Finnish Financial Supervision Authority and the relevant 
company on request the name of the beneficial owner of any shares registered in the name of such custodian nominee 
account holder, where the beneficial owner is known, as well as the number of shares owned by such beneficial owner. If 
the name of the beneficial owner is not known, the custodian nominee account holder is required to disclose said 
information on the representative acting on behalf of the beneficial owner and to submit a written declaration to the effect 
that the beneficial owner of the shares is  not a Finnish natural or legal person.  
  
Finnish depositories for both Euroclear Bank, S.A./N.V., as operator of the Euroclear System (“Euroclear”), and 
Clearstream Banking S.A., Luxembourg (“Clearstream”) have nominee accounts within the Finnish Book-Entry Securities 
System and, accordingly, non-Finnish shareholders may hold their shares through their accounts with Euroclear or 
Clearstream.  
  
Shareholders wishing to hold their shares in the Finnish Book-Entry Securities System in their name and who do not 
maintain a book-entry account in Finland are required to open a book-entry account at an authorized Account Operator in 
Finland and a convertible euro account at a bank operating in Finland.  
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13. TAXATION 

  
The following summary is based on tax laws of Finland as in effect on the date of this offering memorandum, and is subject 
to changes in Finnish law, including changes that could have a retroactive effect. The following summary is not exhaustive 
and does not take into account or discuss the tax laws of any country other than Finland. You are advised to consult your 
own professional tax advisors as to the Finnish or other tax consequences of the Offering and the purchase, ownership and 
disposition of Shares or Subscription Rights.  
  
This summary only discusses the tax laws of Finland. Prospective investors who may be affected by the tax laws of other 
jurisdictions should consult their tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences applicable to their particular 
circumstances.  
  
Finnish tax considerations  
  
The following is a description of the material Finnish income and net wealth tax consequences that may be relevant with 
respect to this Offering. The description below only addresses Finnish tax legislation and does not take into account the tax 
laws of any other countries.  
  
The description below is only applicable to residents in Finland for the purposes of Finnish internal tax legislation. This 
description does not address tax considerations applicable to holders of shares, option warrants or convertible bonds that 
may be subject to special tax rules, including among others business carrying entities, tax-exempt entities or general or 
limited partnerships. Furthermore this description addresses neither Finnish inheritance nor gift tax consequences.  
  
This description is based on:  
  
• The Income Tax Act (Tuloverolaki 30.12.1992/1535);  
• The Net Wealth Tax Act (Varallisuusverolaki 30.12.1992/1537);  
• The Business Income Tax Act (Laki elinkeinotulon verottamisesta 24.6.1968/360); and  
• The Transfer Tax Act (Varainsiirtoverolaki 29.11.1996/931)  
  
In addition, relevant case law, decisions and statements made by the tax authorities in effect and available on the date of the 
offering memorandum have also been taken into account.  
  
All of the foregoing are subject to change, which change could apply retroactively and could affect the tax consequences 
described below.  
  
You are advised to consult your own tax advisor as to the Finnish tax consequences resulting from the Offering as well as 
with regard to any redemption or option rights.  
  

13.1 General  

  
Residents and non-residents of Finland are treated differently for tax purposes. The worldwide income and net wealth of 
persons resident in Finland is subject to taxation in Finland. Non-residents who are not generally liable for tax in Finland are 
taxed on Finnish source income and net wealth located in Finland only. In addition, all income of a non-resident derived 
from and net wealth allocable to a permanent establishment located in Finland will be taxed in Finland.  
  
Generally, an individual is deemed a resident of Finland if such individual resides in Finland for more than six consecutive 
months or if the permanent home or dwelling of such individual is in Finland. Entities established under the laws of Finland 
are regarded as residents of Finland. Earned income, including salary, is taxed at progressive rates while capital income is 
currently taxed at a flat rate of 29 per cent. In practice, dividend income from a company listed on the Helsinki Exchanges is 
tax-exempt for a shareholder resident in Finland. See “—Taxation of dividends and tax credit on dividends.”  
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13.2 Taxation of Finnish limited liability companies   

  
Finnish companies are subject to national corporate income tax on their worldwide income. Currently, the rate of such tax is 
29 per cent.  
  
Finland applies an imputation tax credit or avoir fiscal system for profits distributed as dividends in order to eliminate 
double taxation of companies and their shareholders. Under the avoir fiscal system, a Finnish company pays each year the 
higher of its minimum tax and its comparison tax. The applicable minimum tax payable to the Finnish tax authorities by a 
Finnish company depends on the amount of profit distributed as dividends. The applicable minimum tax is currently 29/71 
of the dividends distributed to the shareholders. The comparison tax is the tax payable on the amount of taxable corporate 
income. To the extent that the minimum tax exceeds or is less than the comparison tax payable, a supplementary tax liability 
will be imposed or a tax surplus established as appropriate. Any surplus generated may generally be carried over and used, 
for a period of ten years, to offset any supplementary tax which may become payable in subsequent years.  
  

13.3 Taxation of shareholders resident in Finland  

  
The following is a summary of certain Finnish tax consequences relating to the purchase, ownership and disposition of 
shares.  
  
The receipt, exercise, ownership or sale of Subscription Rights does not trigger any Finnish tax implications to non-resident 
shareholders.  
  

13.4 Taxation of dividends and tax credit on dividends   

  
The dividend income received from a company listed on the Helsinki Exchanges and the related tax credit are taxable 
capital income for shareholders who are residents of Finland. As of January 1, 2000, capital income has been subject to a 
tax rate of 29 per cent. Under the avoir fiscal system, a tax credit is available to resident shareholders on the payment of 
dividends by a Finnish company. As of January 1, 2000, the amount of tax credit has been equal to 29/71 of the dividends 
received. In taxation, the tax credit is offset against the resident shareholder’s tax liability and, thus, no taxes are generally 
payable by resident shareholders in respect of dividends received from, inter alia, a Finnish company listed on the Helsinki 
Exchanges.  
  
The tax credit is not available to non-residents, unless so provided in a double taxation treaty with Finland that contains the 
appropriate provisions. Currently, the only such tax treaty in force is with Ireland, entitling certain shareholders resident in 
Ireland to a tax credit equal to one-half of the credit available to residents in Finland. A Finnish permanent establishment of 
a company resident in the EEA, however, is entitled to the imputation tax credit if the shares are deemed to belong to the 
permanent establishment located in Finland.  
  
In June 2001, the Ministry of Finance appointed a committee to evaluate, among other things, the acceptability of the avoir 
fiscal system in light of Finnish and EU legislation. The committee has presented its report on November 8, 2002. The 
Finnish Supreme Administrative Court has also requested a preliminary ruling from the European Court of Justice in 
relation to Finnish imputation system on September 10, 2002. As a result of the report and the ruling, it is possible that the 
current avoir fiscal system may be amended or even abolished.  
  

13.5 Withholding tax on dividends   

  
Non-residents are subject to Finnish withholding tax on dividends paid by a Finnish company. In the absence of any 
applicable double taxation treaty, the rate of such withholding tax is currently 29 per cent. Finland has entered into double 
taxation treaties with many countries pursuant to which the withholding tax rate is reduced on dividends paid by a Finnish 
Company to persons entitled to the benefits under such treaties. For example, in the case of the treaties with the following 
countries, Finnish withholding tax rates are generally reduced to the percentages given: Austria: zero; Belgium: 15 per cent; 
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Canada: 15 per cent; Denmark: 15 per cent; France: zero; Germany: 15 per cent; Ireland: 15 per cent; Italy: 15 per cent; 
Japan: 15 per cent; the Netherlands: zero; Norway: 15 per cent; Spain: 15 per cent; Sweden: 15 per cent; Switzerland: five 
per cent; the United Kingdom: zero; and the United States: 15 per cent. Please note that this list is not exhaustive. A further 
reduction in the withholding tax rate is usually available to corporate shareholders for distributions on qualifying holdings 
(usually at least ten per cent of the voting power or 25 per cent of the capital of the distributing company). The Finnish 
company paying the dividend is responsible for deducting any applicable Finnish withholding tax.  
  
A reduction of such withholding tax rate can be obtained at source upon the submission of a Source Tax Card or the 
required information (name, date of birth, any personal or corporate code in the home country and address) to the payer 
prior to the payment of dividends. If such a Source Tax Card or such information is not submitted in a timely manner, a 
refund of tax withheld in excess of the applicable treaty rate can be obtained upon application to the local tax authority.  
  
No withholding tax is levied under Finnish laws on dividends paid to corporate entities which reside in the European Union 
and directly hold at least 25 per cent of the capital of the distributing Finnish company, provided that such entities are not 
entitled to the tax credit under the Finnish avoir fiscal system and are subject to a general corporate tax in their respective 
countries of residency, as specified in Directive 90/435/EEC.  
  

13.6 Finnish capital gains and other taxes   

  
Any capital gain or loss arising from the sale of Shares or Subscription Rights under the Offering, (other than in context of 
business activities) is taxable or deductible as capital gain or loss for individuals and estates residing in Finland for tax 
purposes. Such capital gains or losses are calculated by deducting the original acquisition cost and sales related expenses 
from the sales price. In a rights offering, the acquisition cost of the new shares subscribed is deemed to be the subscription 
price plus related expenses.  
  
Alternatively, for Finnish tax purposes resident individuals and estates may, in lieu of applying the actual acquisition costs, 
choose to apply a so-called presumptive acquisition cost, which is 20 per cent of the sales price or, in the case of shares 
which have been held for at least ten years, 50 per cent of the sales price. When a shareholder sells his or her Shares which 
have been subscribed for in the Offering, the date of acquisition of the Shares is deemed to be the date of acquisition of the 
underlying shares based on which the Subscription Rights were received. If the presumptive acquisition cost is used instead 
of the actual acquisition cost, any sales related expenses are deemed to be included in the presumptive acquisition cost and 
may, therefore, not be deducted separately.  
  
When a shareholder sells his or her Subscription Rights without subscribing for Shares in the Offering, the acquisition cost 
of the Subscription Rights is zero. The date of acquisition for the Subscription Rights is deemed to be the date of acquisition 
of the shares entitling to the Subscription Rights. Subsequently, the presumptive acquisition cost of 20 per cent or, if the 
underlying Shares were owned for ten years or more, of 50 per cent is used in calculating the capital gains resulting from the 
sales of Subscription Rights. However, in case the seller has bought the Subscription Rights, the seller may choose whether 
the presumptive acquisition cost of 20 per cent (or 50 per cent) is used or whether the acquisition cost is deemed to be the 
aggregate of acquisition cost of the Subscription Rights and the sales related expenses. Entities are not entitled to use the 
presumptive acquisition cost.  
  
If the Shares have been subscribed for based on purchased Subscription Rights the acquisition date of the Shares shall be the 
date when the Subscription Rights have been acquired. The said date shall also determine the amount of applicable amount 
of presumptive acquisition cost. If the seller wishes to use the actual acquisition costs the capital gains or losses  shall be 
calculated by deducting the acquisition cost of both the Subscription Rights and the Shares and sales related expenses from 
the sales price.  
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Any such capital gain is taxed at a rate of 29 per cent for the financial year 2003. Should the investor be an natural person or 
an estate the possible capital losses arising from the sale of Shares or Subscription Rights are deductible only from capital 
gains arising in the same year and during the following three years. Since capital losses relating to the sale of the Shares or 
the Subscription Rights are not deductible from any other capital income than from capital gains, they will not be taken into 
account when calculating the capital income deficit set forth in Section 60 of the Income Tax Act. Thus, capital losses do 
not affect the amount of the deficit-credit deductible from the taxes under the deficit-crediting scheme. Natural persons who 
are residents for Finnish tax purposes must report in their tax return (Form 9A) any sales of securities made during the tax 
year.  
  
Non-residents who are not generally liable for tax in Finland will normally not be subject to Finnish taxes on capital gains 
realized in the transfer of shares of a Finnish company, unless the capital gains realized in the transfer of shares relate to 
business carried on in Finland by a foreign seller. In such case, the foreign seller is regarded to have a permanent 
establishment in Finland for income tax purposes. Transfers of the shares by non-residents by way of gift or by reason of the 
death of the owner are subject to Finnish gift or inheritance tax, respectively, if either the transferor or the transferee was a 
resident of Finland at the time of death or when the gift was given. Inheritance tax treaties may limit the taxation of 
inheritance received by a non-resident in Finland.  
  
The shares are included in the taxable net wealth of individuals resident in Finland, Finnish estates and Finnish legal entities 
that are subject to net wealth tax. Most Finnish legal entities are, however, exempt from net wealth tax. The Shares of a 
listed company are valued for net wealth tax purposes at 70 per cent of their market value at the end of the relevant tax year.  
  
While non-resident individuals and legal entities are generally subject to net wealth tax in Finland on their Finnish net 
assets, the Shares will not be included in the tax base when computing such tax liability of a non-resident, unless the Shares 
are related to the business of a permanent establishment located in Finland. Tax treaties may limit the taxation of wealth of 
non-residents.  
  
The rate of net wealth tax is currently EUR 80 plus 0.9 per cent of net wealth exceeding EUR 185 000. Should the 
individual’s net wealth not exceed a threshold of EUR 185 000, no tax will be levied. The threshold for non-Finnish 
residents is currently EUR 135 000.  
  

13.7 Finnish transfer tax  

  
There is no transfer tax payable in Finland on share transfers or sales of Subscription Rights made on the Helsinki 
Exchanges. If the transfer or sale of Subscription Rights is not made on the Helsinki Exchanges, a transfer tax at the rate of 
1.6 per cent of the relevant sales price is payable by the buyer. However, if the buyer is neither a resident of Finland nor a 
Finnish branch of a foreign credit institution nor a Finnish branch of a foreign investment firm, the seller must collect the 
tax from the buyer. If neither the buyer nor the seller is a resident of Finland or a Finnish branch or office of a foreign credit 
institution or a Finnish branch of a foreign investment firm, the transfer of shares will be exempt from Finnish transfer tax. 
Where a Finnish securities dealer, or credit institution, or the Finnish branch office of a foreign securities dealer, or a 
foreign credit institution is used as a broker in the transaction, such broker is liable to collect and pay the transfer tax on 
behalf of the buyer. No transfer tax is payable in connection with the issuance of new shares.  
  

13.8 Taxation of Finnish limited liability companies   

  
Any sales price from the sale of Shares or Subscription Rights is generally included in the ordinary corporate income of a 
Finnish company. The acquisition cost of the Shares or Subscription Rights is similarly deductible from corporate income. 
Capital losses pertaining to business assets are fully deductible from taxable income in the same year and the subsequent ten 
years. The applicable corporate tax rate is currently 29 per cent.  
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14. ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION OF SUOMINEN CORPORATION 

1 § Name and domicile 

The name of the Company is Suominen Yhtymä Oyj and in English Suominen Corporation. The Company's domicile is 
Tampere. 

2 § The Company's Field of Operations  

The field of operations of the Company is to practise, either directly or through subsidiaries or partnership companies, 
industrial activity and trade related to nonwoven materials, heavy webbings and narrow fabrics and packaging as well as 
other corresponding industrial activity and trade. The Company's field of operations is also the management and financing 
services of the Group. The Company may trade in securities and practise other investment activity. 

3 § Minimum and maximum share capital and the number of shares 

The minimum share capital of the Company is five million (5 000 000) euros and the maximum share capital is twenty 
million (20 000 000) euros within which limits the share capital can be increased or decreased without amending the 
Articles of Association. 

The Company has a minimum of ten million (10 000 000) and a maximum of forty million (40 000 000) shares within 
which limits the number of shares may be increased or decreased without amending the Articles of Association. The shares 
do not have a nominal value. 

4 § Book-entry system 

The Company’s shares are incorporated in the book-entry system. 

The right to receive funds distributed from the Company and the right to subscription in an increase of share capital shall 
belong only to a person/institution: 

who has been entered in the shareholder register as a shareholder on the record date;  

whose right to performance has been registered in the shareholder register on the record date; or 

in case the share is registered in the name of a nominee, whose book-entry account the share is registered in on the record 
date and whose custodian of the shares has been entered in the shareholder register as the custodian of the share on the 
record date. 

5 § Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors shall be responsible for the management of the Company and for the proper arrangement of the 
Company's operations. The Board of Directors shall consist of no less than three (3) and no more than seven (7) members 
elected by the General Meeting of Shareholders. 

The term of the members of the Board of Directors expires at the end of the second Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders following his/her election. Half of the members of the Board of Directors, or a smaller or higher amount 
nearest corresponding it, resigns annually. Should the fulfilment of the rotation in resigning require that one or some 
members of the Board of Directors resign before the end of their term, that General Meeting of Shareholders, which elects 
the members of the Board of Directors, shall simultaneously decide whose term of the members of Board of Directors is 
shorter than regularly.  

No person who is 70 years of age or older can be elected to the Board of Directors. 

The Board of Directors elects from among its members a chairman and a vice chairman of the Board of Directors.  
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6 § Managing Director 

The Company has a Managing Director who is elected by the Board of Directors. 

7 § Auditors 

The Company has a minimum of one (1) auditor and a maximum of two (2) auditors and one (1) deputy auditor. At least 
one of the ordinary auditors shall be an entity of Certified Public Accountants or individual approved by the Finnish Central 
Chamber of Commerce. Should an entity approved by the Central Chamber of Commerce become elected as auditor, no 
deputy auditor is elected. The term of the auditors shall be the financial year of the Company and the duties of the auditors 
expire at the end of the first Annual General Meeting of Shareholders following the election. 

8 § Signing of company name 

The Company's name is signed by the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director, both alone, or by two 
members of the Board of Directors together. The Board of Directors may authorise persons employed by the Company to 
sign the Company name so that such persons sign the Company name two together or each of them together with a member 
of the Board of Directors. 

9 § Procuration 

Any authorisation for signing the Company's name per procuram will be decided by the Board of Directors. 

10 § Financial year 

The financial year of the Company shall be the calendar year. 

11 § Annual General Meeting of Shareholders  

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders shall be held annually by the end of April on the date decided by the Board of 
Directors. The General Meeting of Shareholders shall be held in the Company's domicile or, if the Board of Directors so 
decides, in Helsinki. 

12 § Invitation to Genera l Meeting of Shareholders 

The invitation to the General Meeting of Shareholders shall be published in one newspaper in the Company's domicile, not 
earlier than two months prior to the General Meeting of Shareholders and not later than one week before the date referred to 
in Chapter 3a, Section 11 of the Companies Act. 

13 § Informing of participation in General Meeting of Shareholders 

In order to participate in the General Meeting of Shareholders, a shareholder must inform the Company of the participation 
at the latest on the date mentioned in the invitation. The date may not be earlier than ten (10) days before the General 
Meeting of Shareholders. 

At the General Meeting of Shareholders, no shareholder may cast more than one fifth (1/5) of the total number of votes 
represented at the General Meeting of Shareholders. 

14 § Issues at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 

At the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders shall be presented: 1. the financial statements and the consolidated financial 
statements; 2. the auditor’s report; shall be resolved on: 3. the adoption of the statement of income and the balance sheet and 
of the consolidated statement of income and the balance sheet of the group; 4. any measures warranted by the profit or loss 
shown in the adopted balance sheet; 5. the discharge from liability to the members of the Board of Directors and to the 
Managing Director; 6. the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors and the auditor; 7. the number of the 
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members of the Board of Directors; shall be elected: 8. the members of the Board of Directors; and 9. the auditors, and 
when necessary, a deputy auditor. 

15 § Redemption obligation 

A shareholder, whose ownership interest of all shares of the Company or of all votes of the shares - either alone or together 
with other shareholders as determined below - reaches or exceeds 33 1/3 per cent or 50 per cent (the Shareholder subject to 
redemption obligation), has the obligation to redeem the shares and other securities that, under the Companies Act, entitle to 
shares that are held by the other shareholders (the Shareholders entitled to redemption), at their request and in accordance 
with the provisions of this Clause. 

When calculating the ownership interest of a shareholder of all shares of the Company and of the votes provided by them, 
also the following shares shall be included: 

the shares owned by a corporation belonging according to the Finnish Companies Act to the same group as the shareholder, 

shares that are owned by an undertaking that, when preparing consolidated financial statements under the Finnish 
Accounting Act, is considered to belong to the same group as the shareholder, 

shares that are owned by the pension foundations or pension funds of the corporations and undertakings referred to above, 
and 

shares that are owned by a corporation or undertaking not domiciled in Finland that, if it were domiciled in Finland, would 
be considered to belong as mentioned above to the same group as the shareholder. 

When the obligation to purchase arises due to the aggregate ownership interests or aggregate votes, the Shareholders subject 
to redemption obligation shall be jointly and severally liable for the completion of the redemption with respect to the 
Shareholders entitled to redemption. A request for redemption that is made in such circumstances, shall be deemed to have 
been given to all Shareholders entitled to redemption even without a separate request. 

If two shareholders reach or exceed the limit of ownership interest or votes creating redemption obligation in such a way 
that both shareholders are obligated to redemption simultaneously, a Shareholder entitled to redemption is entitled to request 
redemption separately from either such Shareholder subject to redemption obligation. 

The redemption obligation does not apply to shares or securities entitling to shares, which the Shareholder entitled to 
redemption has acquired after the obligation to redemption has arisen. 

Redemption Price 

The redemption price of the shares shall be the higher of the following: 

the weighted average of the quotations of the share at the Helsinki Exchanges in the last ten (10) trading days before the 
date when the Company was notified by the Shareholder subject to redemption obligation of the reaching or exceeding of 
the limit for ownership interest or votes referred to above, or if the Shareholder subject to redemption obligation fails to 
notify the Company within the prescribed time limit or fails to do so entirely, when it came otherwise to the knowledge of 
the Board of Directors; 

the average price weighted by the amount of shares, which price the Shareholder subject to redemption obligation has paid 
for the shares he/she has acquired or otherwise received during the last twelve (12) months prior to the date referred to in (a) 
above. 

If the consideration for any acquisition affecting the average price is denominated in any other currency than euros, such 
consideration shall be converted into euros by using the exchange rate determined by the European Central Bank for such 
currency seven (7) days prior to the date when the Board of Directors informs the shareholders about the possibility of 
redemption. 
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The above provisions regarding the determination of a redemption price of shares shall also be applied when determining 
the redemption price for other securities to be redeemed. 

Redemption Procedure  

The Shareholder subject to redemption obligation shall notify the Board of Directors of the redemption obligation in writ ing 
to the address of the Company no later than seven (7) days after such obligation arose. The notification shall include details 
of the shares held by the Shareholder subject to redemption obligation and the quantity and the price of the shares acquired 
or otherwise received by the Shareholder subject to redemption obligation during the last twelve (12) preceding months. 
The notification shall include an address where the Shareholder subject to redemption obligation can be reached. 

The Board of Directors shall inform the shareholders of the arising of the redemption obligation within 30 days of the date 
when it received the notification referred to above about the exceeding of the limits of ownership interest or votes, or, if 
such notification is not delivered or is delivered after the prescribed time limit, of the date when the Board of Directors 
otherwise became aware of the arising of the redemption obligation. 

The notification shall include the details of the time when the redemption obligation has arisen and information regarding 
determination grounds of the redemption price to the extent that the Board of Directors possesses such information, and the 
date by which the request for redemption must be made at the latest. 

The communication to shareholders shall be given by following the provisions regarding invitation to General Meeting of 
Shareholders in Clause 12 of the Articles of Association. 

The Shareholder entitled to redemption shall request redemption within 30 days of the date when the communication of the 
Board of Directors concerning the redemption obligation was published. 

The request for redemption, which is delivered to the Company, shall specify the number of shares and other securities that 
the Shareholder entitled to redemption  requests to be redeemed. The Shareholder entitled to redemption  shall deliver to the 
Company the possible share certificates or other documents entitling to receive shares together with his request, for 
purposes of delivery to the Shareholder subject to redemption obligation against payment of the redemption price. 

If the request has not been presented within the set time limit as prescribed above, the right of a shareholder to request 
redemption shall expire concerning the redemption situation in question. The Shareholder entitled to redemption has the 
right to cancel his request for redemption as long as no redemption has been completed. 

When the period allowed for the Shareholders entitled to redemption has expired, the Board of Directors shall notify the 
Shareholder subject to redemption obligation of the requests for redemption that have been presented. 

Within 14 days of receipt of the notification of requests for redemption, the Shareholder subject to redemption obligation 
shall pay the redemption price in a manner prescribed by the Company against delivery of the shares and other securities 
entitling to them or, if the shares which are to be redeemed have been registered on the book-entry accounts of shareholders 
in question, against a receipt given by the Company, in which case the Company shall ensure that the redeemed shares are 
immediately registered on the book-entry account of the Shareholder subject to redemption obligation. 

A redemption price that has not been paid within the prescribed time limit, shall accrue an overdue interest at the rate of 16 
per cent per annum from the date when the redemption price should have been paid at the latest. If the Shareholder subject 
to redemption obligation has also failed to observe the provisions regarding obligation to notify as provided above, the 
overdue interest shall accrue from the last date when the obligation to notify should have been fulfilled. 

If a Shareholder subject to redemption obligation fails to observe the provisions of this Clause, the shares that such 
Shareholder subject to redemption obligation holds and the shares that are included in the calculation of his proportion of 
shares establishing the redemption obligation as described above in this Clause, entitle their holders to cast votes in the 
General Meetings of Shareholders of the Company only for the part that the amount of votes given by those shares is less 
than one third (1/3) or correspondingly less than 50 per cent of aggregated votes of all shares of the Comp any. 
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Other Provisions 

The redemption obligation referred to in this Clause shall not apply to a shareholder who proves that his ownership interest 
or votes establishing redemption obligation has been reached or exceeded before the date when this provision in the Articles 
of Association was registered in the Trade Register. 

Any disputes arising in connection with the redemption obligation, the right to request redemption and calculation of the 
redemption price shall be resolved in arbitration in accordance with the Arbitration Act (967/92). 

The arbitration proceedings shall be subject to Finnish law. 
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15. AUDITOR’S STATEMENT 

  
  
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Suominen included in this offering memorandum for the financial 
periods January 1 – December 31, 2002 and October 1 – December 31, 2001 as well as the accounting records and corporate 
governance of the Company, and we have issued an auditor's report for these periods. The auditor's reports given for the 
financial periods mentioned above are unqualified. In addition, we have reviewed the pro forma financial statements related 
to the demerger of Lassila & Tikanoja plc (registered as of September 30, 2001) for the years ending December 31, 2001 
and 2000, and they are comparable to the official financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002. During our 
review, we became aware of nothing that would give us reason to believe that the pro forma information would not give, for 
its essentials, a true and fair view of the results of operations and of the financial position of the group established in the 
demerger. 
 
We also give our opinion on the Suominen pro forma financial information that is described on pages 11-13 of this offering 
memorandum and that is meant to illustrate how the acquisition of Codi could have affected the financial information, if it 
had taken place at the time described in the pro forma information. 
 
The management of the Company is responsible for the pro forma financial information prepared in accordance with the 
Statement K/45/2002/PMO issued by the Finnish Financial Supervision Authorities. According to this statement it is our 
duty to give an auditor's statement on the pro forma financial information on the basis of our review. We have conducted 
our review in accordance with the instruction "Accountant's reporting of pro forma financial information" given by the 
Finnish Institute of Authorised Public Accountants. We have thus compared the unadjusted financial information included 
in the pro forma financial information to the correspondent financial statements and interim financial information of 
Suominen and Codi, assessed pro forma adjustments on the basis of related source material as well as examined the contents 
of the presented pro forma information together with the management of Suominen. We have not performed an audit of the 
pro forma financial information and accordingly we do not express an auditor's opinion. 
 
In our opinion: 
§ the pro forma financial information has been compiled on the basis stated on pages 11-13 of this offering 

memorandum 
§ such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of Suominen in all material respects  
§ the pro forma adjustments are appropriate for the purposes of the pro forma financial information as disclosed 

pursuant to Financial Supervision's Statement mentioned above. 
 
Tampere, October 28, 2003 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy 
Authorised Public Accountants  
 
 
Heikki Lassila 
Authorised Public Accountant 
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AUDITORS' REPORT FOR SUOMINEN'S FINANCIA L PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 

 

AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Shareholders of Suominen Corporation 

We have audited the accounting, the financial statements and the corporate governance of  Suominen Corporation for the 
period January 1 - December 31, 2002. The financial statements, which include the report of the Board of Directors, 
consolidated and parent company income statements, balance sheets and notes to the financial statements, have been 
prepared by the Board of Directors and the President and CEO. Based on our audit we express an opinion on these financial 
statements and on corporate governance.  

We have conducted the audit in accordance with Finnish Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the management as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. The purpose of our audit of corporate governance is to examine that the me mbers of the Board of 
Directors and the President and CEO have legally complied with the rules of the Companies' Act.  

In our opinion the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Act and other rules and 
regulations governing the preparation of financial statements. The financial statements give a true and fair view, as defined 
in the Accounting Act, of both the consolidated and parent company's result of operations as well as of the financial 
position. The financial statements with the consolidated financial statements can be adopted and the members of the Board 
of Directors and the President and CEO of the parent company can be discharged from liability for the period audited by us. 
The proposal by the Board of Directors regarding the distributable assets is in compliance with the Co mpanies' Act.  

Tampere, February 11, 2003 

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS OY 
Authorised Public Accountants  
 
Heikki Lassila 
Authorised Public Accountant 
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AUDITORS' REPORT FOR SUOMINEN'S FINANCIA L PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 

 

AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Shareholders of J.W. Suominen Group plc 

We have audited the accounting, the financial statements and the corporate governance of J.W. Suominen Group plc for the 
period October 1 - December 31, 2001. The financial statements, which include the report of the Board of Directors, 
consolidated and parent company income statements, balance sheets and notes to the financial statements, have been 
prepared by the Board of Directors and the President and CEO. Based on our audit we express an opinion on these financial 
statements and on corporate governance.  

We have conducted the audit in accordance with Finnish Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the management as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. The purpose of our audit of corporate governance is to examine that the me mbers of the Board of 
Directors and the President and CEO have legally complied with the rules of the Companies' Act.  

In our opinion the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Accounting Act and other rules and 
regulations governing the preparation of financial statements. The financial statements give a true and fair view, as defined 
in the Accounting Act, of both the consolidated and parent company's result of operations as well as of the financial 
position. The financial statements with the consolidated financial statements can be adopted and the members of the Board 
of Directors and the President and CEO of the parent company can be discharged from liability for the period audited by us. 
The proposal by the Board of Directors regarding the distributable assets is in compliance with the Co mpanies' Act.  

Tampere, February 14, 2002 

SVH PRICEWATERHOUSE COOPERS OY 
Authorized Public Accountants  
 
Heikki Lassila 
Authorized Public Accountant 
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AUDITORS' REPORT FOR CODI’S FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 

 

Auditor's Report 

Introduction 

We have audited the annual accounts of Codi International B.V., in Veenendaal, for the year 2002. These annual accounts 
are the responsibility of the company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual accounts 
based on our audit. 

Scope 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the Netherlands. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
annual accounts. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the annual accounts. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the annual accounts give a true and fair view of the financial position of the company as at December 31, 
2002, and of the result for the year 2002 in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the Netherlands and 
comply with the financial reporting requirements included in Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. 

Arnhem, January 23, 2003 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. 
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AUDITORS' REPORT FOR CODI’S FINANCIAL PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 

 

Auditor's Report 

Introduction 

We have audited the annual accounts of Codi International B.V., in Veenendaal, for the year 2001. These annual accounts 
are the responsibility of the company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these annual accounts 
based on our audit. 

Scope 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the Netherlands. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
annual accounts. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the annual accounts. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the annual accounts give a true and fair view of the financial position of the company as at December 31, 
2001, and of the result for the year 2001 in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the Netherlands and 
comply with the financial reporting requirements included in Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. 

Arnhem, April 18, 2002 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. 
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SUOMINEN CORPORATION'S INTERIM REPORT JANUARY 1 - SEPTEMBER 30, 2003 

 

SUOMINEN'S NET SALES AND FINANCIAL RESULTS DECLINED ON THE PREVIOUS YEAR 

Net sales: EUR 120.3 million (EUR 129.0 million Jan.1 - Sept.30, 2002) 
Operating profit: EUR 11.0 million (EUR 12.3 million) 
Earnings/share: EUR  0.43 (EUR 0.46) 
Cash flow from operations/share: EUR 1.02 (EUR 1.08) 
Return on invested capital (ROI):  13.8 % (14.7 %) 
Prospects for the remainder of the year: Net sales for the entire year will exceed those of last year due to the acquisition of 
Codi. The financial results are not expected to reach the level of 2002. 

 

FINANCIAL RESULTS 

Suominen Corporation's profit before taxes for the nine-month period  was EUR 9.4 million (10.4). Other operating income 
and expenses  include a net amount of +2.1 million euros consisting of a gain from the sale of the property in Turku used by 
the Webbing Products business area less the costs of reorganising the operations. 

The Nonwovens business area recorded an operating profit of EUR 5.7 million (9.3), Flexible Packaging an operating profit 
of EUR 3.0 million (3.9), and Webbing Products an operating profit of EUR -0.3 million (-0.6). 

The financial results and profitability of Nonwovens declined on the previous year. Year-on-year net sales were down. 
Growth in demand for the nonwovens manufactured by Suominen has slowed down and competition in the sector in Europe 
has increased on last year. Sales of hydroentangled material used in wiping, hygiene, and health care products were als o 
down from 2002. Financial performance for the period under review was adversely affected by the high prices for plastics 
during the early months of the year. Prices for oil-based raw materials fell from May through August, but picked up again 
from the beginning of September. Production efficiency declined due to low capacity utilisation rates and an uneven load on 
production. Production in the business area was adjusted to current demand at the end of the period. 

Net sales of Flexible Packaging were down 3.5 % from those of last year. Financial results deteriorated due to reduced sales 
and higher raw material costs during the first half of the year. Due to the structure of contracts, these cost increases were not 
passed on to sales prices until the third quarter with a partial effect. Sales of packaging for food products, hygiene products, 
and the retail sector were on the level of the previous year. Sales of special products declined a year-on-year. Sales in Russia 
and Poland continued to increase. The cost reduction programme in the business area proceeded according to plan. It is 
estimated that a good half million euros will be saved in comparison with 2002. 

Webbing Products continued to show a loss. Thanks to cost cuts made in the business area the loss was smaller than that of 
the previous year. Sales of narrow fabrics declined on the previous year.  Sales of materials handling products also 
decreased, as demand remained slack. 

CHANGES IN GROUP STRUCTURE 

Suominen Corporation signed on 21 August 2003 an agreement in principle regarding the acquisition of the shares of the 
Dutch company Codi International B.V. from its management and the private equity firm Gilde. The acquisition was 
finalised on 2 October 2003. The debt free acquisition price is around 62 million euros and the final value will be 
determined on the basis of the company's EBITDA for 2003 and 2004. 

Codi is the third largest converter of wet wipes in Europe. The company is contract manufacturer to leading brand houses 
and retail chains. In 2002, the company recorded net sales of 85.2 million euros, operating profit of 6.7 million euros, and a 
post-tax profit of 4.1 million euros. It had an average staff of 346 employees. Net sales in 2003 are expected to be about 100 
million euros. Half of the net sales derive from baby care products and the remainder is divided mainly  between personal 
care and home care. 
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The company’s operations will supplement those of Suominen when manufacture and converting of nonwovens will be 
combined in the same group. The product range will expand, which permits a stronger and more comprehensive input in 
sales and product development. The benefits of synergy will be obtained through deliveries of nonwovens within the Group. 
Flexible Packaging will also have opportunities for internal deliveries. 

As a result of the acquisition Suominen’s pro forma net sales for 2002 are 258 million euros and correspondingly, 128 
million euros for the first six months of 2003. Pro forma balance sheet total as per 30 June 2003 is 215 million euros. The 
pro forma number of employees for the year 2002 is 1 450. The group goodwill provided by the acquisition is expected to 
be at the level of 37 million euros. 

As a result of the acquisition, Suominen’s Group structure will change so that the business areas are Suominen Wet Wipes 
(Codi), Suominen Nonwovens and Suominen Flexible Packaging. Webbing Products will become part of the Group’s other 
business operations.  

Suominen Corporation’s Management Group was expanded to include Mr. Sakari Santa-Paavola, Vice President in charge 
of purchasing and logistics as of October 1, 2003, and Mr. Boudewijn Lindner, Vice President in charge of the Wet Wipes 
business area as of October 3, 2003.  

FINANCING 

Interest-bearing liabilities totalled EUR 43.5 million or EUR 5.9 million less than the previous year. Net financial costs 
were EUR 1.6 million (EUR 1.9 million). They were 1.4 per cent (1.5 %) of net sales and 14.9 per cent (15.3 %) of 
operating profit. Working capital increased by EUR 2.3 million in accordance with the cash flow statement. The equity ratio 
was 45.5 per cent (44.4 %). The ratio of interest-bearing net liabilities to shareholders’ equity (the gearing rate) was 65.7 per 
cent as opposed to 74.7 per cent a year earlier. Cash flow per share from operations was EUR 1.02 (1.08). 

The acquisition of Codi described above was financed at the beginning of October with bridging bank credit that is intended 
to be converted to equity, capital loans and long-term bank loans. 

INVESTMENTS 

The Company’s gross investments in production totalled EUR 5.3 million (EUR 6.5 million). Planned depreciation was 
EUR 10.8 million (11.8). Of the total investments Nonwovens represented EUR 2.1 million and Flexible Packaging EUR 
2.8 million. The Nonwovens business unit modernised the fourth hydroentanglement line. The modernisation will improve 
product quality and increase the efficiency of production. In Flexible Packaging, expansion of the plant in Poland began. 
Printing and converting capacity will be doubled. The total investment amounts to a good 7 million euros, of which 
approximately one million have been used to date. The investment is scheduled for completion in May 2004. 

COMPANY SHARES  

The volume of Suominen Corporation's shares traded on Helsinki Exchanges from January through September was 2 228 
792 shares or 14.1 per cent of the total. The trading price of the shares varied between EUR 5.35 and 7.90. The final trading 
price was EUR 7.75. The market capitalisation was EUR 122.4 million on September 30, 2003. 

OWN SHARES OF THE COMPANY 

On January 1, 2003, the Company held 44 200 of its own shares, with an acquisition value of 5.22 euros per share.  
According to the authorisation received by the Board of Directors in 2002, the Company conveyed 5 907 of its own shares 
between January 1 and March 31, 2003. The average price of the conveyed shares was EUR 6.71. On September 30, 2003 
Suominen Corporation held a total of 38 293 of its own shares, accounting for 0.2 per cent of the share capital and votes. 

The Annual General Meeting held on 12th March 2003 authorised the Board of Directors to decide on the acquisition of the 
Company's own shares within one year from the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders using assets available for 
distribution of profits, provided that the par value of the shares of the Company and it's subsidiaries thus acquired, 
combined with the par value of own shares acquired previously by the Company and its subsidiaries, does not exceed 5 per 
cent of the Company’s total share capital at the moment of acquisition. The authorisation can be used in possible business 
acquisitions, to finance investments, to carry out incentive programmes and for other purposes. 
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The Annual General Meeting also authorised the Board of Directors to decide on the conveyance of the Company’s own 
shares. 

The Board of Directors has not exercised its authorisation in the period under review. 

OTHER AUTHORISATION FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

The Board of Directors is not currently authorised to issue shares or to launch a convertible bond or a bond with warrants. 

EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 

The Board of Directors of Suominen Corporation has on 2 October 2003 decided to convene an Extraordinary General 
Meeting of Shareholders of Suominen Corporation to be held on Wednesday 22 October 2003. 

The Board of Directors proposes to the General Meeting of shareholders that the Board of Directors be authorised within 
one year from the General Meeting of Shareholders to pass a resolution on the increase of the share capital in a new issue by 
issuing a maximum amount of 7,913,154 shares to be subscribed by the shareholders in one or several lots. The maximum 
amount of the increase of the share capital is EUR 3,956,577. The book value of the shares is EUR 0.50. The shares shall be 
issued to the shareholders in proportion to their prior holdings of shares in the company. The Board of Directors shall have 
the right to decide the subscription price of the new shares and the other terms and conditions of the new issue. 

Further, the Board of Directors proposes to the General Meeting of shareholders that an extra dividend of EUR 0.70 per 
share or a total maximum amount of 11,051,610.50 euros be paid for the financial year ended 31 December 2002. 

OUTLOOK FOR THE REMAINDER OF THE YEAR 

The uncertainty of the world economy has affected overall consumer demand and hence sales of Suominen’s products. 
Growth this year will be slower than that to which Suominen’s business areas are accustomed.  

Suominen’s net sales for 2003 are expected to increase on 2002 thanks to the acquisition of Codi. The net sales of Suominen 
Wet Wipes (Codi) are expected to total approximately 100 million euros in 2003, some 25 million euros of which will be 
consolidated in the Suominen Corporation. On the basis of contracts with key Nonwovens customers and the customers' 
own updated estimates of need, sales for the entire year by Nonwovens will probably be down 10 per cent on last year. In 
Flexible Packaging, sales for the entire year are estimated to be on the level of the previous year. Sales are expected to 
increase particularly in Russia and East Central Europe and to decrease slightly in Finland. In other business operations, 
sales for the entire year are expected to remain on the level of 2002. 

Special attention will be focused on the cost effectiveness of Suominen’s operations and measures to improve the cost 
structure will continue. Suominen’s financial results for the entire year are expected to fall short of the 2002 figure. The 
acquisition of Codi is not expected to affect essentially earnings per share for the current year, and Suominen’s financial 
results for 2003 are expected to be down on those of the previous year. Beginning in 2004, the acquisition for its part is 
expected to significantly improve the group's financial results.  
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SUOMINEN CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED JANUARY 1 - SEPTEMBER 30, 2003 

STATEMENT OF INCOME 

1 000 €  1-9 
/2003 

% 1-9/ 
2002 

% Change 
% 

1-12 
/2002 

% 

Net sales 120 288 100.0 128 974 100.0 -6.7 174 810 100,0 
Cost of goods sold -104 826 -87.1 -109 661 -85.0 -4.4 -147 752 -84.5 
Gross profit 15 462 12.9 19 313 15.0 -19.9 27 058 15.5 
Sales and marketing expenses -3 391 -2.8 -3 250 -2.5  -4 432 -2.5 
Administration expenses  -3 641 -3.0 -4 263 -3.3  -5 982 -3.4 
Other operating income and expenses 2 597 2.2 479 0.4  765 0.4 
Depreciation on goodwill  
 

-5 0.0 -12 0.0  -13 0.0 

Operating profit 11 022 9.2 12 267 9.5 -10.1 17 396 10.0 
Financial income and expenses  -1 643 -1.4 -1 883 -1.5 -12.7 -2 335 -1.3 
Profit before income taxes 9 379 7.8 10 384 8.1 -9.7 15 061 8.6 
Income taxes* -2 552 -2.1 -3 038 -2.4  -4 242 -2.4 
Profit for the period 6 827 5.7 7 346 5.7 -7.1 10 819 6.2 

* Taxes on the profit for the period under review 

BALANCE SHEET 

1 000 € 9/2003 9/2002 12/2002 
ASSETS     
Fixed assets     
  Intangible assets  415 478 443 
  Tangible assets  81 364 91 194 89 311 
  Financial assets  686 415 555 
Fixed assets, total 
 

82 465 92 087 90 309 

Current assets     
  Inventories 18 092 17 466 18 600 
  Current receivables 24 305 23 802 24 469 
  Cash at bank and in hand 4 847 3 876 3 629 
Current assets, total 
 

47 244 45 144 46 698 

Assets, total 129 709 137 231 137 007 
    
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    
Shareholders’ equity    
  Share capital 7 913 7 913 7 913 
  Own shares 200 32 231 
  Other restricted equity 10 648 10 648 10 648 
  Equity in untaxed reserves 17 840  20 454 20 003 
  Other unrestricted equity 22 585 21 928 25 735 
Shareholders’ equity, total 
 

59 186 60 975 64 530 

Liabilities    
Deferred tax liability 9 212 10 285 10 153 
Non-current liabilities 27 755 26 190 30 734 
Current liabilities 33 556 39 781 31 590 
Liabilities, total 
 

70 523 76 256 72 477 

Shareholders' equity and liabilities, total 129 709 137 231 137 007 
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KEY FIGURES 

 9/2003 9/2002 12/2002 
Earnings/s hare, € 0.43 0.46 0.68 
Equity/share, € 3.74 3.85 4.07 
Cash flow from operations/share, € 1.02 1.08 1.38 
Return on equity, % (ROE) 15.5 16.5 17.9 
Return on invested capital, % (ROI) 13.8 14.7 15.6 
Equity ratio, % 45.5 44.4 47.1 
Gearing, % 65.7 74.7 66.5 
    
Gross investments, 1 000 € 5 262 6 533 8 043 
Depreciation, 1 000 € 10 763 11 836 15 618 

 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

1 000 € 1-9/2003 1-9/2002 1-12/2002 
Cash flow before change in working capital 18 945 24 018 32 885 
Change in working capital 2 264 -1 504 -3 057 
Financial items and taxes -5 181 -5 474 -8 072 
Cash flow from operations 
 

16 028 17 040 21 756 

Investments  -5 384 -6 344 -8 169 
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  4 420 285 182 
Cash flow from investing activities 
 

-964 -6 059 -7 987 

Dividends paid -11 034 -6 341 -6 332 
Change in interest-bearing liabilities -2 825 -2 417 -5 461 
Effect of exchange rate changes  13 -437 -437 
Change in cash and cash equivalents  1 218 1 786 1 539 

 

FIGURES BY BUSINESS AREA 

Net sales 
1 000 € 

1-9/2003 1-9/2002 Change % 1-12/2002 

     
Nonwovens 59 306 65 807 -9.9 89 416 
Flexible Packaging 51 407 53 251 -3.5 72 118 
Webbing Products  9 485 9 831 -3.5 13 158 
Other* 90 85  118 
Total 120 288 128 974 -6.7 174 810 

 

Operating profit    
1 000 € 1-9/2003 % of net sales 1-9/2002 % of net sales 1-12/2002 % of net sales 
       
Nonwovens 5 732 9.7 9 346 14.2 13 022 14.6 
Flexible Packaging 3 029 5.9 3 881 7.3 5 616 7.8 
Webbing Products  -283 -3.0 -600 -6.1 -683 -5.2 
Other* 2 544  -360  -559  
Total 11 022 9.2 12 267 9.5 17 396 10.0 

*Includes the parent company and consolidation items. 
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QUARTERLY RESULTS 

1 000 €  IV/2002 I/2003 II/2003 III/2003 IV/2002- 
III/2003 

Net sales      
Nonwovens 23 609 20 953 18 412 19 941 82 915 
Flexible Packaging 18 867 17 384 17 372 16 651 70 274 
Webbing Products  3 327 3 307 3 193 2 985 12 812 
Other* 33 28 3 59 123 
 
Net sales, total 

 
45 836 

 
41 672 

 
38 980 

 
39 636 

 
166 124 

 
Operating profit 

     

Nonwovens 3 676 2 468 1 129 2 135 9 408 
  % of net sales  15.6 11.8 6.1 10.7 11.3 
Flexible Packaging 1 735 1 118 671 1 240 4 764 
  % of net sales  9.2 6.4 3.9 7.4 6.8 
Webbing Products  -83 -9 -205 -69 -366 
  % of net sales  -2.5 -0.3 -6.4 -2.3 -2.9 
Other* -199 221 28 2 295 2 345 
 
Operating profit total 

 
5 129 

 
3 798 

 
1 623 

 
5 601 

 
16 151 

  % of net sales  11.2 9.1 4.2 14.1 9.7 
 
Net financial expenses 

 
-452 

 
-545 

 
-541 

 
-557 

 
-2 095 

 
Profit before extraordinary items  

 
4 677 

 
3 253 

 
1 082 

 
5 044 

 
14 056 

* Includes the parent company and consolidation items. 

 

 
AVERAGE PERSONNEL  

2003 
9 months 

2002 
9 months 

2002 
12 months 

    
Nonwovens 229 252 248 
Flexible Packaging 628 651 652 
Webbing Products  147 156 155 
Product and Process Development 36 36 36 
Group Management and Administration 13 13 13 
Total 1 053 1 108 1 104 

 

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

1 000 €  9/2003 12/2002 
FOR OWN DEBTS   
Real estate mortgages 19 935 20 944 
Business mortgages 7 388 7 388 
   
OTHER OWN COMMITMENTS   
Leasing payments and commitments 156 154 
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DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS 

1 000 €  9/2003 12/2002 
CURRENCY DERIVATIVES   
Nominal value 7 312 8 506 
Current value -47 154 
   
INTEREST RATE DERIVATIVES   
Nominal value 23 200 20 200 
Current value -738 -706 
   
ELECTRICITY DERIVATIVES   
Nominal value 3 510 2 926 
Current value 512 1 093 

 

 

The figures have not been audited. 

 

Helsinki on October 21, 2003 

SUOMINEN CORPORATION 

Board of Directors 
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ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES OF THE PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION FOR THE YEARS 2000 
AND 2001 

 

Suominen was formed on September 30, 2001 when Lassila & Tikanoja plc demerged into two companies, Lassila & 
Tikanoja plc and J.W Suominen Corporation (currently Suominen Corporation). Consequently, no official financial 
statement information concerning the Co mpany for periods preceding September 30, 2001 is available. In this offering 
memorandum, the financial information of Suominen for the financial years 2000 - 2001 is given as pro forma financial 
information prepared as if Suominen had been an independent company during those periods. In the pro forma financial 
information, J.W. Suominen Group comprises the companies listed in the demerger plan, J.W Suominen Oy (currently 
Suominen Nonwovens Ltd.), Amerplast Oy (currently Suominen Flexible Packaging Ltd.) and Inka Oy (currently Suominen 
Webbing Products Ltd.). 

The pro forma financial information for the financial year 2000 is based on the financial statements of the Lassila & 
Tikanoja Group for the corresponding period. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared so that the total 
equities of the new groups to be formed correspond to the demerging group’s equity as per December 31, 2000. 

The pro forma financial information for 2001 is based on the financial statements of the demerged Lassila & Tikanoja 
Group for the period January 1 - September 30, 2001, and the financial statements of J.W. Suominen Corporation for the 
period October 1 - December 31, 2001. The consolidated financial statements of the new companies formed in the demerger 
have been prepared so that their combined shareholders' equities correspond to the equity of the demerged group as at 
September 30, 2001.   

The financial items in the profit and loss account of the parent company include imputed interest expenses. The taxes used 
as a basis for calculations are  in accordance with the current rates. The amount of fixed expenses from operations as an 
independent listed company entered in the profit and loss account of the parent company correspond to the actual expenses 
of the demerging company. The parent company balance sheet is in accordance  with the demerger plan. The group 
contributions of previous years have been taken into account in the parent company profit and loss account according to the 
post-demerger group structure. The new J.W. Suominen Group plc is considered to have paid a half of the dividends paid 
out by Lassila & Tikanoja plc in the past few years. 

The J.W. Suominen Group internal eliminations have been adjusted to correspond to the post-demerger group structure. 
Profits and losses from sales of shares entered in the books in the periods reviewed have been transferred from ‘Other 
operating income and expenses’ to ‘Extraordinary income and expenses’. 

The shares of Nordic Baltic Holding AB owned by J.W. Suominen Oy, which were sold on October 20, 2000, included an 
agreement on finance with Merita Bank Plc. These shares are considered to have been sold before the beginning of the 
review period. According to the agreement terms, the sale of these shares had no effect on the financial results or financing. 
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REPORT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR THE PERIOD JANUARY 1 - DECEMBER 31, 2002 

In 2002, Suominen Corporation recorded consolidated net sales of EUR 174.8 million *). Pre -tax profit totalled  EUR 15.1 
million compared with 9.3 million for the previous year. The return on invested capital improved and amounted to 15.6 per 
cent (10.3% in 2001). Suominen’s profitability was up, especially due to improved performance by Nonwovens. 
Investments totalled EUR 8.0 million. The consolidated equity ratio was 47.0 % and gearing 66.5 %.  

Earnings per share were EUR 0.68 (EUR 0.41). Cash flow from operations per share was EUR 1.38 (EUR 1.66). Payment 
of a dividend of EUR 0.70 per share is proposed by the Board of Directors  (EUR 0.40 per share in the previous year). 

Financial results 

Suominen's pre-tax  profit in 2002 was EUR 15.1 million  (9.3). Profit after taxes was EUR 10.8 million (6.5). 

The business area of Nonwovens recorded an operating profit of EUR  13.0 million (7.8) and Flexible Packaging EUR 5.6 
million (5.7). Webbing Products recorded an operating loss of EUR -0.7 million (-1.0). 

For Nonwovens, financial results and profitability rose. Sales volumes increased and cost effectiveness improved. Net sales 
grew by 5 % on the previous year. Sales of hydroentangled wiping product materials increased significantly especially in 
wet wipes. Sales of hygiene product materials fell on 2001 as a result of the reduced product range.  Two 
hydroentanglement lines were renewed during the year, which improved product quality and also increased capacity to 
some extent.   The prices of oil-based raw materials began to rise after a stable first quarter and did not level off until 
autumn. 

For Flexible Packaging, net sales as well as operating profit were on the previous year's level. Deliveries of packaging for 
hygiene products and food products increased. Deliveries to Russia and Poland increased substantially.  Deliveries of retail 
packaging declined. Measures to strengthen the cost structure were taken during the second half of the year. 

For Webbing Products, the financial results continued to be negative. Net sales fell by 19 % on the previous year. Sales 
volumes declined as a result of rationalisation of the company's operations and slack demand for materials handling 
products.  Savings achieved by adjustments of production were not adequate to offset the lower sales volumes.  

*) Suominen Corporation's figures in this Report are pro forma for the period of 2001 prior to the demerger of the former 
Lassila & Tikanoja plc.        

Net Sales and Operating Profit  

Net sales  
1 000 € 

January 1 - December 31, 2002 January 1 - December 31, 2001  
Pro forma 

Change % 

Nonwovens 89 416 85 264 +4.9 
Flexible Packaging 72 118 72 370 -0.3 
Webbing Products  13 158 16 328 -19.4 
Other* 118 153  
Total 174 810 174 115 +0.4 
    
Operating profit January 1 - December 31, 2002 January 1 - December 31, 2001 

Pro forma 
 1 000 €  % of net sales 1 000 € % of net sales 
     
Nonwovens 13 022 14.6 7 811 9.2 
Flexible Packaging 5 616 7.8 5 682 7.9 
Webbing Products  -683 -5.2 -986 -6.0 
Other* -559  -349  
Total 17 395 10.0 12 158 7.0 

*Includes consolidation items and the parent company. 
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Quarterly figures 

 
1 000 € 

 
I/2002 

 
II/2002 

 
 III/2002 

 
IV /2002 

 
I-IV/2002 

Net sales      
Nonwovens 20 460 21 991 23 356 23 609 89 416 
Flexible Packaging 17 614 18 285 17 352 18 867 72 118 
Webbing Products  3 338 3 570 2 923 3 327 13 158 
Other* 30 26 29 33 118 
 
Total 

 
41 442 

 
43 872 

 
43 660 

 
45 836 

 
174 810 

 
Operating profit 

     

Nonwovens 2 666 3 476 3 204 3 676 13 022 
% of net sales 13.0 15.8 13.7 15.6 14.6 
Flexible Packaging 1 836 1 370 675 1 735 5 616 
% of net sales 10.4 7.5 3.9 9.2 7.8 
Webbing Products  -175 -299 -126 -83 -683 
% of net sales -5.2 -8.4 -4.3 -2.5 -5.2 
Other* -36 -195 -129 -199 -559 
 
Total 

 
4 291 

 
4 352 

 
3 624 

 
5 129 

 
17 395 

% of net sales 10.4 9.9 8.3 11.2 10.0 
 
Net financial expenses 

 
-660 

 
-646 

 
-577 

 
-452 

 
-2 335 

 
Profit before extraordinary items  

 
3 631 

 
3 706 

 
3 047 

 
4 677 

 
15 061 

*Includes consolidation items and the parent company. 

Financing 

Interest-bearing liabilities totalled EUR 46.4 million or EUR 5.5 million less than on December 31, 2001.  Net financial 
costs were EUR  2.3 million (EUR 2.9 million). They were  1.3 per cent (1.7 %) of net sales and 13.4 per cent (23.7 %) of 
operating profit.  EUR 3.0 million in working capital were tied up in the cash flow statement. The equity ratio was 47.0 per 
cent (43.5 %). The ratio of interest-bearing net liabilities to shareholders’ equity (the gearing rate) was 66.5 per cent as 
opposed to 81.5 % a year earlier. Cash flow from operations per share was EUR 1.38 (1.66). 

Investments 

The Company’s gross investments in production totalled EUR 8.0  million. The previous year they were EUR 10.7 million.  
Depreciation according to plan was EUR 15.6  million (15.2).  In Nonwovens, investments concentrated on modernisation 
of the hydroentanglement lines, which improved product quality and production efficiency. In Flexible Packaging,  
investments focused on increasing printing capacity at the plant in Poland and on increasing and renewing film extrusion 
capacity in Finland. 

Investments by business area 
€ million 2002 2001 

Pro forma 
Nonwovens 2.6 7.9 
Flexible Packaging 5.1 2.3 
Webbing Products  0.1 0.3 
Other 0.2 0.2 
Total 8.0 10.7 
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Invested capital 

1 000 € December 31, 2002 December 31, 2001 
   
Fixed assets  90 309 98 674 
Current assets  46 698 41 774 
Deferred tax liability -10 153 -11 829 
Trade payables -7 233 -7 140 
Accruals and deferred income -2 595 -1 335 
Other current, non-interest bearing liabilities -6 093 -7 240 
Invested capital 110 933 112 904 

 

Share capital and shares 

The share capital of Suominen Corporation is 7 913 154 euros, the number of shares 15 826 308, and the book countervalue 
of a share is 50 cents. During 2002, 6 724 598 company shares were traded on the Helsinki Exchanges. This represents  42.6 
per cent of the number of shares in the share capital.  The trading price varied between 6.25 and 4.52 euros. The final 
trading price was 6.00 euros.  The market capitalisation of the company shares at year end was 94 692 648 euros.  

On March 27, 2002 the company announced that Heikki Bergholm's holding of the shares and of voting power in Suominen 
Corporation exceeded 5 per cent.  

Acquisition of the Company's own shares 

The Annual General Meeting held on March 13, 2002 authorised the Board of Directors to decide on the acquisition of the 
company's own shares within one year from the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders using assets available for 
distribution of profits, provided that the combined par value of the shares of the Company and it’s subsidiaries thus acquired 
does not exceed 5 per cent of the Company’s total share capital at the moment of acquisition. The authorisation can be used 
in possible business acquisitions, to finance investments, to carry out incentive programmes and for other purposes. 

The Annual General Meeting also authorised the Board of Directors to decide on the conveyance of the Company’s own 
shares. 

Within the authorisation granted to the Board of Directors, the Company acquired 44 200 of its own shares between January 
1 and December 31, 2002. The average price of the shares was EUR 5.22. On December 31, 2002,  Suominen Corporation 
held  44 200  company shares, accounting  for 0.3 per cent of the share capital and votes. 

Other authorisation to the Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors is not currently authorised to issue shares or to launch a convertible bond or a bond with warrants. 

Group structure and organisation 

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders re-elected Members of the Board of Directors Kari Haavisto, Pekka 
Laaksonen and Heikki Mairinoja. Heikki Bergholm and Matti Kavetvuo remained on the Board of Directors. Heikki 
Bergholm served as chairman of the Board and Matti Kavetvuo as deputy chairman until November 12, 2002, when Matti 
Kavetvuo became chairman and Kari Haavisto deputy chairman.  

Kari Parviainen was President and CEO of the company until November 12, 2002, when he was succeeded by Heikki 
Bergholm. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy, Authorised Public Accountants, with Heikki Lassila, APA,  as Principal Auditor, were elected 
as auditors of Suominen Coporation by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. 
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Suominen has three business areas: Nonwovens, Flexible Packaging and Webbing Products. At the beginning of 2003 the 
former functional organisation was replaced by one in which vice presidents in charge of each business area report to the 
corporate President and CEO. The Senior Vice President is responsible for the corporation's key customers and business 
development. Product and process development, purchasing and logistics, and financial management support the functions 
of the entire corporation. 

Average full-time personnel employed  

 2002 2001 
Nonwovens 288 309 
Flexible Packaging 652 640 
Webbing Products  155 178 
Other 9 8 
Total 1 104 1 135 

 

Distribution of the profit 

Suominen Corporation's earnings/share were EUR 0.68. The Board of Directors will propose payment of a dividend of EUR 
0.70 per share to the Annual General Meeting convening on March 12, 2003.  The amount of the dividend to be paid is at 
the most EUR 11 078 415.60.  No dividend is paid on own shares. 

Prospects for 2003 

Demand for Suominen’s products has been rising steadily and the company’s business is not particularly sensitive to 
cyclical fluctuations. However, if tension regarding Iraq continues to increase and the growth of world economy remains 
slow, there will be an impact on consumer demand in general and consequently on sales of Suominen’s products. This could 
jeopardise demand, which is otherwise growing steadily.  

Suominen’s net sales in 2003 are expected to be on the same or somewhat higher level than in 2002. On the basis of 
contracts concluded with Nonwovens' key customers and on needs indicated by customers, sales volumes and profitability 
for the full year in this business area are expected be to on the level of 2002. However, due to the timing of deliveries, 
turnover and result for the first quarter will probably fall short of the first-quarter figure for 2002. Sales of Flexible 
Packaging are expected to rise, especially in Russia and East Central Europe. Webbing Products will concentrate on 
regaining lost market shares.  

Suominen will concentrate on development of operational cost effectiveness and  improvement of the cost structure. Total 
financial performance is expected to remain on the level of the previous year, although the risk involved in the forecast is 
increased by the overall state of the world economy. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME 

  10-12/2001 Pro forma Pro forma
1.1. - 31.12.  1 000 € Notes 2002 %  2001 %  2001 %  2000 %
  
Net sales 1 174 810 100.0 43 084 100.0 174 115 100.0 181 253 100.0
  
Costs of goods sold  -147 752 -38 261 -152 111 -155 213
  
Gross profit  27 058 15.5 4 823 11.2 22 004 12.6 26 040 14.4
  
Sales and marketing expenses  -4 432 -1 163 -4 194 -5 059
Administration expenses  -5 982 -1 535 -6 642 -5 460
Other operating income 4 1 252 380 1 550 1 065
Other operating expenses 4 -488 -90 -532 -242
  
Operating profit before  
depreciation on goodwill  17 408 10.0 2 415 5.6 12 186 7.0 16 344 9.0
  
Depreciation on goodwill  -13 -7 -28 -14
  
Operating profit 2,3 17 395 10.0 2 408 5.6 12 158 7.0 16 330 9.0
  
Financial income and expenses 5 -2 335 -1.3 -655 -1.5 -2 886 -1.7 -2 231 -1.2
  
Profit before extraordinary items  15 060 8.6 1 753 4.1 9 272 5.3 14 099 7.8
  
Extraordinary items 6 0 0 0 1 906
  
Profit before taxes  15 060 8.6 1 753 4.1 9 272 5.3 16 005 8.8
  
Income taxes 7 -4 242 -2.4 -326 -0.8 -2 801 -1.6 -4 142 -2.3
  
Profit for the financial year  10 818 6.2 1 427 3.3 6 471 3.7 11 863 6.5
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

ASSETS   Pro forma  Pro forma
31.12.  1 000 €   Notes 2002  2001  2001   2000
    
Fixed assets    
    
Intangible assets 8  

Intangible rights  125 122 122  118
Goodwill   15 28 28  61
Other capitalized expenditure  303 486 486  369

   443 636 636  548
Tangible assets 9  

Land   2 342 2 433 2 433  2 360
Buildings    28 941 30 688 30 688  32 320
Machinery and equipment  57 098 60 346 60 346  62 180
Other tangible assets  418 599 599  704

Advance payments and construction    

   in progress   512 3 547 3 547  4 181

   89 311 97 613 97 613  101 745

Financial assets 10  

Own shares   171  

Other shares and holdings  384 425 425  797

   555 425 425  797

    

Total fixed assets  90 309 98 674 98 674  103 090

    

Current assets   
    
Inventories    

Raw materials and consumables  6 068 5 669 5 669  8 962
Work in progress  3 356 3 360 3 360  4 032
Finished products/goods  7 380 6 901 6 901  7 903
Other inventories  1 796 1 635 1 635  2 057

   18 600 17 565 17 565  22 954
Non-current receivables 11  
  Loan receivables  0 94 94  94
    
Current receivables 11  

Trade receivables  21 289 19 635 19 635  20 914
Other receivables  124 40 40  63
Prepaid expenses and accrued income  3 056 2 350 2 350  2 853

   24 469 22 025 22 025  23 830
    
Cash at bank and in hand  3 629 2 090 2 090  4 282
    
Total current assets  46 698 41 774 41 774  51 160
    
Total assets   137 007 140 448 140 448  154 250

 



 

 
78 

 

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Pro forma Pro forma
31.12.  1 000 € Notes 2002  2001  2001  2000
  
Shareholders' equity 12,13 
  

Share capital  7 913 7 913 7 913 7 913
Share premium account  7 518 7 518 7 518 7 518
Revaluation reserve  3 128 3 128 3 128 3 128
Own shares  231
Legal reserve  2 2 2 2
Retained earnings  34 920 41 050 36 006 31 562
Profit for the financial year  10 818 1 427 6 471 11 863

  
Total shareholders' equity  64 530 61 038 61 038 61 986
  
Liabilities  
  
Deferred tax liability 13 10 153 11 829 11 829 12 581
  
Non-current 14 

Loans from financial institutions  21 448 24 773 24 773 30 088
Pension loans  9 286 8 895 8 895 11 869

   Other liabilities   186
  30 734 33 668 33 668 42 143
Current  
  Commercial papers  3 976 9 899 9 899 5 965
  Loans from financial institutions  8 334 5 325 5 325 11 191
  Pension loans  3 359 2 974 2 974 2 974
  Advances received  189 91 91 9
  Trade payables  7 233 7 140 7 140 7 372
  Other liabilities  5 904 7 149 7 149 8 390
  Accruals and deferred income  2 595 1 335 1 335 1 639
  31 590 33 913 33 913 37 540
  
Total liabilities  72 477 79 410 79 410 92 264
  
Total shareholde rs' equity and liabilities 137 007 140 448 140 448 154 250
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

  1.10.-31.12 Pro forma Pro forma 

1.1. – 31.12. 1000 € 2002 2001 2001 2000 

   

Operations  

Operating profit  17 395 2 408 12 158 16 330 

 Adjustments:  

 Depreciation 15 618 3 768 15 235 15 234 

 Unrealized exchange rate gains or losses 54 -288 -125 -37 

 Other adjustments -182 -143 -519 -395 

Cash flow before change in working capital 32 885 5 745 26 749 31 132 

   

Change in working capital  

 Increase/decrease in non-interest-bearing receivables -2 153 3 727 1 734 -4 600 

 Increase/decrease in inventories -1 035 683 5 389 -2 734 

 Increase/decrease in current non-interest-bearing liabilities 131 1 495 -386 -303 

Cash flow from operations before financial income/expenses and taxes 29 828 11 650 33 486 23 495 

   

 Interest expenses and other financial expenses paid -2 236 -1 277 -3 762 -3 375 

 Interest received 109 138 480 328 

 Direct taxes paid -5 945 1 904 -3 991 -5 328 

Cash flow from operations 21 756 12 415 26 213 15 120 

   

Investments  
 Investments in tangible and intangible assets -8 068 -1 419 -11 408 -12 230 

 Proceeds from sale of tangible and intangible assets 181 58 553 5 418 

 Investments in financial assets -129 -35 -31 

 Proceeds from sale of financial assets 10 372 3 078 

  Dividends received 29 2 176 

Cash flow from investing activities -7 987 -1 386 -10 481 -3 589 

   

Financing  

 Changes in current liabilities -5 923 -9 601 3 934 -20 644 

 Changes in non-current liabilities 462 -3 142 -14 342 19 428 

  Dividends paid -6 332  -7 892 -7 897 

Cash flow from financing activities -11 793 -12 743 -18 300 -9 113 

   

Changes in cash and cash equivalents 1 976 -1 714 -2 568 2 418 

Unrealized exchange rate differences -437 457 376 137 

Cash and cash equivalents Jan. 1 2 090 3 347 4 282 1 727 

Cash and cash equivalents Dec. 31 3 629 2 090 2 090 4 282 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 

 

PRINCIPLES FOR PREPARING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Extent of the consolidated financial statements 

The consolidated financial statements include those companies in which Suominen Corporation held, either directly or 
indirectly, over 50 % of the voting rights during the financial year. The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries have 
been brought into line with the accounting principles of the group.  The subsidiaries not included in the consolidated 
financial statements (real-estate companies with state-subsidised mortgages) have only a minor effect on the distributable 
assets of the group. Companies are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition or 
establishment to the last day of holding. The parent company Suominen Corporation is the holding company for the group. 
More detailed information on companies in the group are found under 'Group Companies'. 

Accounting principles 

Mutual share ownership  

The consolidated financial statements were prepared with the acquisition cost method. The shareholders' equity of a 
subsidiary at the time of acquisition including accumulated appropriations net of tax was deducted from the purchase price 
of that subsidiary's shares. The depreciation period for the goodwill resulting from consolidation and unallocated to balance 
sheet items is 5 years.  

Intra-group transactions and margins  

All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised margins on intra-group deliveries, intra-group receivables and 
liabilities were eliminated. 

Translation differences 

The statements of income of the foreign group companies were translated into euros at the average rate for the financial year 
and the balance sheets at the reference rate quoted by the European Central Bank on the day the books were closed. 
Translation differences arising from the elimination of the shareholders' equities of foreign subsidiaries were entered as a 
valuation item under consolidated retained earnings. Translation differences arising from loans to subsidiaries regarded as 
capital investments are treated in a similar manner as translation differences for the subsidiaries' shareholders' equity.  

Accumulated appropriations  

When entered in the consolidated balance sheet, accumulated appropriations are divided between shareholders' equity and 
the deferred tax liability and the resulting change in the consolidated statement of income, divided between the change in 
deferred tax liability and the profit for the financial year. The deferred tax liability was calculated with the tax rate for the 
following years approved when the books were closed and entered in the balance sheet as a separate item under liabilities.  
The deferred tax liability and tax receivable in the balance sheet are net figures. 

Income taxes 

The consolidated statement of income includes the accrual-based taxes determined on the basis of the financial results of the 
group companies and the change in the deferred tax liability calculated from the accumulated appropriations. The tax credit 
related to payment of intercorporate dividends was deducted from the income tax for the financial year. No tax liability 
arising from revaluations of real estate in conjunction when sold was entered in the financial statements. 
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A deferred tax receivable and a tax liability have been entered for the differences between bookkeeping and taxation and for 
the approved losses a deferred tax receivable to the extent that its use is probable during the next few years. 

Valuation of fixed assets  

Fixed assets were entered in the balance sheet at direct acquisition cost less planned depreciation. Planned straight-line 
depreciation was calculated from the original acquisition cost on the basis of probable economic life. The depreciation 
periods are as follows: 

Buildings and structures 12.5 – 40 years 
Machinery and equipment 4 – 15 years 
Goodwill on consolidation 5 years 
Intangible rights and other capitalised expenditure 5 – 10 years 
Other tangible assets  5 years 

Depreciation on fixed assets acquired during the financial year was calculated from the day on which they became 
operational. No depreciation was made on land and revaluations.  Other capitalised expenditure comprises start-up costs for 
investments.  

Expenditure for maintenance and repair are entered as expenses for the financial year, with the exception of major 
renovations, which are capitalised and depreciated during the period in which they have an effect. 

Leasing 

Leasing fees were treated as rent expenses. The group does not have any significant financial leasing contracts.  Payments in 
future years due under leasing contracts are presented under contingent liabilities.  

Valuation of inventories 

Inventories were valuated in the balance sheet on the fifo principle at the variable costs of acquisition or manufacture or the 
probable lower replacement or sale price. No indirect costs were capitalised. 

Net sales  

Indirect sales taxes, discounts granted and foreign exchange rate differences on sales were deducted from sales revenues. 
Sales freights and other costs incurred in sales and deliveries were treated according to their nature, as either costs of goods 
sold or sales expenses. Bad debts were entered under other operating expenses. 

Rent income from parent company real estate was entered under net sales.  The costs incurred were entered as costs of 
goods sold. 

Expenditure for research and development 

Research and development expenditure was entered as an expense. 

Matching of expenditure on pensions  

Statutory pension coverage for employees in Finnish companies was provided by private pension insurance companies. 
Pension insurance premiums were matched with salaries for the financial year. Foreign subsidiaries provide pension 
coverage in compliance with local practice. 

Items denominated in foreign currencies 

The business transactions of Finnish group companies denominated in foreign currencies were entered at the rates of the 
date of the transaction. Receivables and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies were translated into euros at the 
reference rate of the European Central Bank on the day the books were closed. The exchange rate differences were entered 
in the statement of income. Foreign exchange rate differences on forward contracts were translated at the rates of the day the 
books were closed. The interest components of forward deals were accrued as interest income or expense for the duration of 
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the contracts. Foreign exchange rate differences on forward contracts hedging sales income were entered as exchange rate 
differences for sales. 

Company shares owned by Suominen Corporation 

The company shares owned by the Group were entered at acquisition price under other short-term and long-term 
investments on the basis of use.  In shareholders' equity the acquisition price of company shares has been transferred from 
retained earnings to a reserve for own shares. Company shares were eliminated from shareholders' equity and from the 
number of shares for calculation of the key figures.  

Pro forma -figures for 2001 

Pro forma -figures for 2001 were calculated on the basis of the financial statements of the demerged Lassila & Tikanoja 
Group for the period January 1 - September 30, 2001, and the financial statements of Suominen Corporation for the period 
October 1 - December 31, 2001. The consolidated financial statements of the new companies formed in the demerger were 
drawn up so that their combined shareholders' equities correspond to the equity of the demerged group as on September 30, 
2001.  The balance sheet according to the Demerger Plan was used as the balance sheet for the parent company.  Internal 
eliminations were adjusted to correspond to the post-demerger group structure. Dividend was calculated to correspond to 
half the dividends of the former Lassila & Tikanoja plc for the year 2000.  The pro forma calculations are explained in more 
detail in the Demerger Prospectus/Tender Offer Document of March 1, 2001,  updated September 26, 2001. 
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1. NET SALES  
 2002 2001

1 000 €  % Pro forma %
Net sales by business area 
Nonwovens 89 416 51.2 85 264 49.0
Flexible packaging 72 118 41.3 72 370 41.6
Webbing products 13 158 7.5 16 328 9.4
Other 118 0.1 153 0.1
Total 174 810 100.0 174 115 100.0
 
Net sales by market area 
Finland 45 417 26.0 48 540 27.9
Other Nordic countries 18 087 10.3 20 355 11.7
Other EU countries 89 508 51.2 85 086 48.9
Other Europe 16 605 9.5 16 829 9.7
Other countries 5 193 3.0 3 305 1.9
Total 174 810 100.0 174 115 100.0
 
 
2. PERSONNEL AND ADMINISTRATIVE BODIES  
 Group 
 2002 2001
   Pro forma   
Average personnel by business area 
Nonwovens 288 309
Flexible packagin g 652 640
Webbing products 155 178
Other 9 8   
Total 1 104 1 135
 
1 000 €     
Personnel expenses for the financial year   
Salaries and other compensations 27 715 27 885
Pension expenditure 4 127 4 261
Other salary-related expenses 2 724 3 223   
Total 34 566 35 369
 
Salaries and bonuses paid to management 
Members of the Boards of Directors and the President and CEO 284 58
 

The figures for 2001 include emoluments to the Members of the 

Board of Directors for the period Oct. 1 - Dec. 31, 2001. 

 

The President and CEO of the company has statutory pension insurance.    

No loans were granted to members of administrative bodies of Group companies.     

 

3. DEPRECIATION 
 Group 
 2002 2001
1 000 €  Pro forma   
Depreciation by function 
Acquisition and production 14 926 14 656
Sales and marketing 18 23
Administration 661 528
Consolidated goodwill 13 28   
Total 15 618 15 235
 
Depreciation is itemized under intangible and tangible assets. 
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4. OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES     
 Group  
 2002 2001   
1 000 €  Pro forma    
Other operating income   
Profit from sales of fixed assets 188 593   
Contributions and indemnities 377 706   
Rents 56 20   
Recovery of bad debts 9 4   
Other 622 227     
Total 1 252 1 550   
   
Other operating expenses   
Losses on sales and writedown of fixed assets 79 74   
Damage expenses 34 2   
Bad debts 335 209   
Other 41 246     
Total 489 531   
   
   
5. FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES    
 Group  
 2002 2001   
1 000 €  Pro forma    
Dividend income   
from associated companies 2   
from others 40 2     
Total 40 4   
   
Interest income on long-term investments 7   
Other interest and financial income 97 496   
Interest and financial expenses -2 479 -3 387     
Total financial income and expenses -2 335 -2 886   
   
Financial income and expenses include   
Interest income 97 445   
Interest expenses -2 423 -3 353   
Exchange rate differences (net) -27 24   
     
Exchange rate differences apply to financing. Positive net exchange rate differences are included under 'Other interest and financial income' and negative 
net exchange rate differences  under 'Interest and  financial expenses' in the Statement of Income.  Differences arising from sales and purchases are entered 
as valuation items for either sales or purchases. 
 
 
6. EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS       
    
The group has no extraordinary items for the years 2001 and 2002    
       
       
7. INCOME TAXES        
 Group    
 2002 2001     
1 000 €  Pro forma      
Income taxes for the financial year 5 709 3 678     
Income taxes from previous financial years 208 -131    
Changes in the deferred tax liability -1 676 -745      
Total 4 242 2 801     
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  
 
Group 
 Intangible Goodwill on Other capitalized Total
1 000 € rights consolidation expenditure  
Acquisition cost Jan. 1, 2002 223 195 1 249 1 667
Translation difference 5 5
Fully depreciated -7 -7
Increase 30   30
Acquisition cost Dec. 31, 2002 246 195 1 254 1 695
 
Accumulated depreciation Jan. 1, 2002 -101 -167 -763 -1 031
Translation difference -5 -5
Fully depreciated 7 7
Depreciation for the financial year -27 -13 -183 -223
Accumulated depreciation Dec. 31, 2002 -121 -180 -951 -1 252
 
Book value Dec. 31, 2002, total  125 15 303 443
 
 
9. TANGIBLE ASSETS  
 Advance
Group  payments
 Machinery and Other tangible and work 
1 000 € Land Buildings equipment assets in progress Total
 
Acquisition cost Jan. 1, 2002 2 197 48 380 128 171 1 652 3 547 183 947
Translation difference -103 -440 -392 57 -878
Fully depreciated -1 931 -7 825 -147 -9 903
Increase 12 560 3 650 14 3 944 8 180
Decrease -482 -482
Writedown -69 -69
Transfers between items  288 6 710 38 -7 036 0
Acquisition cost Dec. 31, 2002 2 106 46 857 129 763 1 557 512 180 795
 
Accumulated depreciation Jan. 1, 2002 0 -21 392 -67 825 -1 053 0 -90 270
Translation difference 17 20 7 44
Fully depreciated 1 931 7 825 147 9 903
Accumulated depreciation on  
decrease and transfers 296 296
Depreciation for the financial year  -2 172 -12 981 -240  -15 393
Accumulated depreciation Dec. 31, 2002 0 -21 616 -72 665 -1 139 0 -95 420
 
Revaluations Jan. 1 and Dec. 31 236 3 700 3 936
 
Book value Dec. 31, 2002, total 2 342 28 941 57 098 418 512 89 311
 
Balance sheet value of machinery and equipment      
Dec. 31, 2002 51 193
Dec. 31, 2001 58 871
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10. FINANCIAL ASSETS    
   
Group   
 Other  
 shares and  
1 000 €  holdings Own shares Total  
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 425 425  
Increase  171 171  
Decrease  -42  -42  
Acquisition cost Dec. 31, 2002 384 171 555  
   
   
   
Group companies   
   

  Percentage of total   
 number of shares   
 and of voting power   
   
Suominen Nonwovens Ltd., Nakkila 100.0   
Suominen Flexible Packaging Ltd.,  Tampere 100.0   
Suominen Webbing Products Ltd., Turku 100.0   
   
Owned through subsidiaries:   
   
Suominen Flexible Packaging AB, Norrköping, Sweden 100.0   
Suominen Polska Sp. z o.o., Grodzisk Mazowiecki, Poland 100.0   
ZAO Suominen, St. Petersburg, Russia 100.0   
Suominen GmbH, Munich, Germany 100.0   
Suominen Sverige AB, Norrköping, Sweden 100.0   
Inka-Norsafe AS, Tallinn, Estonia 100.0   
   
   
Companies not included in the consolidated financial statements   
(Included in the balance sheet under 'Other shares and holdings')  Amount of Profit/loss
  company according to 
 Percentage of total  Nominal value Book value shareholders' most recent 
 number of shares and Number of of shares of shares equity financial statements
 of voting power shares 1 000 € 1 000 € 1 000 € 1 000 €
Group companies   
   
Kiinteistö Oy Inkanmäki, Turku 100.0 100 42 43 42 0
Kiinteistö Oy Killinkivi, Virrat  58.3 14 12 12 7 0
   
Participating interest company   
   
Kiinteistö Oy Killinpolku, Virrat  25.0 1 8 8 200 42
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11. RECEIVABLES   
 Group 
1 000 € 2002 2001
Receivables from Group companies  
Current loan receivables  
Non-current loan receivables*    77
Total 0 77
  
*) Receivable from a real-estate company  
with state subsidized mortgage loan  
  
Other non-current loan receivables  17
  
Other receivables  
Own shares 60 
Other receivables 63 40
Total 123 40
  
Prepaid expenses and accrued income  
Employees' health care compensation 207 137
Statutory personal insurance 148 302
Insurance receivables 175 96
Indirect taxes 959 1 105
Direct taxes  26 86
Royalty and licence  3
Discounts 576 200
Foreign exchange rate differences  
on forward contracts 147 
Other 818 421
Total 3 056 2 350
  
  
12.  SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY  
  
 Group 
1 000 € 2002 2001
Share capital Jan. 1 and Dec. 31 7 913 7 913
Share premium account Jan. 1 and Dec. 31 7 518 7 518
Revaluation fund Jan. 1 and Dec. 31 3128 3 128
Legal reserve Jan. 1 and Dec. 31 2 2
  
Reserve for own shares Jan. 1  
Increase 231  
Reserve for own shares Dec. 31 231 0
  
Retained earnings Jan. 1  42 477 43 425
Dividends paid -6 331 -7 913
Translation difference -995 494
Transferring to a reserve for own shares -231  
Retained earnings Dec. 31  34 920 36 006
  
Profit for the financial year 10 818 6 471
Shareholders' equity Dec. 31 64 530 61 038
  
Distributable assets  
Retained earnings 34 920 36 006
Profit for the financial year 10 818 6 471
Equity share of accumulated  
appropriations and optional reserves -20 291 -23 867
Distributable assets 25 447 18 610



 

 
88 

 

13. ACCUMULATED APPROPRIATIONS AND DEFERRED TAX 
LIABILITY    

 
1 000 € Dec. 31, 2002 Change Jan. 1, 2002 
Accumulated appropriations  
Accumulated depreciation difference 35 536 -4 958 40 494  
Other reserves 0 -294 294  
Total 35 536 -5 252 40 788  
  
Deferred tax liability -10 153 1 676 -11 829  
Equity share of subsidiaries  
at time of acquisition -5 092  -5 092  
Transferred to shareholders' equity 20 291 -3 576 23 867  
  
Deferred tax liability  
Based on appropriations 10 298 -1 366 11 664  
Based on consolidation 55 -110 165  
Total 10 353 -1 476 11 829  
  
Deferred tax receivable  
From timing differences 200 200   
Deferred tax liability, net  10 153 -1 676 11 829  
  
  
14. LIABILITIES   
    
1 000 € 2003*) 2004 2005 2006 
Repayment of non-current liabilities in coming years  
Group  
   Loans from financial institutions 8 334 6 740 11 994 429 
   Pension loans 3 359 2 265 2 145 1 465 
Total 11 693 9 005 14 139 1 894 
  
*) In the balance sheet under current liabilities  
  
                       Group  
1 000 € 2002 2001     
Liabilities which fall due within five years    
or more   
Loans from financial institutions 2 296   
Pension loans 3 411 2 287     
Total 5 707 2 287   
   
Non-interest bearing liabilities   
Non-current 10 153 11 829   
Current 15 920 15 715     
Total 26 073 27 544   
   
Accruals and deferred income   
Deferred interest  478 540   
Foreign exchange rate losses on forward contracts 121   
Discounts 40 184   
Sales receivable credit balance 34 19   
Bonuses 337   
Income tax liability 939   
Other matched expenses 766 471     
Total 2 595 1 335   
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15. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  
   
   
Secured indebtedness and assets   

    Group   
1 000 € 2002 2001  
Loans from financial institutions  25 110 25 043  
Other company commitments 3 298 3 952  
Total 28 408 28 995  
   
Real estate mortgages 20 944 20 944  
Business mortgages 7 388 11 257  
Total 28 332 32 201  
   
Leasing liabilities   
     Falling due next year 58 26  
     Falling due in subsequent years 96 5  
Total 154 31  
   
Guarantees   

For Group companies   
for loans   
for other commitments   

For others  2  
Total 0 2  
   
The Group has given no pledges, mortgages or guarantees on behalf of third parties.   
   
   
16. DERIVATIVE CONTRACTS    
    Group   
1 000 € 2002 2001  
Currency derivatives   
     Current value 154 -122 *) 
     Nominal value 8 506 5 995 *) 
Interest rate derivatives   
     Current value -706 -331  
     Nominal value 20 200 15 200  
Electricity derivatives   
     Current value 1 093   
     Nominal value 2 926   
   
The derivative contracts were made for hedging purposes and were valuated at market value on the day  
the books were closed.   
   
*) Contracts between Group companies not included.   
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UNAUDITED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF CODI FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED                 
JUNE 30, 2002 AND JUNE 30, 2003 
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Pro forma profit and loss account year to date June 2003 1) 

 

 
1 000 € 1.1.-30.6.2003 1.1.-30.6.2002
 
Net turnover 50 029 39 855
 
Costs of goods sold 42 950 34 262
 

Gross profit 7 079 5 593
 
Sales expenses 979 931
Administrative expenses 2 119 1 578
 

Total expenses 3 098 2 509
 

Operating profi t 3 981 3 084
 
Financial income and expenses -236 -275
 

Profit before extraordinary items and taxes 3 745 2 809
 
Income taxes from operations 1 292 983
 

Profit after taxes 2 453 1 826
 
Extraordinary items after tax 0 0
 

Profit for the financial year 2 453 1 826
 

  

1) Period January 1, 2003 - June 30, 2003 is called pro forma since the interim financial statement for the period does not include all part included in the 
official financial statements (e.g. report by the board of directors or the notes to the financial statements). Pro forma figures for the period are based on the 
accounts of Codi and no adjustments have been made to the figures 
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Pro forma balance sheet as of 30 June 2003 1) 

 

 
1 000 € June 30, 2003 June 30, 2002
 

ASSETS 

 

Tangible fixed assets 13 458 8 205

Fixed assets  13 458 8 205

 

Inventory 12 490 8 355

Receivables 14 358 14 426

Cash & bank 15 62

Current assets  26 863 22 843

 

Total assets 40 321 31 048

 

  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

 

Share capital 817 817

Other equity 9 066 6 969

Shareholders’ equity  9 883 7 786

 

Provisions 360 316

 

Current liabilities  30 078 22 946

 

Total liabilities 40 321 31 048

   

 

1) Period January 1, 2003 - June 30, 2003 is called pro forma since the interim financial statement for the period does not include all part included in the 
official financial statements (e.g. report by the board of directors or the notes to the financial statements). Pro forma figures for the period are based on the 
accounts of Codi and no adjustments have been made to the figures 
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Pro forma cash flow statement year to date June 2003 1) 

 

 

1 000 € 1.1.-30.6.2003 1.1.-30.6.2002

   
Profit for the financial year 2 453 1 826

Depreciation on (in)tangible fixed assets 1 521 1 548

Change in provisions 18 45

Interest expense minus tax effect  153 179

Cash flow before change in working capital 4 145 3 598

 

Change in current receivables -3 796 -4 152

Change in inventories -3 154 -823

Change in current non-interest -bearing liabilities 3 408 705

Change in working capital -3 542 -4 270

 

Cash flow from operations 603 -672

 

Investments in tangible fixed assets -4 956 -722

Cash flow from investing activities -4 956 -722

 

Free cash flow -4 353 -1 394

 

Changes in non-current liabilities 0 0

Dividends paid 0 0

Receivables and liabilities HJG Beheer -1 032 -1 019

Interest expense minus tax effect  -153 -179

Cash flow from financing activities -1 085 -1 198

 

Net cash flow -5 538 -2 592

 

Cash and cash equivalents as at January 1 -7 192 -7 113

increase/(decrease) -5 538 -2 592

Cash and cash equivalents as at June 30 -12 730 -9 705

 

1) Period January 1, 2003 - June 30, 2003 is called pro forma since the interim financial statement for the period does not include all part included in the 
official financial statements (e.g. report by the board of directors or the notes to the financial statements). Pro forma figures for the period are based on the 
accounts of Codi and no adjustments have been made to the figures 

 

Veenendaal, August  7, 2003 

 
Board of Directors 

B.A.C.A.M. Lindner    M.J. Burgers 
CEO     CFO 
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AUDITORS’ STATEMENT FOR THE INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS JUNE 30, 2003 

 

To the shareholders of Codi International B.V. 

 

Auditor's Report 

 

Introduction 

In accordance with your instructions we have audited the pro forma balance sheet as at 30 June 2003 and the pro forma 
profit and loss account year to date June 2003 of Codi International B.V., in Veenendaal. These accounts are the 
responsibility of the company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these accounts based on our 
audit. 

Scope 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the Netherlands. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the accounts. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the pro forma balance sheet as per June 30, 2003 and the pro forma profit and loss account year to date June 
2003 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the company as at June 30, 2003 and of the result for the half year 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the Netherlands and comply with the financial reporting 
requirements included in Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code. 

 

We have not audited the corresponding figures as at June 30, 2002. 

 

Arnhem, August 7, 2003 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF CODI FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 AND FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT INFORMATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 
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REPORT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR THE PERIOD JANUARY 1 - DECEMBER 31, 2002 

 

Codi International in 2002 

The year 2002, the first full year since gaining independence, has been a very satisfying one for Codi International B.V. The 
turnover increased by 14% over 2001, while the EBIT almost doubled. This positive development was due to an increase in 
volume with existing customers and turnover from new customers during the second half of 2002. This increase in volume 
resulted in a higher capacity utilisation of the most important production lines. Furthermore, the savings in raw materials 
increased compared to previous year. 

In 2002 the total production capacity of wet wipes in Western Europe increased yet again. Particularly for the Private Label 
and Hygiene segments, this resulted in increased competition and lower sales prices. Despite of this development, Codi 
attracted a few important customers and could maintain its leading position on the European wet wipe market. 

In 2002 a lot of attention has been given to the further integral quality improvement of the organisation. Furthermore, the 
sales and marketing department has been expanded and the incidence of employee illness has been reduced by the 
introduction of a new progra mme for absence due to illness. 

Available cash flow after operations and investments was lower than in the previous year. This was due to an increase in net 
working capital and higher investments in machinery and buildings. The increase in net working capital was due to an 
increase in inventories, which is the result of a higher turnover. 

Expectation for the future Codi International B.V.  

The future of the European wet wipes market looks promising. In the next few years a strong increase in volume is 
expected, particularly in the ‘Body’ and ‘Hygiene’ segments, and many new concepts will be introduced by company 
brands. The successful launch of new products will depend on innovative ideas that include added value. 

Due to the addition of new products and clients in 2002, Codi’s portfolio has become more complete and more innovative. 
A further growth in turnover and profitability of the brands will depend strongly on whether Codi is able to intensify its 
relationship with these customers and optimize its extensive knowledge of wet wipes. It is extremely important that the 
customer consider Codi’s quality, service, hygiene and safety as being superior to that of the competition. However, 
customers are often reluctant to commit to one supplier and do not want to sign contracts for certain volumes. 

On the private label market, where the supplier is chosen by the customer because of lower prices, the increased competition 
and pressure on prices is clearly visible. However, even in this segment, profitability could be improved and market share 
could be enlarged by improving efficiency, saving on purchasing and further standardising private label products.  

Investments 

Large investments in Maxi Codi are planned for the next few years. In 2003 a new logistics centre and mixing room will be 
built, among other things. Other new investments in more efficient, flexible and less labour-intensive machinery are 
planned, some of which involve the modernisation of older, less efficient production lines.  

Personnel 

The number of employees at Codi International increased to 390 employees at the end of 2002. The average personnel in 
2002 amounted to 346 FTEs (compared to 306 FTEs in 2001). A 5% increase in personnel is expected next year, along with 
an expected growth in turnover. 
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INCOME STATEMENT 

 

1 000 € 2002 2001

 

Net turnover 85 230 75 168

 

Costs of goods sold 72 951 66 703

 

Gross profit 12 279 8 465

 

Sales expenses 1 951 1 194

Administrative expenses 3 602 3 856

 

Total expenses 5 553 5 050

 

Operating profi t 6 726 3 415

 

Financial income and expenses -471 -940

 

Profit before extraordinary items and taxes 6 255 2 475

 

Income taxes from operations 2 158 866

 

Profit after taxes 4 097 1 609

 

Extraordinary items after tax 0 0

 

Profit for the financial year 4 097 1 609
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BALANCE SHEET 

 

   

1 000 € 2002 2001

 

ASSETS 

 

Tangible fixed assets 10 023 9 031

Fixed assets  10 023 9 031

 

Inventory 9 337 7 533

Receivables 9 529 9 255

Cash & bank 308 2 887

Current assets  19 174 19 675

 

Total assets 29 197 28 706

 

  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

 

Share capital 817 817

Other equity 6 614 5 144

Shareholders’ equity  7 431 5 961

 

Provisions 343 271

 

Current liabilities  21 423 22 474

 

Total liabilities 29 197 28 706
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

 

 

1 000 € 2002 2001

 

Profit for the financial year 4 097 1 609

Depreciation on (in)tangible fixed assets 3 048 3 426

Change in provisions 72 95

Interest expense minus tax effect  306 611

Cash flow before change in working capital 7 523 5 741

 

Change in current receivables -672 -585

Change in inventories -1 804 3 313

Change in current non-interest -bearing liabilities 1 451 -1 672

Change in working capital -1 025 1 056

 

Cash flow from operations 6 498 6 797

 

Investments in tangible fixed assets -4 040 -943

Cash fl ow from investing activities -4 040 -943

 

Changes in non-current liabilities 0 0

Dividends paid -2 627 -3 500

Receivables and liabilities HJG Beheer 396 -509

Interest expense minus tax effect  -306 -611

Cash flow from financing activities -2 537 -4 620

 

Net cash flow -79 1234

 

Cash and cash equivalents as at January 1 -7 113 -8 347

increase/(decrease) -79 1 234

Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31 -7 192 -7 113
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 

 

1. General 

1.1 Principal activities 

The activities of Codi International B.V. consist of production and sales of wet wipes (baby towels, hygienic towels, etc.). 
Sales occur both in the Netherlands and abroad. The European Union is the largest market. 

1.2 Group companies 

Codi International B.V. is subsidiary of H.G.J. Beheer B.V. 

1.3 Notes for the cash flow statement  

The cash flow statement has been prepared on the basis of the indirect method. The cash reported in the cash flow statement 
consists of cash on hand and bank credit recorded under current liabilities. 

2. Accounting principles for the balance sheet 

2.1 General 

The Company's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
Netherlands. The financial statements are stated in EUR. Assets and liabilities are stated at nominal value, unless indicated 
otherwise. 

2.2 Comparative figures 

The underlying principles of valuation and determination of results applied have not been changed compared to the previous 
year. 

2.3 Foreign currencies 

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet 
date. All exchange rate differences resulting from translations are reflected in the profit and loss account when they occur. 
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies during the period have been translated at the rate on the date of transaction. 

2.4 Tangible fixed assets 

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost minus deprecation calculated linearly over the estimated economic life. Tangible 
fixed assets not used for ordinary business activities are stated at estimated market value. 

2.5 Inventory  

Inventory of raw materials is valued at last known purchase price or lower market value. 

Inventory of semi -finished and finished products are stated at cost or at lower market value. Cost consists of the direct costs 
of materials and the costs that relate to the manufacturing. The costs of manufacturing include direct labour costs, direct 
machine costs, and a surplus for indirect fixed and variable costs related to the manufacturing (integral production costs). 

The Work in Progress is valued at direct material, direct machine, and direct labour costs. 
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2.6 Receivables 

Receivables are valued at nominal value less a provision for possibly uncollectable amounts. 

2.7 Provisions 

Provisions are formed in case of concrete or specific risks and liabilities that exist as per balance sheet date and which can 
be determined reliably. The provision for early retire ment is valued on the basis of actuarial principles at present value.  

3. Accounting principles for the income statement 

3.1 General 

The result is determined as the difference between the net turnover of the rendered services and the costs of turnover and 
other expenses during the year under review. Revenues are booked during the year of the transaction and losses are booked 
as soon as they can be estimated. 

3.2 Net turnover 

Net turnover constitutes the amounts invoiced or still to be invoiced to third parties relating to products sold during the year 
under review less discounts and excluding VAT. 

3.3 Costs of goods sold 

Costs of goods sold constitutes the direct and indirect costs related to the turnover. 

3.4 Expenses 

Expenses are determined on a historical basis and are attributed to the year under review they relate to. Fixed assets are 
depreciated on the basis of their acquisition price. Depreciation takes place according to the linear method on the basis of 
the estimated economic lives. 

3.5 Sales expenses 

Sales expenses consist of the direct costs of selling activities. 

3.6 Administrative expenses 

Here included are overhead departments, such as management, HRM, and Finace/EDP. 

3.7 Taxes 

Income tax over the result is calculated on the result of ordinary activities before tax as stated in the Profit and Loss 
accounts, after deduction of the exempted profit elements and after the addition of non-deductable expenses. For the 
calculation of tax, the current tax rates are applied. 
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4. Notes for Balance Sheet (in eur 1.000) 

4.1 Tangible fixed assets 

 Buildings  Machinery  
 Other tangible 

fixed assets 

Other 
capitalised 

expenditure Total

January 1, 2002 

Acquisition cost  4 071 20 314 1 377 160 25 922

Accumulated decrease in values and depreciation -3 091 -12 634 -1 166 0 -16 891

Book value 980 7 680 211 160 9 031

 

Changes 2002 

Additions 620 186 98 3 074 3 978

Disposals -268 -833 -44 0 -1 146

Depreciation -388 -2 573 -88 0 -3 048

Desinvestment accumulated depreciation 266 943 1 0 1 210

 230 -2 277 -33 3 074 994

 

December 31, 2002 

Acquisition cost  4 422 19 667 1 430 3 234 28 753

Accumulated decrease in values and depreciation -3 213 -14 265 -1 252 0 -18 730

Book value 1 209 5 402 178 3 234 10 023

 

Depreciation percentages 20 % 20 % 20 % 0 %

 

4.2 Inventory 

 December 31, 2002  December 31, 2001 
Raw materials 3 744 4 048 

Work in progress 274 177 

Finished products 5 786 4 035 

Provision -467 -727

 9 337 7 533 

 

4.3 Receivables 

  December 31, 2002  December 31, 2001 

Trade debtors 8 610 8 377

Reserve for bad debt -112 -274

Receivables from Group companies 110 508

Tax receivables 390 238

Other receivables 531 406

 9 529 9 255

 

4.4 Cash on hand and in bank 

Cash in bank balances are freely available 
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4.5 Shareholders’ equity 

Share capital 

As of December  31, 2001, the authorized share capital of the Company amounts to EUR 1 361 340.65, divided into 3,000 ordinary shares, each valued at 
EUR 453.78. The issued and placed share capital amounts to EUR 816 804.39, consisting of 1 800 ordinary shares, each valued at EUR 453.78 nominal. 

Other equity 

  December 31, 2002  December 31, 2001 
Retained earnings 5 144 7 035
Dividends  -2 627 -3 500
Profit for the financial year 4 097 1 609
 6 614 5 144

 

4.6 Provision for early retirement 

VUT 
January 1, 2002 271
Increase 112
Decrease -40
December 31, 2002 343

The provision is related to an agreement that employees can apply for early retirement at the age of 63. The valuation is prepared on the basis of an 
actuarial calculation employing an interest rate of 4.80%. 

 

4.7 Current liabilities 

  December 31, 2002  December 31, 2001 
Debt to credit institutions 7 500 10 000
Creditors 8 538 9 647
Taxes 3 346 1 126
Social securities 0 94
Pension liabilities 393 455
Other current liabilities 1 646 1 152
 21 423 22 474

 

4.8 Guarantees 

In order to guarantee the payment of debts to credit institutions, a right of distraint has been established on inventory, working capital and receivables. 

 

4.9 Financial contingencies and commitments 

Financial contingencies and commitments 

In relation to negotiated lease contracts for forklifts, a yearly liability of EUR 134 000 exists. These contracts will expire within 1 to 5 years. In relation to 
negotiated lease contracts for company cars, a yearly liability of EUR 127 000 exists. These contracts will expire within 1 to 3 years. 

The yearly rent obligation related to real estate amounts to EUR 1 158 000 The rent obligations will expire within 1 to 4 years. Investment obligations 
amount to EUR 892 000 and expire in 2003. 
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5. Notes to the Profit and Loss Accounts (in thousands of EUR) 

5.1 Net turnover by business area 

 2002 2001
Netherlands 18 143 18 820 

Other EU countries 50 131 42 709 

Other countries 16 956 13 361 

 85 230 74 890 

 

5.2 Wages, salaries and social security 

 2002 2001
Wages and salaries 10 911 8 925 

Pension and early retirement expenses 687 714 

Other social security 1 804 1 372 

 13 402 11 011 

 

5.3 Depreciation of Tangible Fixed Assets 

 2002 2001
Tangible fixed assets 3 048 3 426 

 3 048 3 426 

 

5.4 Financial income and expenses 

 2002 2001
Other interest income -8 -9

Interest expenses 479 949 

 471 940 

 

5. 5 Taxation on result of ordinary activities 

The total taxation during the financial year 2002 amounting to EUR 2 158 thousand can be determined as follows: 

Result before taxation according to annual accounts 6 255
Permanent differences -
Temporary differences -
Total permanent and temporary differences -
 
Taxable profit  6 255 
 
Income tax payable 2 158 
Effective tax rate 34.5 %

 

The average statutory tax rate amounts to 34.5%. 
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6. Other information 

6.1 Employees 

During the year 2002 an average number of 346 FTEs were employed. These can be divided as follows: 

 2002 2001
Regular employees  303  278 
Temporary employees 43 28 
 346 306 

 

6.2 Directors and commissioners 

Expenses related to wages and salaries and related to pensions: 

 2002 2001
Directors and former directors 803 378 
Commissioners and former commissioners 44 -
 847 378 

 

Veenendaal, January 23, 2003 

 
B.A.C.A.M Lindner  M.J. Burgers 
CEO   CFO 

 

Commissioners 

 

Other information 

Distribution of profits according to the articles of association 

According to the articles of association under the article 18.2, the profit for the period is freely available for distribution. 

Proposal for distribution of profits 

It is proposed, that the profit of EUR 4 097 thousands is distributed according to the following: 
Dividend    0 
Addition to the retained earnings 4 097 
Profit for the period   4 097 

This proposal has already been taken into consideration in the financial statements. 
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KEY FIGURES 1) 

 

   Pro forma 2)

  2001 2002 1.1.-30.6.2003

    

Net sales, € million 74.9 85.2 50.0

Exports and international operations,  € million 56.1 67.1 -

%  of net sales 74.9 78.7 -

Operating profit , € million 3.4 6.7 4.0

%  of net sales 4.6 7.9 8.0

Profit before extraordinary items, € million 2.5 6.3 3.7

%  of net sales 3.3 7.3 7.5

Profit before taxes, € million 2.5 6.3 3.7

%  of net sales 3.3 7.3 7.5

Profit for the period, € million 1.6 4.1 2.5

%  of net sales 2.1 4.8 4.9

Balance sheet total, € million 28.7 29.2 40.3

Return on equity (ROE), % 23.3 61.2 56.7

Return on invested capital (ROI), % 20.6 42.3 42.8

Equity ratio, % 20.8 25.5 24.5

Gearing, % 119.3 96.8 128.8

Interest -bearing net liabilities,  € million 7.1 7.2 12.7

Gross investments,  € million 0.9 4.0 5.0

% of net sales 1.3 4.7 9.9

Expenditure on research and development,  € million 0.1 0.2 -

%  of net sales 0.1 0.2 -

Average personnel employed 306 346 387

    
1) Key figures are calculated by Suominen and they are not part of official financial statements published by Codi 
2) Period January 1, 2003 - June 30, 2003 is called pro forma since the interim financial statement for the period does not 
include all part included in the official financial statements (e.g. report by the board of directors or the notes to the financial 
statements). Pro forma figures for the period are based on the accounts of Codi and no adjustments have been made to the 
figures 

 

Calculation of the key figures: 

Interest -bearing net debt  Interest -bearing liabilities - cash at bank and in hand 
 
Gearing, %      Interest -bearing net debt x 100    
   Shareholders’  equity + minority interest - own shares 
 
Equity ratio, %   Shareholders’ equity - own shares + minority interest x 100  
   Balance sheet total - advances received - own shares 
 
Return on invested capital (ROI), % Profit before extraordinary items + interest and other financial expenses x 100    
   Balance sheet total - non-interest bearing liabilities - own shares (year beginning and ending average) 
 
Return on equity (ROE), %  Profit before extraordinary items- income taxes including change in deferred t ax liability x  100 
    Shareholders’ equity - own shares + minority interest  (year beginning and ending average) 



 

 
107 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Suominen Corporation 
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Tel. +358 10 214 300, Fax + 358 10 214 3530 
www.suominen.fi 


